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Next best action

We believe that our challenge is to heip our customers become better businesses;
to become the best version of themsetves. To do this we deliver a unique brand of
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technology-driven marketing, using data to help our clients determine their next best
action for their development.
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Frinancial highlights

£2241m
£248.5m
£435m

£196.8m
£321m

£246m

Net revenue

£248.5m
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Adjusted diluted
earnings per share

34.8p
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Adjusted measwres are reconciled (e the stalutory
results i nates 205 and 10 tn the finannal statements

Net cash from
operating activities

£43.5m

+35%
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Statutory

Adjusted profit operating profit
before tax for the year

£40.2m £19.4m
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After talent, we believe brand and technology are a company’s biggest
and most important assets. Within our family of marketing businesses
we continue to focus on building our data, analytics and technology
capabilities to ensure that we create precisely focused marketing and
communjcations that generate vaiue for our clients.

Qur business

There are many marketing agency groups.
Some showcase flamboyant crealivity, Others
give the impression that only number crunching
counts. What makes Next 15 differentis the
unique way we blend both approaches
1o help our clients be the best version of
themselves they can possibly be. We are
passionate about creating marketing and
communications initiatives that gel noticed,
but we know that onty by bringing technology,
innovation and data skills to the table too,
can we Create true value.

Qur brands and sectors

Next15 aims to become the world's largest
and most respected data and technology-
led marketing group. To do this, the Group
continues to bulld a portfolio of businesses
that cater to the differentneeds of the various
market seciors and geographies inwhich it
operates. Atthe same time, the Group seeks to
attract the best talentin the industry by creating
excellent career paths thatenable people to
take part in international business and, where
appropriate, help with the formation of new
Group businesses, new service divisions,
or new international locations.

Next 15 remains ambitious and 15 committed
1o expanding the international presence of
its existing brands, with the possibility of
further acquisitions if the strategic it and
value is compelling.

See page 3 for a list of our brands or find
cut more about our brands at www nextlb,
com/portfolic.

Qur clients

We work with some of the biggest brands in
technology and beyond including Amazon,
Cisco, Facebook, Google, Hasbro, Microsoft,
Sony. Telefonica Digitsl and YouTihe We
have an extracrdinary track record in retaining
business inthe long term because we keep
them ahead of whatever’s next in an age
of unprecedented change.

Making brands famous is in our DNA and is
behind our name, the ongin of which was
explained by Tim Dyson “Everyone will be
famous for 15 minutes, but we care about
what happens next”

Employees
2,183

2019:1,979
208:1,782

Offices
49

2018 50
2018: 56

Countries
15

201814
20814
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Chairman's statement

"May | thank you and the 2183 people
who work in Next 15 businesses,

for the privilege of chairing Next 15
over this period of such change and
achievement. It's been an honour and
one of the highlights of my career.”

Dear Shareholders,

Over this year we have continued to deploy the highly effective
marketing tools afforded by data and technolagy. This Is no hasty
pivot from spectalist communications consulting, which was at
the core of our business for our listing in 2005, but a continued
evolution by acquisition and organic change, to ensure that cur
offertc customers is as contemporary as it is effective Ttus strategy
continues Lo serve us well.

Net revenues in the year to 31 January 2020 were up 1% to
£248.5m and adjusted profit before tax was 12% higher at £40 Zm.
Statulory revenue rose by 10% to £3007m (2019: £272 4m) and
statutory operating profit declined 6% to £19.4m (2019 £20./m).
Fully diluted adjusted earnings per share showed growth of 5%
to 34.8p. Net debt remained firmly under control al £9 3m. In the
context of the challenges faced by any major player in our sector,
these are good results by any standard.

Data and analytics agencies now represent 18% of the Group's net
revenues. Qrganic growth for this part of our business was 19% and
overall growth was 94%, Our Brand Marketing sector grew 1.4%,
amid the planned restructure to create Archetype, a medern, global
communications group. Qur third sector, Creative Technology, was
impacted by surmountsble but significant challenges at out Beyond
business and saw an organic decline of 21%. Suchvicissitudes are
the logic for a diversitied group. Excluding Archetype and Beyond,
Brand Marketing grew by 2.8% and Creative Tech by 20.3%.

The opportunity in our sector is such that it would be biinkered to
imagine that the group is now set fair. 50, we intend tc develop a
fourth segment, Innovation and Business Consulting. Last year we
acquired an impressive young business called Palladium which
will become a part of this segment. It helps Private Equity firms
assess and improve the digital capability of potential investments.
Once the COVID-18 clouds clear, we will further develop our group
into Busingss Consulting through our usual formula of acquisition
and organic development.

These new additions will join our roster of platform businesses, which
do not compete with cur specialist communications companies
but add complementary skills and important new client conlacts.

Looking to the year ahead, your Board remains animated by the
Group's underhyang prospects. Alengside the familiar external
unknowns, political, environmental and regulatory, we face the
extracrdinary in COVID-19. This will adversely impact our results
in the cunent financial year, but we have the quality of people,
the strategy and the financial strength to continue to outpertorm
our marketplace.

This witl be my final AGM letter to shareholders as | will compiete
Syears as your Chairman in May 2020. I'm delighted to report that
my successor will be Penny Ladkin-Brand, currently our Chair of
Audit and a member of the Board since 20717, With your blessing,
she will assurme the role at the start of our next financial year, 1 will
remain available to support her and execute a smooth transition.

May | thank you and the 2183 people who work in Next 15
businesses, for the privilege of charring Next 15 over this period
of such ¢change and achievement. It's been an honour and one
of the highlights of my career.

Richard Eyre CBE
Chairman
22 April 2020



Chief Executive's statement

‘Great people, doing great
work for great clients, always
delivers a good outcome.”

Dear Shareholders,

Whenyou think of Next 15 you likely think of a collection of specialist
businesses that in large part service the technology industry in
some area of marketing. That was the case a few years ago but
we have been slowly but surely investing, organically and by
acquisition, to create platforms that our agencies can plug in to.
We have also expanded our reach some way beyond technology,
although the bulk of cur client base remains firmly in the B2B
technology sector. It is worth noting, that as COVID-1% ravages
the world's population and impacts the glebal economy, we are
thankfut that our business sits where it does, at the intersection
of technology and marketing.

As we build the capabilities of our Group, we still believe that being
the best at what we do matters a great deal. For us this has always
meant having businesses that bring huge expertise, either through
a specific set of products and/on deep business sector knowledge
and insights. However, by adding a set of platform businesses,
we can more effectively achieve our ambition to move beyond
communications design into business design. Platform businesses
are a way for us to address the broad range of challenges and
cpportunities our clients are facing and help them solve them in
the right order and in the right way.

If you look at Next 15 today you see several businesses that
either are, or will scon become, piatform businesses. These are
Pallagium, Planning-inc and Savanta. In Savanta and Planning-inc,
we are creating data platforms which can sit at the heart of all our
clients’ relationships and enable them to see how their activities
are performing, how customers are reacting and how they stack
up against their competition. Meanwhile, Palladium, albeit in a very
different way, is helping customers figure outl the very essence
of what they should do, how they should be organised and how
best to go to market. | am excited by this progress but I'm also
aware that these are still very early days and that there is still a lot
of work to do. Inthe coming year, | expect us to focus even more
attention on the building out of these and other platforms, This
15 in part because we believe that the pace of change towards
technology and data driven marketing is only going to accelerate
as we emerge from the COVID-19 pandemic

Never being satisfied with the status quo 15 a tough way to run
a business and is what has driven us to make changes like the
creation of Archetype. Change 1s sometimes unplanned as we
found at Beyond this last year. However, what doesn't change
is having the right people in the right roles, and ensuring these
people have the tcols they need to succeed. Getling that right is
crucial and is what ultimately drives the growth of our business.
We saw this in outstanding performances from a number of our
businesses this year —such as Agent3, Activate, M Booth, Savanta,
Twoegether and ODD. Great people, doing great work for great
clients, always delivers a good outcome.,

Thanks te the strength of our portfolic of businesses, we grew
by double digits again this last year. Given the impact COVID-19
is having on the global economy it's hard to estimate at this time
what impact it will have on our busingss. As | write this we have
seen imited impact but we do expectthatto change in Q2. Nobody
15 immune to macroeccnomic factors but from experience if we
focus on making our businesses the best version of themselves
they can possibly be, then we will be well positioned to take
advantage of the opportunities that arise as the economy rebounds.
I'm also confident that our focus on data and technology puts us
in a strong position to help our customers as the shift to digital
marketing only accelerates.

Tim Dyson
Chief Executive Officer
22 April 2020
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Optimal value path
Next 15 believes the future lies in our abilily t¢ drive our customers’
business goals. Qur heritage is in marketing and communications, but
simply making brands more attractive is na longer encugh. To be highly
trusted partners of our clients, we must be capable of understanding and
resolving the friction points in their strategy and operations, capable of
giving their customers the best possible expenence of their products
and services. This requires data and technology to evatuale and predict
the best ways Lo interact with audiences, disruptive innovation to unlock
new ideas, and creativity 1o demonstrate brand personality, values and
relevance. We aim 10 leave our clients stronger than we found them.

Technology

Next 15 agencies offer
one, or a combination,
of these business
services to some of the
most innovative and
exciting companies
In the world.

Innovation
consulting

Brand
marketing




Strategy

1

To huild a portfolio of businesses
that cater to the individual needs and
opportunities of the various market
sectors and geographies in which
Next 15 operates.

2

To attract the best talent in the
industry by creating excellent career
paths, enabling our people to benefit
from the scope of a diverse,
international business.

3

Where appropriate, to help with the
formation of new Group businesses,
new service divisions, new platforms,
or new international locations.

Qur ohjectives

To build and buy technology-
enabled brand marketing, consulting
and data businesses

To leverage the strength of our US
businesses and their relationships
with high growth companies

To drive higher level consulting
around business-critical activities

Principles

Data

Data and analytics are increasingly embedded
across the Group; we believe that overtime this
willdrive growthin curtechnology and brand
marketing businesses as clients increasingly
utilise these tools fo predict campaign success
and optimum spend levels. Data will also
inform our ability to help clients innovate
and spot new opportunities.

Innovation consuiting

Qur marketing heritage helps customers
build desire for their products, Butthe pace
of change is such thatit1s no longer enough
simply to paint the best face on a brand through
clever marketing. To be effective we have
to be able to help redesign the company
andits products for success in fast changing
markets. Our innovation consulting capability
is now helping our customers transform
their existing businesses, or create entirely
new ones o grasp emerging opportunities.

Brand marketing

The body of content, ideas and expectations
surrounding a preduct is what constitutes
a brand. Developing digitat content that
travels gracefully across technology platform,
application and language is essential to
consistent brand marketing.

Techrniology

Technclogy is now the essenlial partner of
eventhe biggest creative idea. By utilising the
right platforms and technologies, businesses
can now reinvent themselves, whether by
improving their customer experience, or
completely reimagining their business model.
We are experts in companies’ own use of
technology, and how they use third party
platforms such as Google, Facebook and
Amazon to reach their customers.

Approach to acquisitions:

strength and success

We deliver consistently good resulls for
investors because we stay true to our
principles. These include building a group

of businesses that organically fit together,
are passicnate about what they do, andg
have strong leadership teams empowered
to pursue their vision of success.

Invest in the best talent

Our people are at the heart of everything
we do. As a Group we focus on the 'who’
before the 'what' This principle, espoused
by the author Jim Collins, creates a difforent
way of running @ company. It means we
trust entrepreneurial talent to drive their
own businesses and consult with us, but
we do not teil them what to do.

Growth in core markets

Next 15 will continue to develop its existing
brands and make acquisitions where the
strategic fit and value is compelling. In the
last few years the bulk of the Group's efforts
has been around strengihening cur UK and
US businesses as we believe our position
in these markets continues to provide the
greatest opportunity for our long-term success.

Diversity and inclusion

Next 15 believes that a diverse workforce
is not just a social good, but a commercial
advantage. Fair practices in hiring and talent
development, as well as maintaining safe and
supportive company cultures, are key to the
Group’s success and the encouragement
of diverse voices within it.

Environment

We are in a prvileged position to influence
our clients and their customers. We intend to
usethat position to help champion positive
change on sustainability and our environment.
We will do this In three ways:

moving towards best practice in running
cur own businesses sustainably;

+ influencing customers to make suslainrable
cheices whenever we dowork for them; and

+ creating new products and services that
help our customers rethink their business
forthe challenges and opportunities ahead.

vodal 26a1eng
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Financiol review

Another year of significant
progress and we face these
turbulent times from a position

of financial strength.”

Another year of significant progress across the Group

We have had another year of progress with cur key measures
of adjusted EBITDA and adjusted profit before income tax both
increasing by over 10%. We made progress in our data and analtic
capabilities whilst continuing to invest in cur portfolio of brand
marketing agencies.

Intotal for the 12 months te 31 January 2020, the Group delivered
net revenue of £248.6m, adjusted operating profit of £40.9m,
adjusted profil before income lax of £40.2m and adjusted diluted
earnings per share of 34.8p. This compares with net revenue of
£224.1m, adjusted operating prefitof £37.0m, adjusted profit before
income tax of £36.0m and adjusted diluted earnings per share of
33.p for the 12 months 1o 31 January 2019, Statutory revenue for
the year was £3007m (2019: £272 4m)which resulted in operating
profit of £19.4m compared with £207m i the previous year.

Year to Year to
31 January 31 January
2020 2019 Growth
Adjusted results £m &m %
Net revenue 248.5 2241 10.9%
EBITDA 56.8 a7 36.0%
Operating profit after interest on finance lease liabihities 40.9 37.0 10.6%
Operatng crofit margin 16.4% 16.5%
Profit before iInceme tax 40.2 36.0 1.8%
Tax tate on adjusted profit 20.0% 20.0%
Diluted earnings per sharc 34.8p 331 5.1%
Statutory results
Revenue 3007 272.4
Operating profit 19.4 207
Profit before income tax 5.6 18.8
Diluted earnings per share 2.5p 16.3p

Adjusted results represent the statutory performance, adjusted 10 exclutde amortisaton, restructunng charges, brand ecuity incentive schemes, movements In acquistion-related
cansiderntion employment retated acqusttion payments and cortan other kems ~hey are reconcled to the statutory results in notes 2 ang 5 to the financial statements

In order to assist shareholders’ understanding of the underlying
performance cf the business, | have focused my comments on
the adjusted performance of the business forthe 12 months to 31
January 2020 compared with the 12 months to 31 January 2019.
These measures are considered as useful to shareholders as

they are used by the Group for internal performance analyses and
faciltate comparability with industry peers. In line with peers, the
Group also presents net revenue which is calculated as revenue
less direct costs as shown on the consolidated income statement.

Hodal iBaiens
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Financial review continued
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Adjusted operating
profit after interest on
finance lease fabilities Net debt
22’ £40.9m 228 £9.3m

Review of adjusted results to 31 January 2020

Group profit and loss account

The last 12 months have been a period of progress and change
across the Group. We have grown our total Group net revenues
by almost 1%, although they declined by 2% on an organic basis
dueto chalienges at Beyond and Archetype, whilst the operating
profit margin dropped marginally to & still impressive 16.4%. Our
Twogether, ODD, M Booth and Activate agencies have been stand
out performers, whilst we have achieved solid performances
across most of the portfolio,

£
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£
~
=
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Statutory
operating profit
=28 €£19.4m

\naddition, there have been a number of operationalimprovements,
including progress on our merger of our Text and Bite brands to
create Archetype. Also, we consoclidated our market research
agencies under the Savanta brand. 1his has had the benefit of
simplifying the Group’s operating structure as well as increasing
our underlying cperating margin.

The Group adjusted operating marginreduced marginally to 16.4%
fiom 16.5% in the priot year and statutory opétating profit was
£19.4m compared with 20.7m in the previous year.

Reconciliation of adjusted operating profit to statutory operating profit

Year to Yoal o

31 January 31 January

2020 2019

€m £m

Statutory operating proft 19.4 207
Interest on leasc liabilities (1.6} —
Share-based payment charge 0.4 13
Employmaent related acquisition payments 5.0 0.8
Deal costs 1.0 06
Costs associated with restructuring 4.6 4.4
Charge assoctated witn office moves - 02
Amortisation of acquired imtangibles 121 9.0
Adjusted operating profil after interest o~ finance lease habilities 40.9 370

Adjusted results represent Lhe slatutory performance, adjusted 1o exclude amorusatien, resiruciunng charges, irand ecuity INcentve schemes, movements in acquisrion relaied
cors deratign and ceran othes tems They are recanciled 1o 7o statuteny results in notes 2 a7d 5 1o the frang =t statemeaents

We incurred £4.6m of restructuring costs inrelation to the merged
Archetype brand, the consolidation of our marketresearch activities
under the Savanta brand and further restructuring in the UK and
US agencies.

Amortisation of acquired intangibles was £12.1m in the perod.

We incurred £0.4m of share-based payment charges on new
growth shares for M Booth and £5.0m i relation to employment-
related acquisition payments.

We incurred £1.0m of deal costs in relation to acquisitions,



Net revenue bridge (£m)

260

+4.8
262 21% 2485
- +10.9%
250 +11.8%
240
230 22 4.4)
2241 1.0%) (2.0%)
220
210
200
180
Year to 31 January 2019 Discontinued Qrganic decline Acqguisitions Foreign exchange Year te 31 January 2020
Taxation The Group does not have any open tax audits, nor does It have

The adjusted effective tax rate on the Group's adjusted proiit for
the year to 31 January 2020 was at a rate of 20%, compared to
the statutory rate of 49%. The adjusted effective tax rate was the
same as the rate achieved in the previous period as we continued
te benefit from a higher proportion of our profit coming from
tower tax regimes such as the UK and the successful resclution
of a number of histerical 1ax queries. The Group’s cash tax rate
for the period was lower at 15%, principally due to tax relief for
acquired US Goodwill and intangibles which is not recognised
in the Group’s Income Statement

Segmental review

any complex structures in place to manage its taxes which could
give rise to future challenges from tax or competition authorities.

Earnings

Diluted adjusted earnings per share has increased by 5% to 34.8p
for the year to 31 January 2020 compared with 33.1p achieved in
the prior period. Diluted earnings per share were 2.5p, compared
with 16.3p in the previous year.

Brang Data and Crealve Head
Markebng Analylics Technology office Toral

£000 £000 £'000 £000 £'000
Year ended 31 January 2020
Net revenuc 135,036 45,054 68,379 — 248,469
Organic net revenue growth' (57)% 19.3% (2.1)% — (2.0)%
Adjusted operating profit after interest
on finance lease liatilites 29,930 12,697 7774 (9,541) 40,860
Adjusted operating margir? 22.2% 28.2% 1.4% — 16.4%
Year ended 31 January 2019
Nt revenue 133163 23,209 67721 — 224,093
Organ c net revenue growth’ 01% 30.6% 17.0% 6 4%
Adjusteq operating profit 29,580 7171 9,489 (9.284) 35956
Adjusted operating ma-gin® 222% 30.9% 14.0% — 16.5%

1 Organic growth 15 the constant currency growlth for the 12 months to 31 January 2020 compared te the 12 monihs 1o 31 January 2018, excluding tho impact of acguisitions

until they have been m the Group for more than one year.
2 Adjusted operathig profil marginis caleulated as the margin un nel revenue

vodaa 3baens



Financial review continued

Brand Marketing

This segment includes our Archetype, OutCast, Nectar, M Booth,
M Booth Health, Blueshirt and Publitek agencies, During the year
we acquired Health Unlimited based in New York and rebranded
it as M Booth Heaith, We also acquired Nectar, a San Francisco
based Tech Comms agency. The segment produced a satisfactory
performance, with expected disruption from the launch of Archetype
offset by good trading from M Booth, Blueshirt and Publitek, Total
net revenue increased by 1.4% 1o £135.0m with an organic decline
of 57% but the adjusted operating prefit increased by 1.2% to
£29.9m at a held operating margin of 22.2%

Geographical review

Data and Analytics

This segmentincludes Savanta, Encere and our recently acquired
Activate and Planning-in¢ agencies. During the year we merged
Encore with Twogether, our B2B digital marketing agency. The
segment achieved net revenue of £451m, with an crganic revenue
growth of 19.3% and delivered operaling proft of £12.7m at an
operating margin of 28.2%.

Creative Technotogy

This segmentincludes our ODD, Elis, Brandwidth, Beyond, Twogether,
Agent3, Velocity and Palladium agencies. Palladium was acquired
in April 2019. The segment celivered a mixed performance with
Twogether, ODD and Agent3 excelling. Overall, the segment
delivered net revenue growth of 1% to £68.4m with organic net
revenue decline of 21%. The adjusted operating profit declined
by 18% to £7.8m at an operating profit margin of 11.4%.

UK CMEA Usa APAC Head office Toal

£000 L0000 £000 000 L0000 £'000
Year ended 31 January 2020
Net revenue 97,377 8,820 127,563 14,709 - 248,469
Organic net revenue growth' 0.3% 0.4% 4.6)% 4.8% — (2.0)%
Adjusted operating profit after interest
on finance lease liabilives 20,094 1,587 26,421 2,299 (9,541) 40,860
Adjusted operating margin’ 20.6% 12.0% 20.7% 15.6% — 16.4%
Year ended 31 January 2019
Net revenue 33528 8,735 n7am 13,919 — 224093
Organic net revenue grawth' 15.5% 7.3% 2.8% {21% — 5.4%
Adjusted operating profit 20,482 1,504 22,047 2,207 (9.284) 36,956
Adjusted operating ma-gin’ 24.5% 17.2% 187% 15.9% 16.5%

1 Qrganic growth 15 the constant currency grawth for the 12 months io 31 January 2020 compared to the 12 months (0 31 January 2019, excluding the impact of acouisiticns

unnl they have been in the Group for more than one year.
2 Adusted opcratng piofit marginas calculatead as the marg noen net rovenue

us

Our US businesses performed steadily led by cur M Booth and
Activate brands. In the yvear to 31 January 2020, total US net
revenues grew by 8.2%to £127.6m from £117.9m which equated o an
organic decline of 4 6%, taking account of movements in exchange
rates QOrganic growth has been impacted in the short-term difficutt
trading at Beyond and the expected disruption from the merger
of Text and Bite to create Archetype.

We acquired M Booth Health and Nectar in the year which have
both made positve contnbutions. The adiusted operating profit
from cur US businesses was £26.4m compared with £22.0m in
the previous 12 months to 31 January 2019,

UK

The UK businesses have delivered a resilient performance over the
last 12 months, with net revenue increasing by 16.6%to £974m from
£83.5m in the prior pericd. This growth was due to exceptionally

strong performances from our Twogether, ODD, Agent3 and Savanta
agencies The adjusted operating profiwas £201m from £20.5m
in the prior year due to slow trading from Beyond and Archetype
UK with the adjusted operating margin falling from 24.5% in the
prior penod to 20.6%.

EMEA

We have delivered an encouraging performance in EMEA with
good growth from Spain and France. Net revenue increased by
1% to £8 8m (2019: £8 7m)and adjusted operating profitincreased
to £1.6m at an improved adjusted operating margin of 18.0%.

APAC

Net revenue increased by 5.7% 10 £14 7m (2019: £13.9m), however
the operating margin decreased marginally tc 15.6% from 15.9%
in the prior period and the operating profit increased to £2.3m
(2019: £2.2m).




Cash flow
Year to Year o
31 January 31 January
2020 2019
Cash fiow KPIs £m £m
Net cash inflow from operating activities 47.8 372
Changes in working capital 17 12
Met cash gencrated from operations 49.5 384
Incomce tax paid (6.0) 6.2}
Investing activities {28.3) (37.2)
Dividend paid to shareholders {6.8) (5.2}
Net increase/(decrease) In bank borrowings 13.0 109
Procceds from share placing — 19.5

The net cash inflow from operating activities before changes in
working capital for the yearto 31 January 2020 increased 1o £47.8m
from £37.2m in the prior period. Cur management of working
capital improved with an inflow from working captal of £1./m
compared with £1.2m in the prior period. This resulted in our net
cash generated from operations before tax being £49.5m (2019:
£38.4m). Income taxes paid decreased to £6.0m from £6.2m.

Curinvestmentn acquisitions includes the acquisiions of M Booth
Health, Nectar and Palladium and the partial settlement of contingent
consideration to Activate and Twogether. This resulted in a cash
outflow due in nvesting activities of £28.3m.

Dividends paid 1o Next 15 shareholders increased to £6.8m from
£5.2minthe prior period reflecting the strong trading in the period.
MNet interest paid to the Group's banks reduced due to lower
borrowings to approximately £1.0m 2019 £1.2m).

Balance sheet

The Group’s balance sheetremains in a healthy position with net
debtasat 31January 2020 of only £9.3m (2019: £5.2m), representing
only 0.2x adjusted EBITDA.

Treasury and funding

The Group operates a £40m revolving credit facility ({ RCF) with
HSBC available until July 2022 and has a £20m term loan, with
£10m left to be repaid in egual annual instalments, the last of
whichis in December 2021 The £40m facility is primarily used for
acquisitions and Is due o be repaid from the trading cash flows
of the Group The facility is available in a combination of sterling,

US dollar and eure at an interest margin dependent upon the level
of gearing in the business. The Group also has a US facility of $7m
(2019: $7m) which is available for property rental guarantees and
US-based working capital needs.

As pant of the facilities agreement, Next 15 has to comply with a
number of covenants, including maintaining the multiple of net
bank debt before earn-out cbligations tc adjusted EBITDA below
1.75x and the level of net bank debt including eam-out obligations
to adjusted EBITDA below 2.5x. Next 15 has ensured that it has
complied with all of its covenant obligations with significant headroom

Peter Hairis
Chief Financial Officer
22 April 2020
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How we manage our risks

Next15is exposed to a variety of risks (both threats and opportunities)
that can have financial, operational and regulatory impacts on
our business perfermance, reputation and prosperity. The Board
recognises that creating shareholder returns is the reward for taking
and arcenpting risk The effertive management of risk s therefore
critical to supporting the delivery of the Group’s strategic objectives.

Risk management

The focus of the Risk Management Framewaork is the annual risk
assessment, which takes place at an operating company level
performed by brand management, and by Next 15 senior leaders
for the Group-wide risks. The outcome of the bottom-up 7 top-down
assessment is presented to the Board for review and challenge.

The risk management policy, aleng with the supporting assessment
procedures, was recently updated to better align the nsk management
activities with the risk appetite of the Group. This has driven greater
clarity and has defined lines of accountability.

Internal controls

The Board has uitimate responsibility for the Group’s system of
internal control and reqularly reviews its effectiveness in accordance
with revised guidance on internal control published by the Financial
Reporting Council. This contral system, which centres arsund a
supperting set of minimum controls, is designed to manage rather
than eliminate risk of failure, to achieve business objectives and
to provide reasonable but not absolute assurance that agsets
are safeguarded against unautharised use or material loss, that
its transactions are properly authorised and recorded, and that
materia! errors and irregularities are prevented or, failing which,
are discovered on a timely basis

Internal Audit

The Group internal Audit function provides assurance over the
Group’s contral environment with lead internal auditors in the US
and the UK. The results of internal audit activities are reported to
the Audit Committee at each meeling and the risk-based internal
audit plan is updated as required 1o respond to the risks faced
by Next 15,

Board oversight

The Board gains assurance over the adeguacy of design and
operation of internal centrols across the Group through the
foliowing processes:

« ayhificant findings frominternal Auditengagements are repnerd
tomanagement, the Executive Duectors and the Audit Committee.
Reporting covers significant risk exposures and control issues,
including fraud risks, governance issues and any other matters
and is requested by the Board:;

» dependingon the risk associated with any wesknesses noted,
recommendations made are followed up and reported back to
the Audit Committee until they are adequately resolved; and

« Internal Audit independently reviews the risk identificgtion
procedures and control processes implemented by management
and advises on policy and procedure changes.

During its review of the risk management and internal control
systems, the Board has not identified, nor been advised of any,
failings or weaknesses which it has determined to be significant.
Thetefore, a confirmation in respect of necessary actions has not
been considered appropriate

Whistie blowing and UK Bribery Act 2010

Whistle blowing procedures are in place for individuals to repon
suspected breaches of law or regulations or other malpractice.
The Group has implemented an anti-bribery code of conduct
which is intended to extend to all the Group’s business dealings
and transactions in all countries of which it, or its subsidiaries and
associates, operate.



Principat risks and uncertainties

The risks cullined below are those thal the Board believes are the principal and material risks of the Group. The matters described
below are notintended to be an exhaustive list of possible risks and uncertainties and it should be noted that additional risks, which
the Group does not censider material, or of which it is not aware, could have an adverse impact.

Change

Risk descnplion Miligaing actons n nsk
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Operational risk

Coronavirus (COVID-19}

COVID 19 has created an unprecedented global emergency,
the effects of which will have a lasting impact on both
people and economias alike,

The extent of the risk and the degree it might crystallise
remains uncertain for everyone, However, as a technolagy
centred business, we have been able to respond quickly
tc protect our employees, customers and the business.

We have implemented our business continuity plan and have adopted
working practices that, whiie different. have warked to mnimise tre
disruption on our business as usual operations.

The Group 15 taking reasonable precautions with monitoring working
capital, cash flow and our sales pipelire. The situation, while disruptive,
will also present opportunities for challenging the way we work.

We will continue to monitor the situation and are ready to take further
action if required.

Macroeconomic uncertainty

The macroeconomic environment continues to be volatile
as a resuft of key drnivers. Examples being uncertaintics
caused by Brexit in the UK and the global health concern
related to the COVID 19 coronavirus.

Seen as an easy win compared to other operating Costs,
marketing and innovation budgets have historically been
reduced oy chents during weskened econamic and financial
conditions. The risk of client loss or reduction in marketing
budgets is therefore increased in times of macroeconomic
uncertainty or change.

The impact of this is dependent on sector focus and often brands which
lack dwersification are more exposed to macroeconomic risk. The
Group’s strategy of build.ng a portfolio of brands, which is diversfied
across different communications markets and geographic regions,
minimises the risk that the Group is overly reliant on any one territory,
sector or client.

The range of products offered by cur brands, mcluding a mix of
technological-nased offerings and traditional comms, can help to
balance the performance of the Group should there be a fall in the
demand for particular products and services.

Business continuity

Thercis arisk thatunforeseen circumstances coutd arisc,
which mean that the business I1s unable to operate, such
as natural disasters, property damage, systems fallure or
absence of significant personnel.

There are business continuity plans in place across the group to
cnsure that we can continue to delver world-class service to our
customers, In case of a significant business disruptior. These have
proven effective during the COVID-18 crisis.

The Group has insurance cover in place to mitigate against business
disruption, however, this deoes not include cover for any form of
communicable disease. Recent efforts to enhance and test cur business
cortinuity plans mean: we were able to easily and effectively transtion
to remote working in response to the COVID-19 health ¢risis. This
action was taken early, mitigatung the impact of the virus on both our
people and cur operations.

Data protection and privacy

The Group stores, transmits and refies on critical and sensitive
data such as perscnally identifiable information and the
intellectual property of customers Security of this typc
of date is exposed to escalating external threats that are
increasing in sophistication as well as internal data breaches

The introduction of the California Consumer Privacy Act
("CCPA") further increases the regulatory rigour that the
Group faces.

There is a risk that if the Group has not impiemented
suitable procedures and updated relevant business
processes, t mayinadvertently breach 4s regutatory and
contractual cbligations leading to fines, clie~t delays and
reputational damage.

Ourresponse to data protection and privacy is intrinsically inked with
our information security programme, including the maintenance of
group wide poticies. This framework provides a strong platform from
which {0 preserve the integrity of business information and ensure
compliance with local legal requirements.

We will continue to monitor any changes to regulation and assess the
potential impact on the Group.

17
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Risk cescnplion

Minganng acnons

Charnge
nrisk

Operational risk continued

System access and security

The Group notes the ongoing threat of third parties atiempting
to exploit weaknesses in the technological infrastructure
and SaaS services of different cormpanies.

Inadequate security controls to protect our systems against
these threats could lead to business disruption, reputational
damage and loss of assets.

The ongoing development and maturation of aur Information Security
Management System, including the continued investment in cndpoint
security and threat intelligence, has greatly increased our ability to
monitor and respond to cyber related threats.

Qur people are also reguired to undertake ongaing training te maintain
their awareness and understanding of information security.

People and talent - retention and recruitment
Our people are our most important asset.

The Grouprelies on highly skilled employees, wno are vital
to its success in building and maintaining client relationships
and winning new work. We are also heavily reliant on
the leaders of our businesses and losing one of those
individuals could be particularly detrimental.

Without an active succession planning and talent management
strategy, we are vulnerable 1o business disruption from
the loss of key persannet,

An ambitious growth strategy also means the skills and
capabilities of existing team members may not be sutable
as our businesses grow. Challenging the nature and breadtf
of roles being underiaken by key people s critical for
ensunng the sustairability of our success,

Qur approach to recruitment is to hire best-in ¢lass faleatand remunerate
them accordingly.

Next 15 understands that the expaciations on employers and what
employees “want” from & job is changing and a failure 1o evolve may
result In a loss of key talent or a lack of experienced talent filtering up
the business. We are therefore committed 1o helping develop our staff
and helping carve out a careor within the wider group 1f so desired.

The Group Carres out succession planming and provides promotion
opportunities as well as operating both short-term and long-term
incentive plans to motivate and retain key individuals.

Compliance with faws and regulations
The Growp cperates in a large number of jurisdictions
ard, as a consequence, 1s subject to a range of regulations

Any fallure to respond quickly to legislative requirements
could result in civil or crirminal ligoilites, leading to fines,
penalties or restrictions being placed upon the Group's
ability to trade, resulting in reduced sales anc profitability
and reputational damage.

The Group has maintained an in-house legat function over the whole
of its life as a public company and also uses external legal counsc!
to advise on local legal and requlatory requirements,

The Group has an in-house tax funclion to ensure compliance with tax
legislation globally, which consulis with external advisers.

Furthermore, considerstion of regulatory compliance 1s included in the
assurance programme led by the Internal Audit function.

Strategic risk

Reliance on key clients

Losing a major clientunexpectedly can have a significant
impact on the resourcing, revenye and proft of an indnidual
brand The impactof thiswill depend on tré mpacted brand.

A relatively small number of chents conmbute a significant
percentage of our consolidated revenues. Our top tor largest
clients accounted for “22% of revenues this year The
loss of a major client would create significant pressure I not
replaced by new accounts or an increase in business from
existing clients.

The Group's strategy is 1o build a cartfolio of brands which is diversified
across different communicatons markets and geagraphic regions As
well as growing organically, the Group expands through acquisitions
which typically increases the diversification of the Grouws

The Board regularly reviews the Group’s reliance on key customers
through top ten client anatysis in the management accounts and
reviews of customers with revenues greater than $1m per annurn,




Risk descrnipuen

Change
Mitiganing acuons 1n 715k

Strategic risk continued

Failure to evolve service offering

The Group continues 1o innavate and invest to develop
market-leading offerings to our customers. However, the
speed of change and perceived opportunities inthe industry
has mcant more companias, including non traditional
playors, arc developing their digital marketing capability
and thus shifing the competitive landscape

There is a risk to our ongoing growth and market position
if we don't respond to the pace of change and be at
the forefront of technolagical salutions to stay aread of
the competition

The Group follows a strategy of focusing acguisitions on technology-
driven marketing agencies. It also cncourages ail the brands to have
data and technology at the centre of their business.

The Group coniinues to diversify its service offering, bot~ organically
and through acguisition, to provide world-class marketing, data and
analytics, creative consulting and innovative consulting services.

Remuneration and incentive schemes

The Group eperates numerous carn out mechanisms
and incentive schemes in order to attract and retain senior
talent across the Group. As we look to be flexible in how
we incentivise our talent these schemes can be complex.
This gives rise to alocal risk of management override and
financial misreporting.

In addition, culturally, there is a risk that carn outs willencourage
a 'silo culture” and discourage collaboration between the
brands, or that the incentive mechanisms encourage the wrong
behawviour or da not appropriately incentivise our key staff,

The Group has a defined framework from wh:ch all new incentive
schemes are developed. The framework creates standardisation and
sets a minimum expectation for all our leaders.

The Remuneration Committee reviews, challenges and approves all
incentive schemes across the Group. External advisers are used where
necessary to advise the Board and individuals on any new schemes,

Acquisitions — Choice of acquisition targets and
delivery of expected growth

The Group's growth strategy has always centred around
investing in talent and the acquisition of businesses which
broaden and enhance existing business operations. One
of the inherent risks of acguisitions is that the Group cnters
unfamiliar markets/regions and works with new personncel,
who may not be sufficiently aligned with Group strategy.
The acquisition may therefore not generate the financial
or commercial benefit it was intended to.

Integration of new acquisitions, particularly when they are
being boited onto an existing business, can be challenging
and time consuming. There is a risk that the integration
distracts the acquinng business, or capacity issues limits
the enhancement of synergies resulting m the growt»
icentfied dur-g due ditgence remaining unreskised

The Board 1s very careful when selecting potential acquisition partners
and we spend a significant amount of time upfront 10 make sure the
individuals are a good fit for the Group.

Robust due diligence is performed prior to all acquisitions, with
representations, warranties and indemnities being obtained from
vendors where possible. The consideration paid for a business typically
includes a significant element of deferrec consideration, contingent
upon future performance. Vendors are alse encouraged Lo retain a
minority equity stake to ensure their retention within the Group.

Internal Audii works with newly acquired businesses to ensure that
they are integrated into the Group's contrel environment,

Jodai 2Bajeng
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Principal risks and uncertainties continued

Change

Risk descnption Mitigatng actions in NSk
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Financial risk

Fraud and misreporting

Particularly in smaiter brands with fewer oppaortunites to
segregate duties, there |s a risk that without approoriate
oversight and réview, there could be fraudulent activity
and misreporting of financial informaton.

The risk of misappropriation and freud is also increased
due 1o the siloed nature of the Next 15 operating modei
and the level of influence founders can have within therr
specific company environments,

Owvorscen by the Audit Committee, the ntenn e Audit Turrelion provides
assurance of the Group's control environment, with particular focus
given 1o segregation of duties.

The consolidation of the Group’s banking facility under HSBC gives
the Group greater control and visibility over Its cash balances.

Currency risk

As a global business, currency fluctuations continue to
have a potential impact on the Group's translated results,
The Group is listed in the UK with Sterling as its functional
currency but makes the mayanty of s profit outside of the UK.

Az aresult, the Group's reported profits anc asset values
are impacted by any fluctuation of Sterling relative to other
currencies, particularly the US Dollar. The Graup may also
suffer restrictions onthe ability to repatriate cash, particularly
for our cperaticns in India and China.

Mast of the Group's revenue 1s matched by costs arising in the same
currency. Foreign exchange exposure is continually monitored, and
net investment hedges are -sed where appropriate for significant
foreign currency investments.

The global andlocal short-term cash flow forecasws are used to monitor
future large fareign currency payments, and natural currency hedging
is used where possible across the Group.

Surplus cash balances are swept to the UK to minimise any exposure
to particular currencies or locations.

Emerging risk

Sustainable practices

Itis & moral and commercial necessity that our business
ensures scciety and the environment is enriched, not
degraded by our operations, even more soin the context
of the current environmenial crisis and societal inequality.
Without demonstrable action, there s risk that we will
struggle to retain and recruit talent, as well a5 retain and
win clients who are commitied (o sustainable business
practices and innovat on

The marketing sector has an impartant role to play in engaging and
influencing businesses to INnovate and consumers to choose the
sustainable products they create.

We gre actively developing a sustainability strategy which considers the
nolistic impact of our operations. A number of actions are in progress
ncluding (butnetlimited to): an assessment of our own environmenta
footprint with a view 1o adopting climate metric reporting; a review
of qur active client and supplier base, and standardisation of policies
and procedures,

Tim Dysan
Chief Executive Officer



Section 172(1) statement

The Directors arc fully aware of their duty to promote the success of the Company for the benefit of its members as a whole In
accordance with section 172 ¢f the Companies Act 2006, and in doing so to have regard to the matters set out in section 172(1} (a) — (f).

The Corporate Governance Report on pages 2410 29 as well as the Chairman’s Corporate Governance Statement available at www.
next’s.com set out how the Directors have engaged with the Group's shareholders, employees and wider workforce, customers,
suppliers and wider communities and the environment. On page 27 we explain how the Board has set the Group's culture to ensure
that decisicns are taken in line with the Group's values and objectives.

The principal long-term risks to the Group, including strategic risk, are set cut on pages 17 to 20, and the mitigating actions explained
on those pages set out how the Directors consider those risks and the resulting actions taken.

The following examples demonstrate how the directors had regard to the respective elements of section 172 in discharging their duties:

The likely
consequences
of any decision
inthe long term

The Board takes a long term approach to developing its strategy taking into account for instance the impact of
technology, changes in customer behaviour and client needs. In implementing that strateqy, the acquisition of
Palladium Group Limited for instance was a step towards the Board's strategic objective of developing its innovation
consulting capability, Market Making Limited is a business with data and technolagy at its heart and the addition
of Nectar Communications LLC balstered the Group's Brand Marketing sector. Other relevant decisions during the
year include decisions n respect of the Group's final and interim dividends, ongoing nvestment in the Group's
cyber security infrastructure, the merger of its Text and Bite brands te create Archetype and the consclidation its
market research agencies under the Savanta brand.

The interests of
the Company’s
employees

Next 15 15 all about people. Our success 1s fundarrentally driven by the talent and effort of cur workforce. We
recognise that the interaction between the Board and senior managemoent of Noxt 15 and our brands is cruclal to
maintaining the welfare of our people and uitimately our future success. Tim Dyson holds reqular meetings with
the brand CECs and, in turn, each CEXZ is encouraged to engage fully with ther staff. Duning the year we have
worked on producing an employee handbook which will be launched in £Y21 and we are continuing 1o evaluate
and improve our polices acress the Group. The whole Board met with the Group's senior leadership in October
2019, taking part in two days of workshops where the Board engaged in a dialogue with management around their
ond their staff's feedback. During the year the Board adopted a Diversity & Inclusion statement and a review af
each brand’s D&! policy.

The need to foster
the Company's
business
relationships with
suppliers, customers
and others

Cur business relies on good relationships. We are regularly briefed on key developments across cur brands,
including on new and existing chient relationships. Client due diligence is a8 key part of our acquisition process
when considering now acquisitions joining the Group, and results are made available to the Board when potential
acquisitions arc considered. By their nature our businesses work in collaboration with therr clients: we embed
teams within client erganisations, use agile processes, and bulld businesses to better serve client needs based on
what they tell us. We have a zero tolerance approach 1o practices which are at odds with our values and culture,
for example corruption, bribery and modern slavery. We are committed to acting ethically and with integrity in all
business dealings and relationships and to implementng and enforcing effective systems and centrols to ensure
such practices are not taking place anywhere in our businesses or supply chain.

The impact of

the Company’s
operations on the
community and the
environment

This past year we have increased the focus on our impact on the environment and saciety as @ whole throughout our
value chain. We are aclively develaping a sustainability strategy which considers the holistic impact of our operations.
A number of actions are in progress including (but not limited to): an assessment of our own envirenmental footprint
with a view to adopting climate metric reporting; & review of our active client and supplier base; and standardisation
of poiicies and procedures.

The desirability
of the Company
maintaining a
reputation for
high standards of
business conduct

We have & strong corporale culture based on entrepreneunal spirt and personal responsibility. Businesscs within
the Group are given a high degree of autonomy in line with the Group's emphasis on personal responsibility, with
the centre acting as ensblers and teachers. However, the Board and fts Committees set a high standard for ethical
behaviour and ensure the Group complies with applicable laws and regulation. During the year we undertook a
revicw of the Group's policies including the Group’s whistleblowing policy which aims to ensure that all employees
can speak up if they have questions or concerns,

The need to act
fairly as between
members of the
Company

The Board recognises the critical importance of open dialogue and fair consideration of the Company’s members.
We communicate with our shareholders through our annual report and accounts, full-year and half-year results
announcements, trading updates, AGMs, face-to-face meetings and investor days. In early 2020 we engaged
directly with our institutional shareholders concerning the changes that we have made to our executive remuneration
structure. More information on our engagement with shareholders is set out on page 28.

ucdal o16aeng
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Board of Directors and Company Secretary

Richard EyreCBE ~ =R
Chairman
Appointed May 201

Richard is Non-Executive Chairman and a member of the Audit
and Remuneration Committess

He is also Chairman of the UK Internet Advertising Bureau and the
Media Trust.

Skills and experience

Richard has 44 years’ expericnce across the media and marketing
ndustries, including time as CEO of ITV Network LTD, CEQ of Capital
Radio plc, and Content and Strategy Director of RTL Group plc. He has
served as Chairman of RDF Media plc, GCap plc, | Play, Rapid Mobite
and The Eden Project. He was alse a board member at the Guardian
Media Group plc, Grant Thornton LLP and Results International LLP.

In 2013, he was awarded the prestigious Mackintosh Medai for outstanding
persenal and public service to advertising and in the 2014 New Ycar
Honours list, Richard was awarded a CBE for services to advertising
and the media

Peter Harris
Chief Financial Officer
Appointed March 2014

Peter joined Next 15 as ts Chief F nancial Officer in November 2013
and was appointed as Executive Director in March 2014,

Skills and experience

Peter's firancial experience spans 30 years and Fe has extensive
media experience, having spent the last 20 years in finance roles
in the media soctor. From July 2013 until December 2018, he was a
MNon-Executive Director of Communisis plc and Chairman of its Audit
Commitiee. He was proviously 1he Imerim Finance Director at Centaur
Media plc, Interim CFO of Bell Pottinger LLP, CFO of the Engine Group,
and CFO of 19 Entertainment. Prior to that, he was Group Finance
Director of Capital Radio plc. Peter has considerable expericnce in
UK and US-listed companies, with international cxposure.

Penny Ladkin-Brand =2 =r
Senior Independent Director
Appointed July 2017

Penny joined Next 15 as a Non Executive Director and in April 2020,
she was also appointed as Senior Independent Director. Penny chairs
the Audit Committee and is a member of thc Remuneration Commitiee.

Skills and experience

Peanny 1s also Chief Financial Officer at Future plc, a global platform
for specialist media. She was previcusly Commercial Director at
Auto Trader Group plc responsible far digital monetisation Penny
brings considerable experience of digital disruption and transformation
to the Board Penny qualfied as a Crartered Accountant with PwC
before mov ng into corporate finance, gaining experience of M&A in
both public and private markets.

Chair of Committee
A Audit Committee

R Remuneration Committee

Tim Dyson
Chief Executive Officer
Appointed August 1988

Tim joined the Group in 1984 straight from Loughborough University
and became CEQ in 1932.

Skills and experience

As one of the early pioneers of tech PR, he has worked on major
corporate and product campaigns with such companies as Cisco,
Microsoft, IBM, Sun and Intel. Tim moved from London to set up
the Group's first US business in 1995 in Sesttle and is now based in
Californig Tim oversaw the fiotation of the Company on the London
Stock Exchange and has managed a string of successful acquisitions by
the Group including The QuiCast Agency, M Booth, Activate and The
Biueshirt Group in the US as well as Morar, Elvis, Velocity, Planning-inc
and Publitek in the UK,

QOutside Next 15, Tim has served on advisory boards of a number of
emerging technology companies. Tim was named an Emerging Power
Player by PR Weck US and subsequently in PR Week's Power Book.
Tim was also recognised on the Holmes Report's In2's Innovator 25,
which recognises individuals who have contributed ideas that set the
bar for the industry.

Helen Hunter 4 R
Non-Executive Director
Appointed June 2019

As a Non-Executive Director of Next 15, Helen chairs the Remuneration
Committee and is & member of the Audit Committec,

Skills and experience

Helens Chief Data and Analytics Officer at J Sainsbury plc where ner
remitis to maximise the vatue of the Group's data assets. democratising
access and finding creative ways to unlock its insight Sotential in
support of Sainsbury’s strategy. Over the last nine years at Sainsbury’s
inroles including Director of Innovation, Director of Marketing Strategy
& Innovation, and Director of Customer Data & Relationships, she
has developed products and propositions such as Sainsbury's Brand
Match and digital Nectar. Helen 1s also currentty a Governor of Lancing
College. Before joining Sainshury's, she held roles at emnos, Home
Retail Group, Woolworths Group, and Kingfisher,

Nick Lee Morrison
General Counsel and Company Secretary
Appointed January 2016

Nick spent seven years in private practice at glohal law firms working
with a wide range of technotogy, media and communications clients,
In 2013, Nick moved in-house at a global media brand, before joining
Next 15 as General Counsel and Company Secretary in 2016.
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Corporate governance report

Chairmarn’s corporate gavernance statement

As Chairman | am respoensible for leading the Board and for its
governance of the Group, in the determination of its strategy and
in achieving its objectives, | am responsibie for erganising the
business of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness and setting its
agenda, and for effective communication with our shareholders.

The Board recognises that effective governance and management
of risk are crucial to promoting the Jong-term success of our business
for the benefit of our shareholders and our other stakeholders. The
Board is responsible for ensuring that all aspects of our business
are conducted transparently, ethically and effectively in a way which
promotes a sustainable and successful future for the Company.

Accordingly, on behalf of the Board, | am pleased to introduce
our report on the arrangements which the Board has established
to ensure that, throughout the Group, the highest standards of
carporate governance are applied and maintained in a way which
is consistent with our values and fosters a corporate culture that
encourages growth.

In August 2018 the Board formally adopted the UK’'s Quoted
Companies Alliance Corporate Governance Code (the 'QCA Code’).
The Board has continued o monitor the application of the QCA
Code and believes that our compliance with the QCA Code enables
us not only to serve the interests Of our investors, by maintaining
and enhancing tong-term shareholder value, but also those of
our other stakeholders including, in particular, our talented and
dedicated colleagues. As an AIM listed company, the Company
15 not reguired to comply with the UK Corporate Governance
Code 2016 {the "UK Code’y, however, the Board supports the UK
Code and considers its application when appropriate given the
Group's size and operations.

The Board seeks to promote the long-term success of the Company
far the benefit of aur shareholders and stakeholders. As Chairman,
my role s 1o provide the leadership 1o enable the Board o do
so effectively.

Ilook forward to your support at our AGM.

Richard Eyre CBE
Chairman
22 April 2020

Statement of compliance

MNext 15 has adopted the QCA Code and is compiiant with all of
its principles. Disclosures required by the QCA Code have been
made both in this annuat report and an our website.

The Board of Directors

The Beard of Directors is responsible for the strategic direction,
investment decisions and effective control of the Group.
During the year ended 31 Januery 2020 the Board comprised
wo Executive Directars, a Non-Executive Chairman and two
MNon-Executive Directors.

Halen Hunter joined the Board on 26 June 2019 and brings
sigrificant expertise as a leader in data management and customer
relationships making her a highly valuable addition to the Board.
Heien chairs the Remuneration Committee and serves on the
Audit Committee of the Board. Helen is Chief Data and Analytics
Officer of 1 Sainshury plc.

Genevieve Shore siepped down from the Board in her pesition
as Senior Independent Director and Chair of the Remuneration
Committee on 26 June 2013, after four years of service The Board
thanks Genevieve for her tremendous contribution. Next 15 has
benefited gieatly from her wealth of experience, knowledge and
challenge and we wish her all the best in the future.

Biographies of each of the Board Directors, including the Committees
on which they serve and chair, are shcwn on page 23

The Board is satisfied that, between the Directors, ithas an effective
and approprate balance of skills and knowledge, including a
range of financial, commercial and entrepreneunal expelience.
The Board 1s also satisfied that it has a suitable balance between
independence (of character and judgement) and knowledge of the
Company to enable it to discharge its duties and responsibilities
effectively. The Non-Fxecutive Directors are considered to be
independent. No single Diector is dominant in the decision-
making process.

The Board aims to convene ance a month, with additional meetings
being held a5 required. As Tim Dyson s located in San Francisco,
some of the Board meetings are held by telephone conference,
The Board meets in person whenaver possible and aims to do so
atleast quarterly. Details of Beard and Committee meetings held
during the financial year and the attendance records of indridual
Directors can be found on page 27.



In additicn the Board meels once a year to discuss the Group's
strateqgy. This year, the Board participated in workshops with
representatives from the Group's businesses focusing on the
future of the Group and how it couid serve its stakeholders better.

Pricr to their appointment, the Company informed each Director
of the nature of their rete, their responsibilities and duties to the
Company, and the time commitment involved. On appointment
cach Director confirmed that, taking into account all of ther
other commitments, they were able to allocate sufficient time
to the Company to discharge their role effectively The Board is
satisfied that the Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors each
devotes sufficient time to the Company and that there have been
no significant changes to their other commitments

The Board’s responsibilities and processes
The principal matters considered by the Board during the period
included:

= the Group's strategy, budget and financial rescurces;

« the Group’s performance and outlook, inciuding that of individual
brands;

+ the Group's financial resuits for the interim and year end;

+ Information Security Management System (1ISMS’) arrangements
across the Group including cyber security,

« review of the Group's risk management and internal controls;
- review of opportunities to expand by acquisition;
+ postintegration monitoring of acquisitions; and

« corporate governance matters inciuding QCA Code compliance,
GDPR and succession planning.

There is a schedule of matters specifically reserved for decision
by the Board which is reqularly reviewed and available from the
Group's website at www.next15.com.,

At each Board meeting, the Chief Executive Officer provides a
business review and the Chief Financial Officer provides afinancial
review. Board members receive monthly trading results, together
with detailed commentary. Each Director receives a Board packin
advance of each meeting which includes a formal agenda together
with supporting papers for items to be discussed at the meeting.

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company
Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures
are followed and that the Company complies with all applicable
rules, regulations and obligations. Directors may take independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense, as and when
necessary to support the performance of their duties as Directors
of the Coempany. Appropriate induction and training for new and
existing Direclors is provided where required.

Appointment, election and re-election of Directors
Appointments 1o the Board are the responsibility of the Board
as a whole.

The Directors’ service agreements, the terms and conditions of
appointment of Non-Executive Directors and Directors’ deeds of
indemnity are available for inspection at the Company’s registered
office duning normal business hours.

The Cempany’s Articles of Association provide that a Director
appaointed by the Board shall retire and offer themselves for
re-election at the first AGM following therr appointment and that,
ateach AGM of the Company one-third of the Directors in addition
to any new appointment must retire by rotation. Helen Hunter,
having been appointed since the last AGM, Richard Eyre and
Tim Dyson wiil offer themselves for re-election by the shareholders
al the forthcoming AGM.

With regard to the Directors who are offering themselves for re-
election at the next AGM, the Board was delighted to welcome
Helen Hunter to Next 15 during the vear who brings with her
extensive data experience which complement the existing skills
and expertise of the Board. The Board is further satisfied that the
contributions of both Richard Eyre and Tim Dyson continue 1o be
cffective and demonstrate sufficient time commitment to thewr
respective roles. The Beard believes that each Director standing for
re-election is independent in character and judgement. The Board
therefore recommends that the Company and its shareholders
support the re-election of each of the Directors listed above. The
Board acknowledges that Richard Eyre will exceed nine years’
tenure on 12 May 2020 and consequently will seek re-election
annually consistent with the QCA Code. After consullation with
key investors, Richard will step down as Chairman of the Board
on 31 January 2021 and Penny Ladkin-Brand will chair the Board
with effect from that date. In the meantime, Penny Ladkin-Brand
has been appointed as Senior Independent Director. The Beaid
is considering succession arrangements with respect to the Chair
of its Audit Committee and will report on them during the year.

Biographical details of each Director standing for re-election can
be found on page 23 of this report.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive

The Chairman of the Board, Richard Eyre CBE, leads the Board in
the determination of iIts strategy and in achieving its objectives.
The Chairman is responsible for organising the business of the
Board, ensuring its effectiveness and setting its agenda, and (s
also respensible for effective communication with the Group's
sharehociders. At the time of his appeintment as Chairman, Richard
Eyre CBE was considered independent as defined by the UK
Code and in accordance with the principles of the QCA Code.
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Corporate governance report continued

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive continued

The Chief Executive Officer, Tim Dyson, oversees the Groupon a
day-to-day basis and is accountable to the Board for the financial
and operational performance of the Group. The Chief Executive
Officer has responsibility for implementing the agreed strateqy
and policies of the Board.

Senior iIndependent Director

Genevieve Shore held the position of Senicr Independent Director
of the Company until she stepped down from the Board in June
2019. Genevieve was considered to be independent as defined
by the UK Code and in accordance with the principles of the QCA
Code. Penny Ladkin-Brand was appointed Senior Independent
Directer of the Company on 2 April 2020 and is considerad to be
independent as defined by the UK Code and in accordance with
the principles of the QCA Code. Any shareholder concerns not
resolved through the usual mechanisms for investor communication,
can be conveyed to the Senior ndependent Director,

Board performance evaluation, succession planning and diversity
The performance of the Board is key to the Company's success.
The performance of the Board and its Commiltees is evaluated
regularly, and the evaluations are conducted with the aim of improving
their effectiveness. In order to allow Helen Hunter to settie into
her new role, the Board agreed that the next evaluation would
take place in the summer of 2020. it will also include & review of
the matters reserved for the Board and of the terms of reference
of its Commitiees. It is envisaged that, as the business continues
to develop, the Board's governance practices will continue to
evolve. In this regard, the Board is open minded to change and
welcomes insight that may come frem a number of different sources
incluging industry bodies, institutional investors, advisers and
emerging practice.

The Board agrees thatits succession pianning framework should
ensure that Board appointments provide an appropriate mix of skills
and experience and a ievel of independence which will support
the Group's objectives for business growth and its key strategic
goals. The outcomes from the Board's evaluation processes help
inform these assessments and, in particular, can highlight where
gaps in Board skills or experience might exist or arise, either as
the business evolves and new skills are needed or as a result
of future vacancies.

The Board believes in the importance of diverse Board membership.
Our Board has 40% female representation which meets the
recommendation set out by Lord Davies, supported by the Hampton-
Alexander Review, for a minimum of 33% female representation
fapnlicable to FTSF 350 boardsl hy 2020 The Beard considers
that gender is not the oniy diversity factor and is mindful of a
range of other factors when assessing the balance of the Board.
We set out our Group-wide approach to diversity and inclusion
in our Report of the Directors cn page 43 and our Diversity and
Inclusion Policy is available on cur website at www.next15.com.

In piace of having a separate Nomination Committee, the Board as
awhole leads the Board recruitment and appainiment processes.
It also has respansibility for reviewing the balance of the Board
to ensure that, collectively, the Board: has a good range of skills,
knowledge and experierice, comprises diverse individuals who
can bring different perspectives to the Board's discussions, has
oversight of senior management and Board succession plans;
and makes recommendations on matters such as Directors’
independence and commitment.

Directors’ conflicts of interest

Directors have a statutory duty to avoid conflicts of interest with
the Company. The Company’s Articles of Association allow the
Directors to authorise conflicts of Interest and the Board has adopted
a policy for managing and, where appropriale, approving potential
conflicts of interest, The Board is aware of the other commitments
and interests of its Directors, and changes to these commitments
and interests are reported by the Directors. Areview of Directors’
conflicts of interest is conducted annually.

Committees of the Board

The Boardis supported by the Audit and Remuneration Committees.
The Board appoints the Committee members. The reports of
these Commitiees can be found on pages 30 and 32 respectively.

Each Committee has access to such external advice as it may
consider appropriate. The Company Secretary or his nominee
acts as Secretary to the Committees. The terms of reference of
each Committee are reviewed regularly, updated as necessary
o ensure ongoing compliance with best practice guidelines and
referred to the Board for approval. Copies of the Committees’
terms of reference are available from the Group's website at
www next1h com,



The Audit Committee comprises three Non-Executive Dircctors: Penny | adkin-Brand (Chair), Richard Fyre and Helen Hunter. Peter Harnis
also attends most meetings al the invitation of the Chair of the Audit Committee. Broadly, the Audit Committee is responsible for
reviewing finanaial reporting, the relationship with the External Auditor, internal controls, and oversight of the effectiveness of risk
and risk management systems.

The Remuneration Committee comprises three Non-Executive Directors: Helen Hunter (Chair), Penny Ladkin-Brand and Richard Eyre,
The Executive Directors also attend these Committee meetings at the invitation of the Chair of the Remuneration Committee, except
when discussing matters of their gwn remuneration, The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing and approving executive
remuneration policies and practices, taking account of pay practices and policies across the Group’s workforce.

The Beard dissolved the Nomination Committee in September 2018. As a result, nomination matters, such as Board recruitment and
the appointment process as described on page 26, have been dealt with by the Board as a whole.

OCur corporate culture

We have & strong corporate culture based on entrepreneurial spirit, taking perscnal responsibility and treating all stakeholders fairly
and equitably. Businesses within the Group are given a high degree of autonomy in line with the Group's emphasis on personal
responsibility, with the centre acting as enablers and teachers. However, the Board and its Committees set a high standard for ethical
behavicur and ensure the Group complies with applicable !aws and regulation.

The Group determines that ethical values and behaviours are recognised and respected through:
+ the emphasis on the ‘who’ before the ‘'what' during due diligence when the Group acquires new businesses;

« presentations by each business to the Beoard throughout the year focusing on all areas of their responsibility including people,
clients and sustainable growth;

« guanerly Executive Cemmittee meetings with the CEC and semior management; and

- HR poiicies and practices, reviews and objective setting, and training within each business in the areas they require the most development.

Board and Committee attendance for the year ended 31 January 2020

Attendance records for the scheduled Board and Committee meetings held during the year are shown below. Further unscheduled
Board, Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee meetings were convened as required throughout the year. Additional
cammittees of the Beard were also constituted to review and approve certain acquisitions, and regulatory news announcements.
Other members of the senior management and brand management teams, as well as advisers, attended Board and Commitiee
meetings by invitation as appropriate throughout the year.

Board Audit Remuneration
Richard Eyre 10 of 10 30f3 90f9
Tim Dyson 10 of 10 - —
Peter Harris 10 o110 — —
Penny Ladkin-Brand 10 of 10 3of3 Gofg
Genevieve Shore! 5¢0f10 10f3 6of 9
Helen Hunter? 5¢f 10 20f3 30f9

1 Genevieve Shore stepped down from the Bearc on 28 June 2(19
2 Heien Huntet yjoined the Board on 26 June 2019
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Corpotate governance repart continued

Environmental and social impact

We believe business should be the engine of sustainable growth,
positively impacting people’s lives, as well as delivering economic
growth. As a marketing and communications business, we know
we have an imporant role 10 play in not only engaging businesses
and consumers to operate sustainably, we also seek to bring
about change in the behaviours of our employees, suppliers,
and communities.

Specafic activities undertake™ by our businesses irclude the following:

- fair and equitable employment practices including programmes
that encourage diversity;

« implementing and monitoring health and safety practices,
including employee mental health awareness initiatives and
welibeing programmes;

« corporate matching of charity donations and fundraising activities;

= involvermnent in community activities and encouraging our
employees to give back through volunteering programmes;

« reducing wastage through reuse, recycling, and by using electronic
communications; and

+ reducing business travel by replacing face -to-face meetings with
conference calls where practicable and offsetting flight emissions.

A number of additional actions are in progress including (but
not limited to}:

» assessing our direct carbon footprint with a view to adopting
climate metric reporting:

- reviewing our active client and supplier base; and

« standardisation of policies and procedures.

Qur shareholders

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining an effecuve
diafogue with its shareholiders, to ensure that its strategy and
performance are clearly understood. We communicate with our
shareholders through our annual report and accounts, full-year
and half-year results annocuncements, trading updates, AGMs
and face-to-face meetings. A range of corporate information is
available from the Group’s website at www.nextiS.com {inciuding
copies of presentstions, announcemenits, histerical annual reports,
historical notices of general meetings, AGM voting records, and
other governance-related materials for the last five years)

inearly 2020, we engaged directly with our institutional shareholders
concerning the changes that we have made to our executive
remuneralion structure. Further details of these changes are set
out in the Remuneration Repaort from page 32.

Ordinarily the Board would be available to take questons from
shareholders at the AGM. In accordance with current UK Government
measures, shareholders may not be able to attend the AGM
person. If the restrictions on public gatherings remain in place
and shareholders are unable to attend the AGM, In order to ensure
that shareholders have adeguate access to the Board, we are
looking into other ways of ensuring that the Board is able to meet
shareholders and respond to their guestions, including by way of
an interactive webcast, Detalls of this and any other changes to
the AGM arrangements will be published on the Group’s websiie.
We strongly encourage all shareholders to vote on all resolutions
by completing an online proxy appointment form in advance of
the meeting, appointing the chair of the meeting as your proxy.
Proxy votes will be counted at the meeting for each shargholder
resolution and are subsequently published on the Group's website
at www.nexils com. In the event of a significant proportion of
votes ever being received against a particular resolution, the
Board would take steps to understand shareholder concerns
and consider what action they might want to take in response,
Sharehoiders are also encouraged to submit questions to the
Board throughout the year via the Company Secretary to cosec@
next15.com. More information concerning the arrangements for
the AGM can be found on page 44.

The Board is happy to enter into dislogue with institutional sharehclders
based on a mutual understanding of objectives, subjectto its duties
regarding equal treatment of shareholders and the dissemination
of inside information. The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief
Financial Officer meetinstitutional shareholders on a regular basis.

The Board as awhole 1s kept informed of the views and concerns of
the major sharehotders. When requested to do so, the Non-Executive
Directors will attend meetings with major shareholders and are
prepared to contact individual shareholders should any specific
area of concern or enquiry be raised. The Senior Independent
Director is also available in any circumstances where the usug
channels of investor communication have not resolved concerns,

Our employees and workers

We invest in people and Next 15°s people are at the heart of
everything we do. As a Group we focus on the ‘who' before the
‘what'. We trust key talent lo drive their businesses in the direction
they believe is best, provide them with the tools to make decisions
and share best practice, instead of the Group telling leaders what
is best We encourage the businesses in the Group 1o collaborate
and build from good to great within their own Businesses



Cur employees are key 10 the Group's success and we rely on a
committed workforce to help us achieve our short-term and fong-
term objectives. itis right that our employees share in the success
of Next 15, Accordingly, a number of incentive arrangements
operate across the Group to reward colleagues for the contribution
they are making, as a1esull of ther efforts to grow the business,
towards generating the rewards which our investors enjoy We are
always reviewing our incentives to ensure that they drive the right
behaviours within cur businesses. In additicn, the Group regularly
keeps employees appriscd of the Group's financial performance,
through a combination of meetings and collaborative communication.

Knowing what our people think and feel is key to our growth as a
Group. Our businesses monitor engagement and act on feedback
ina varicty of different ways, including yearly engagement surveys,
pulse surveys, 360-degree appraisals and central reporting of HR
issues. We have worked to centralise data and reporting so we
can correlate people trends with other business metrics. These
trends and 1ssues are reported to our Chief Executive Officer at
quarterly Executive Committee meetings of senior management.

We leverage the feedback to help develop a people strategy for
each business that creates a work environment, bencfits package,
and policies that add to business culture and maintain compliance.

The Group has established arrangements by which individuals
may, n confidence, raise concerns aboul possible improprieties
in matters of financial reporting and other matters. The Group has
an anti-bribery code of conductwhich is intended te extend to all
the Group's business dealings and transactions in ali countries in
which it, or its subsidiaries and associates, operate.

Our customers

Client focus is critical to the success of each of our businesses,
By their nature our businesses work in collaboration with their
clients: we embed teams within client organisations, use agile
processes, and build businesses te better serve client needs
based on what they tell us.

Our suppliers

Because of the nature of our business, our long-term success as
a Group is not dependent on any cne supplier; nevertheless, we
believe intreating our suppliers fairly, for example by ensuring that
we pay our suppliers promptly in accordance with the prevailing
terms of business.

The Group has a zero-tolerance approach to practices which
are al odds with cur values and culture, for exampie corruption,
bribery and modern slavery. We are committed to acting ethically
and with integrity in all business dealings and relationships and
to implementing and enforcing cffective systems and controls
to ensure such practices are not taking place anywhere in our
businesses or supply ¢hain.

Risk

Our approach to risk management is set out on page 16, and the
principal risks 1o our business, and the actions we have taken to
mitigate them, are set cut on pages 17 to 20.

Financial reporting and going concern statement

The Directors have, atthe ume of approving the financial statements,
a reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have
adeguate rescurces to continue in operaticnal existence for the
foreseeable future, Accordingly, they continue to adept the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors have made this assessment in light of reviewing
the Group’s budget and cash requirements for a period in excess
of one year from the date cf signing of the annual report and
considered outline plans for the Group thereafter.

In hght of the global health crisis around the outbreak of COVID-19,
the future performance of the Group is anticipated 1o be affected, but
itremains too early 1o assess the impact the unfolding situation will
have on trading for the year ahead. The Group has therefore carried
out addincnal specific sensilivity analysis onthe assumptions used
nthe cashflow forecast The Board s satisfied, having considered
the sensitivity analysis, that the Group will continue to generate
sufficient cash to continue in aperational existence and comply
with its covenant obligations for the foreseeable future.

The Group's business activities, together with the factors likely to
affectts future development, performance and position, are set out
in the Strategic Report on pages 1 to 21. The financial position of
the Group, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities
are described in the Financial Review on pages 11to 15.

In addition, note 19 to the financial statements includes: the Group's
objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its
financial nsk management objectives; details of its financial
instruments and hedging activities; and its exposures to credit
risk and liquidity risk.

The Directors’ Responsibilities Statementin respect of the financial
statements is set out on page 45
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Audit Committee report

I am pleased to present the report of the Audit Committee {the
‘Committee’) for the year to 31January 2020. The Audit Commitlee
plays a crucial role In helping the Board to fuifil its oversight obligation
by monitoring and reviewing the financial reporting process,
ensuring the integrity of the financial information provided to our
shareholders, overseeing the development and maintenance of
the Group's risk management and internal control environment
It is vital that we as a Committee assess how the internal control
environment and relevant processes and systems ensure thatthe
Next 15 Group is effective, robust and sustainable for the long
term whilst also maintaining the agility and entrepreneurial spirit
of the Group companies. This has been & key focus for the year
with a number of changes made in the internal audit function to
support this core objective.

Penny Ladkin-Brand
Audit Cemmittee Chair
22 April 2020

Composition of the Audit Committee

The Committee is compaosed entirely of Non-Executive Directors
who between them possess a range of appropriate commercial
and financial experience. The current members of the Committee
are Penny Ladkin-Brand (Chair), Richard Eyre and Helen Hunter.
Detalled information on the expenence, skills and qualfications of
sll Committee members can be found on page 23. Although not
members of the Audit Committee Next 15's CEQ, CFO, General
Counsel & Company Secretary, Head of Internal Audit and other
senior members of the finance team are afso invited to attend
meetings, unless they have a conflict of interest.

The Board is satished that the Committee members are sufficiently
competent in financial matters and that the Chair has recent and
relevant financial experience.

The Committee meets periodically, at least three times a year. and
the External Auditor, other Directors, the Head of Internal Audit
and other members of the managementieam attend by invitation.
Attendance records of meetings held during the year can be
found on page 27 The Committee Chair is in frequent contact
wilh the Chief Financial Officer, the Head of Internat Audit and
the External Audlitor and preparatory meetings are held ahead
of some Committee meetings 1o identify and discuss key areas
for consideration by the Committee. The Committee ensures that
regular meetings are scheduled to allow for the External Auditor
and Head of Internal Audit to discuss any concerns they may have
with the Committee in the ahsence of management.

Roles, responsibilities and activities during the repoerting period
The Committee works ta a programme of activities aligned 1o key
events inthe financial reporting cycle, standing tems which oceur
regularly as required by the Committee’s terms of reference, and
other agenda items that the Committee identifies The mainroles
and respansibilities of the Committee include:

- monitoring the integrity of the Group’s financial statements
and other announcements relating to its inancial performance;

« considering the Group's accounting pelicies and practices,
applicaton of accounting standards and significant judgements;

« overseeing the relationship with the Group's External Auditor,
including consideration of the chjectivity and effectiveness of
the external audit process and making recommendations to
the Board in relation 10 the External Auditor's re-appointment
and fees;

« keeping under review the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control and risk management systems; and

- monioring the remit and effectiveness of the Gioup's Internal
Audit function.



The Committee’s terms of reference will be subject to review in
2020. The current version is available from the Group’s website
at www.next!s.com.

During the period a key focus of the Committee has been to
suppert the ongoing improvements to the Internal Audit function
led by the Head of Internal Audit in order to ensure robust controls
are maintained as the group gains additional scale. The Head of
Internal Audit has worked with the finance tecam to establish a
control framewark expected of each Group company and bring
a systematic and disciplined approach to evaluate and improve
the effectiveness of the organisation’s risk management, control
and governance processes. The Committee received regular
reports and periodic presentations to keep them informed of
the deveiopments and progress in elevating the senicrity of the
function and increasing its independence,

Other activities included:

- considering significant financial reporting issues and judgements
arcund adjusting items, tax matters, goodwill impairment, eam-
out ligbilities, and acquisition accounting;

+ assisting the Board in its assessment of the Group's risk environment,
internal controls and risk management processes;

« discussing the impact of upceming changes te accounting
standards and legal, tax and regulatory requirements, and

+ overseeing the relationship with the External Auditor, including
agreeing the external audit plan, reviewing the non-audit fees
policy and assessing their independence.

Following the year end, the Audit Committee has reviewed sensitivity
analysis of the potential impact of COVID-19 on the Group’s cash
flows and worked with management to understand the mitigating
actions which can be put in place.

Auditor independence, objectivity and fees

The External Auditor, Deloitte LLP, was first appointed in 2014, for
the financial year ended 31 January 2015. The Board is satisfied
thatthe Company has adequate policies and safeguards in place
to ensure that Deloitte maintain their objectivity and independence.
The External Auditcr repotts annually on its independence from the
Company and in FY21 a new partner will lock after the Next 15
audit following Deloitte’s partner rotation rules.

The Group has a formal policy on the engagement of the External
Auditor for non-audit services. The objective of the policy is to
ensure that the provision of non-audit services by the External
Auditor does notimpair, or is not perceived to impair, the External
Auditor'sindependence or chjectivity. The policy sets out monetary
limits and imposes guidance on the areas of work that the External
Auditer may be asked to undertake and those assignments where
the External Auditor should not be invelved. The policyis reviewed
regularly, and its application is monitored by the Committee, The
fees paid toc Deloitte in respect of nen-audit services are shown
in note 4 to the financial statements. This work s not censidered
to affect the independence or objectivity of the External Auditor,
The Group will be captured by the FRC Revised Ethical Standards
for periods commencing on or after 15 March 2020 and the Audit
Committee has confirmed no services were provided in this regard,
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Directors’ remuneration report

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Directors’
Remuneration Repart for the year ended 31 January 2020, my first
as Chair of the Remuneration Committee following my appointment
on 26 June 2013, The report exptains the work of the Remuneration
Committee {the ‘Committee’) during the year, the basis for the
remuneration paid to Directors for FY20, the new remuneration
framewaork, and how we intend to implement the framewaork for FY21.

| am presenting this report to you during a time of unprecedented
market uncertainty and volatility, driven by COVID-19. Next 15
recognises the need to exercise restraint; and make sure exgcutive
pay remains aligned with the experiences of its employees and
shareholders. As a result, both the Executive and Non-Executive
Directors have taken a pre-emptive 20% pay cut. effective 1 Apnil
2020, to be reviewed in June 2020. The Committee has also
approved the delay to the grant and setting of perfarmance targets
for FY21 long-term incentive awards until the impact of COVID-19
has become clearer, given any such targets set now, are likely
to be inappropriate.

The Committee is committed to making sure our remuneration
framework reflecis best practice and to improving the transparency
of our disclosures. We have introduced an ‘Al a glance’ section
which provides a spapshot of remuneration for the year and how
we intend to implement the framework for the year ahead.

Performance and pay for FY20

it has been another year of good progress for the Group with
adjusted EBITDA and adjusted prefit before income tax both
increasing by over 10%.

The annual hnnus was hased on the Aachievement of operating
profit, cash conversion, organic revenue and operating profit
margin performance conditions. The formulgic oulcome under
the bonus would have resulted 1n 8 bonus pay-out of 25% of
maximum. However, the Executive Directors felt that, despite the
good progress Next 15 has made during the year in terms of the
wider sector, taking into account the performance of the business
as a whole for FY20 and looking at the Company’s KPIs in the
round, it would be appropriate to waive their FY20 bonuses. The
Committee accepted the offer of the Executive Directors.

Based on perfarmance over FY20, tranche three of the FY18 LTIP
award, tranche two of the FY19 LTIP award and trancheé one of
the FY20 LTiP award are elhgible to vest n FY21. The awards are
based 70% on an adjusted EPS performance metric and 30% on
strategic KPls. Following an assessment of performance over the
year, 20.4% of each tranche will vest in FY21. Further details on
the performance against targets for both the bonus and LTIP can
be found later in this report.

Remuneration framework review

Inlight of the evolving corporate governance environment, and in
order to ensure the framework continues to support the business
strategy and appropriately incentivise our senicr managementteam,
the Committee reviewed the remuneration framework during the
year. The conciusion of this review was that pay levels remained
appropriate and that no change to quantum was necessary, but
that a significant change to the structure of our Long-Term Incentive
Plan ('LTIP") was reguired.

The previous LTIP has split each award into a series of sequential
one-year performance periads, with holding pericds of varying
lengths applied to each vested tranche. This appreach had been
considered appropriate for our early stage of growth, although in
practice several awards with overlapping annual performance periods
has become complex. The new LTIP structure is a more market
standard LTIP which consists of a longer, three-year, performance
period for each award. Subject to the achievement of stretching
performance conditions, ihe award will vest and be released on
the third anruversary of grant Cur CEO and CFO are significant
shareholders and are well aligned to the long-term interests of
shareholders, so while executives will be encouraged to continue
to build and hold shares through the proceeds of the LTIP whiist
they are Directors, there will be no formal requirement to retain
LTIP awards after vesting or to retain shares after they have left
the business. The Cammittee believes the new LTIP will provide
a longer-term performance perspective, which better suppons
the delivery of Next 15’s multi-year strategy.



Aside from the significant changce to the LTIP, the Committee
considered recent investor and corporate governance best practice
and, as such, 1s taking the opportunity to enhance the clawback
and malus requirements and, of heightened importance at this time,
add a specific discretion for the Committee to overnde a formuta
driven incentive outturn, to reflect broader performance factors.

Application of new remuneration framework for FY21

In addition to the 20% pay cut already taken by our CEQO and
CFO, effective 1 April 2020 until June 2020, the Committee has
also delayed the annual pay review for our CEQ and CFC until the
COVID-19 situation becomes clearer. Pension contributions will be
in line with policy at 10% of salary. Our US-based CEQ additicnally
receives a small Us 407k pension plan.

The annual bonus will be unchanged from FY20. The maximum
opportunity for the Executive Directors is 60% of salary, payable in
cash. Performance will be measured equally against the following
performance metrics: adjusted operating profit, cash conversion
rato, organic revenue growth and adjusted cperating profit margin
but, again, the Committee has delayed the setting of such largets
until the COVID-19 situation becomes clearer.

Executive Directors will be entitled to grants equivalent to up 10 100%
of salary under the new LTIP with performance measured over a
three-year performance period from FY2110 FY23. The award will
be based 100% on stretching adiusted EPS performance targets.

I hope this reportis clear and demonstrates the robust applcation of
our remuneration framework to ensure pay for performance at Next
15. Although we are an AIM listed company with no reguirement for a
shareholder vote on Directors’ pay, In the spirit of full accountability,
this Remuneration Report will be subject 1o an advisory shareholder
vote at the 2020 AGM.

We look forward 1o continued dislogue with you, and your support
at the forthcoming AGM.

Helen Hunter
Remuneration Committee Chair
22 April 2020
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

At a glance
How we performed in FY20
FY20 performance-related bonus Maximum vs actual pay for FY20
Adjusted £2.000k Fixed pay
perfoimance meastre Target ran Pefo Weightin Qutcoma £1,799Kk
. e ° ks ge _Petormence Weightng Ouico! £1,800k Performance-related bonus
Opersting profit.  £42.5m-£46m  £40.9m 25% 0% £1,600k e
Qrganic £1400k
revenue growth 3 6% (2)% 25% 0% £1.200k
Cash conversion ratio 90-100% 102% 25% 25% £1,000k 24% £955k
Operating profiz £ROOK £802k
margin 16.5 -18.9% 16.4% 25% G% £600K
£412k
Total 100%  25% £400k 46% 87% 24%
£200k 45% 86%
£0
Maximum Actual FY20 Maximum Actual FY20
Chief Executive Officet Chief Financial Officer

LTIP tranches vesting in relation to FY20 performance
Tranche two of the FY18 and FY19 LTIP awards and tranche one of the FY20 LTIP award are eligible to vest in FY21, based on
performance over FY20.

The awards are based 70% on an adjusted EPS performance metric and 30% on sirategic KPis. Performance against targets and the
vesting cutcomes are shown below:

F¥18 FY15 FY20
wranche 3 rranche 2 tranche 1
Adjusted performance measure Weighting Targel range Perormance vesting vesting veshng
Earnings per share 70% 5% - 15% 5% 18.2% 18.2% 18 2%
KPis 30%
: 4 %
Organic revenue growtn 3% - 8% (2.0p% o% a% 0%
Operating profit margin 16% —19% 16 4% 2.2% 22% 2.2%
Total 100% 20.4% 20.4% 20.4%
How we will implement our remuneration framework for FY21
Time hornzon
Llement Fy21 FY22 FY23 implementation of remunearation framework for FY 21
Salary Voluntary three-month 20% salary reduction for Executive Directors commencing April 2020 in
recognibon of the impact COVID-19 may have on salanes across the Group. FY21 salanes remain
under review and will be confimed when the wrpact of COVID-'9 has become clearer
Tim Dyson, Chief Executive, $306,206
Peter Harrie, Chiel Fing: wigl Officer £323,068
(Figures reflect 7Y20 sala-y. Directors have taken a temporary 20% reductior tc this rate),
Pension and Directors are entitied to recene empioyer contributians of up to 0% of base salary to a Group
henefits pension plan
Annual bonus Maximum apportunity s 60% of salary, payablo i cash.
Performance metrics as for FY20 with target levels under review 1o be con‘rmed when the 'mpact
af COVID-'9 has hecome clearcr,
Long-term Long-term incentive grant of 100% of salary
incentives Pardormance wil be measured over a single three-year pernod and targets remain under review and
will he confirmed when the impact of COVID-15 has became clearer
Shareholding Execubive Directors must bukd and maintain a holding of shares inthe Company of 200% of salary.
. : ' m
requirement 50% of the net of tax number shares vesting under the incentive arangements must be retained

until guideline 1s met




Remuneration framework
To ensure that the Group continues to grow, organically and inorganically, we must have the right remuneration framework in place.

In setting our remuneration framework the Commitiee considers:

- ensuring that there 15 a strong loeng-term alignment of interest between Executive Directors and our shareholders;

- lhe need to align the overall reward arrangements with the Group's strategy, both in the short and long term;

- the need to attract, retain and motivate Executive Directors and senior management of the right calibre, ensuring an appropriate
mix between fixed and vanable pay; and

« ensuimg that there are coherent cascade pay and benefits arrangements etsewhele in the Group to support mternal aligiment
of interest and succession.

Executive Director remuneration framework

Llement of

Puipose and link

remuneration Key features to strategy Maximumr cpportunity Performance measures Malus and clawback
Base salary Reflects external market  Attracts and retains No prescribed maximum,.  The Committec N/A
I sttt h the “Ons 5 i i
and goog. aphy and an  the bost talent w@ ? pccount will bo taken considers the individual’s
indwvidual's performance necessary expertise T performance and
) ) § of increascs applicd to N
and contnbution. to deliver the Group's contrbution in the penod
cmployees as a whole
strategy and to create since the last review.
Reviewed annually when determining
shareholder value )
normally in February. salary Increases.
Committee discretion
to award increases when
it considers it appropriate,
includimg where base
salary at outset may have
been set at a relatively
low level, or where there
has been a substantial
change in responsibilitics
of the role.
Allowances The Chief Executive Pravides market The value of benefits NIA NFA
and benefits Officer 1s entitled to competitive and 1snot capped as itis
a contubutionto 3 cost-effective benefits  determmed by the cost
deferred benefit plan, to the Campany, which
- Provides reassurance
private health, dental ! may vary.
- i and nsk mitigation, and
and vision insurance; Ife
. ; supports parsonal
assurance; protessional heaith and wellben
achviser fees paid on 0-
"1s behalf, and can
allowance {lease and
associated fees) or
cash i leu thereof
The Chief Financial
Officer s entitted
to private medical
insurance,
The Committee may
determine that cther
benefits may be added
where appropriate.
Pension Directors are ontitled Prowides market Maximum contribution, N/A N/A

to recerve employer

equivalent retirement

contributions to 2 Group  henefits

pension plan

currently 10% of base
salary.

In addition, Tim Dyson
s entitled to receve a
pensior benefit under
a US 401k plan
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Executive Director remuneration framework continued

Element of
remuneranion

Key feallres

Purpose and link
10 strategy

Maximum opponiumity

Performance measures

Maius anc clawback

Shareholding
guidelines

Executive Directors are
expected to bulld and
maintain a holding of
shares in the Company

Increases aignment
between Executrve
Directars and
shareholders and

Mimimum sharcholding
guidelines to be satisfred
within frve yeoia uf
appomiment of 200%

Executrve Directors shall
not dispose of shares
neaded to meet ther
minkmum shareholding

of 200% of base salary.  shows a clear
commitment by all
Executve Directors
ta creating value for
snarenolders in the
langer term.

of salary for all Executive
Directors.

requirement except as
approved by the

If any Executive Director Comrmittee,

does not meet the
gurdeline they will be
expected to retain up

to 50% of the net of tax
number of shares vesting
under any of the Company's
discretionary share
incentive arrangements
until the guidehne is met.

The Committee may give
such approval in imited
circumstances such as
to comply with legal
obligations or to avoid
financial distress

Non-Executive Director remuneration framawork

Element of

remuneration Key features Purpose and link 1¢ strategy Maximum opportunity Performance measures

internal evaiuation of the
Board's and its Committees’
effectivencss takes place
periodically.

Fees Cash fees, determined
by the Executive Diectors,
reflecting the time
commitment required, the
respansibility of each role,
and the level of fees in
comparable companies.

Suppors recrutment and reterion
of Non-Executive Directors with
the necessary breadth of skills
and oxperience to adwise and assist
with establishing and monitoring
the Group’s strateg ¢ objectives,

The aggregate Directors’
sevce fees (exchding salary
or other remunerabcn)is
limited 1o £300,000 under
the Company’s Aticles

No entitlement to compensation
for early termination.

Policy on recruitment

In the case of hiring or appeinting a new Executive Director, the Committee may make use of any or all of the existing components
of remuneration, as described above. The Committee will take into consideration all relevant factors {inciuding gquantum, nature of
remuneration and the jurisdiction from which the candidate operates) to ensure that the pay arrangements are in the best interests
of the Company and its sharehclders. Awards forfeited from the previous employer may be bought out like-for-like with equivalent
bonus or LTIP awards over Next 15 shares

Directors' service conltracts, policy on outside appointments and payments for loss of office

Executive Directors have rolling contracts that are terminable on six months’ notice. There are no contractual entittements to
compensation on termination of the employment of any of the Directors other than payment int ieu of notice at the discretion of the
Company and a payment for comphance with post-termination restrictions.

Lrate of current senace coniract MNotice period

Executive Directors
1 June 1897
25 March 2014

Tim Dyson 6 months

Pater Harris b moenths

The Executive Directors are allowed to accept appointments and retain payments from sources outside the Group, provided such
appointments are approved by the Board,

Bonus and LT awards normally fapse if the Executive resigns However, for a ‘good ieaver’, part-year banus may be payable, pro
rata, and the Executive's unvested awards may also vest subject to the achievement of the performance conditions, usually pro rata,
for the proportion ¢f the LTIP holding period employed



Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment
All Non-Executive Directors are engaged under letters of appointment terminable on three months’ notice at any time. Non-Executive
Directors are not entitled 1o any pension benefit or any payment in compensation for eaily termination of then appomntment.

Date of current letier of appointment Nounce penod

Non-Executive Directors

Richard Eyre 12 May 2017 3 months
Perny Ladkin Brand 21 July 2017 3 months
Genavicve Shore 3 July 2017 3 months
Helen Hunter 26 Junc 2018 3 months

Composition of the Committee and advice received

The Committee comprises three Non-Executive Directors: Helen Hunter (Committee Chair from 26 June 2019), Richard Eyre and
Penny Ladkin-Brand. Genevieve Shore was Chair of the Committee until 26 June 2019 when she stepped down from the Board and
Ielen Hunter was appointed. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer attend the Committee meelings
by invitation and assist the Committee in its deliberations, except when Issues relating to their own remuneration are discussed.
No Director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration. The Company Secretary or his nominee acts as secretary to the
Committee. The Committee is authorised, where it judges it necessary te discharge its responsibilities, to ehtain independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense.

Following a tender process during the year, Korn Ferry was appointed as adviser to the Committee. Korn Ferry is a signatory to the
Remuneration Consultants’ Cade of Conduct and has confirmed to the Committee that it adheres in all respects to the terms of the
Code. Fees paid to Korn Ferry during the period and to Pearl Meyer & Partners UK LLP, the Committee’s previous advisers, were £Nil
and £56,508 respectively. The Committee is satisfied that the advice it received from both adwvisers 1s objective and independent.

Consideration of shareholder and broader stakeholder views
Next 15 values the views of its investors and, as part of the remuneration framework review, undertook a shareholder consultation
with the Company’s major sharehclders and the main shareholder advisory bodies in order to gather feedback.

Terms of reference and activities in the year

The activities of the Committee are governed by its terms of reference, which were reviewed during the period and are available
from the Group's website at www nextlS.com. The Committee had 9 scheduled meetings during the year and details of attendance
can be found in the Cerporate Governance Report on page 27.

The principal matters considered by the Committee during the year included:
- reviewing the remureraticn framework against the Group strategy and best practice corporate governance reguirements;
« undertaking the annual review of remuneration for both Executive Direclors;
« setting both financial and non-financial targets for the annual bonus plan FY20,
reviewing and setting appropriate stretching performance targets for the FY20 LTIP awards,
+ considering the remuneration arrangements of brand senior management;

« reviewing the extent to which performance conditions have been met for both the annual and iong-term incentive plans, and agreeing
the cash and equity payments arising including the processes and communication to Executive Directors and semor executives;

- reviewing the design, policies and targets of the Group's equity incentive plans including their impact on dilution and headroom:;
+ considering the head office resource available t¢ administer the Group’s equity Incentive plans;

closely reviewing changes to laws, regulations and guidelines or recommendations regarding remuneration, including in relation
o tax; and

- continuing to review the Group's approach to gender pay, diversity and inclusion policies.

asuewA0b ayelodion
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Directors’ remunerotioh report continued

Key activities of the Committee for the year ahead
The principal matters for consideration by the Committee for the year ahead will include:

= keeping the remuneration framewaork under review as the COVID-19 situation continues to unfold;

o sefing appropriate perfarmance targets incliding a review af whether targets framed arnnne adjusted FPS ar TSR are more
appropriate for Next 15;

- censideration to the principles governing the Group's brand equity schemes and any adjustments required;
= coentinuing to review the Group's approach to gender pay, diversity and inclusion policies;
« monitoring and reviewing best practice corporate governance requirements, changes to laws, regulations and tax; and

= reviewing remunetation structures for staff below Executive Director level.

Directors’ remuneration for the 12-month period to 31 January 2020

Perforrance-

Salary related Pension Other
and fees, bonus centributions benefits Total Total

2020 2020 LTIP awards 2020 2020 2020 2019

£°000 £°000 ronot £000 £'000 £000 L 000*
Executive Directors
Tim Dyson 713 nil 120 80 46 959 1,891
Peter Harris 323 nil 56 32 1 412 986
Non-Executive Directors
Richard Eyre 150 — — 150 150
Penny Ladkin-Brand 46 — — _ - a6 46
Gengvieve Shore' 26 - . — _ 26 63
Helen Hunter? 3 — - — 3 —

1 Genevieve Shore siepped down from the Board on 26 June 2019,

2 Helen Hunter joned the Board on 26 June 2019,

3 These kqures comprse Tavches of thrre LTIP awards which vest o relaton b perfermance peaads endireg FY20 Bowng thase LTIP awards granted w May 20072 Apnil 2018
anc Apnl 2019, valuec using a share price of 503p, being the the average share price over the last quarter of the period

4 Total reruneraton for 2018 nas been restated from the figures reported last year which did not reflect those taiches of LTIP awards vestirg i relation to performance
penoas ending FY19.

Performance-related bonus

The annual bonus opportunity for FY20 was 80% of salary for both Executive Directors. Performance was based on four. egually
weighted performance metrics. The formulaic outcome based on performance against largets would have resulted in a bonus pay-
out of 1.4% of maximum as set out in the table below. As set out in the Chair's letter, the Executive Directors waived their bonuses
for FY20 taking into account the perfarmance of the business as a whole for FY20 and the overall experience of shareholders.

Pay-out

Weighung Targe: Actual for elerrent

Performance metric % of rax] range perlorrance (% of elerrent)
Ad usted ozerating profit 25% £42.5m-g46m £40.9m 0%
Cash conversion ratio 25% 90-100% 102% 25%
Organic revenue growth 25% 3--6% (2%) 0%
Operaing prolit margin 25% 165-183.9% 16 4% 0%
Total bonus (% of max) 25%

The bonuses for year ended 31 January 2020 were £nil ($nil) for Tim Dyson and £nil for Peter Harris.



Long-Term Incentive Plan

Awards vesting by reference to performance periods ending 31 Jonuary 2020

The historic awards granted to the Executive Directors which vested by reference to performance periods ending on 31 January 2020
are summarised below

FY18 LTIP grant (granted 2 May 2017}

Number of
performance Percentage Number of
sharesin of award shares vesting  Gain on vesing
Execuive Director tranche 3 vesting fram ‘ranche 3 £'000
Tim Dyson 65,039 20.4% 13,267 67
Peter Harris 30147 204% 5,148 kil
FY19 LTIP gront {granted 10 April 2018)
Number of
performance Percentage Number of
shares in of award shares vesting  Gain on vesling
Lxecutve Direcror rranche 2 vestng frons rranche 2 £'000
Tim Dyscn 26,821 20.4% 5,471 27
Pater Harris 13.578 20 4% 2770 14
FY20 LTIP grant (granted 28 April 2019)
Number of
performance Number of
shares in Percentage of shares vesting  Gan on yvasting
Lxeculive Director tranche t award vesting from tranche 1 £000
Tim Dyson 25,664 20.4% 5.231 26
Peter Harris 1,769 20.4% 2,40 12

Valued using a share price of 503p, being the average share price over the last guarier of the period.

The tranches are based 70% on adjusted EPS performance and 30% on KPIs. Performance against targets, and the vesting cutcome,

are set cul below:

Actual Vesting

Perlormance metnc Weighting Threshold target  Maximum target performance (% of max)

Earnings per share growth 70% 5% 19% 5% 18.2%
KPls 30%

Organic revenue growth 3% 6% (2.01% O%

Operating profit margn 16% 19% 16.4% 2.2%

Vesting (% of max) 20.4%
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Awards granted during FY20

The FY20 awards were granted to Executive Directors on 26 April 2018. The award covers a five-year perod and is split into five equal
tranches, with each tranche measuring annual performance over the period. Each tranche of the award 15 based 70% on adjusted
EPS performance and 30% on a range of financial KPls. Subject to performance aganst these conditions, 60% of the award will be
released following the end of FY22 and the remaining 40% following the end of FY24

Executive Director Tim Dyson Peter Harris

Numbher of performance shares 128,220 58,847

Vesting criteria (for both Executive Directors)

Up to 70% of maximum award Target Proportion of tranche vesting for that yeor
Annual rate of increase in Less than 5% 0%
earnings per share over relevant 5% 17.5%
financial year Between 5% and 15% 17.5%—-70% (straight-line basis)
15% or more 70% total award

Up to 30% of maximum award
KPlIs Organic net revenue growth 3% 1o 6% 0%-15%

Operati~g profit margin 16% to 15% 0%-15%

Vesting tranches (for both Executive Directors)

Einancial year following which tranche vests Maximum proportion of award available for
vesting (subject to performance)

FY20 20%
Fy21 20%
Fy22 20%
FY23 20%
Fy24 20%

Holding periods (for both Executive Directors)

Financial year following which tranche vests Released following
FY20, Fy2land FY22 Fy22
F¥23 and FY24 F¥24




Directors’ interests in share plans for the year to 31 January 2020
As at 31 January 2020 the following Directors held performance share awards over Ordinary Shares of 2.5p each under the 2005
LTIP, 2015 LTIP and 2016 Share Award Agreements, as detailed below:

Nurmrter of Shares Number of
performance Shares Shares graniega performance Ene of Total gain
sharas at lapsang auning weslINg Cunng during shares at performance on vesting
Exocutwe Dircctor 1February 2019 the penod the perioc the perios 31 January 2020 Grant dae pernod £'000
Tim Dyson
225,000 13,050 211,950 - - 1710.2016 31.01.2019 1102
162,597 3,903 61136 — 97558 02.05.2017 31.01.2022° 318
134,105 1,609 25,212 — 107,284 10.04.2018 310120237 131
— — - 128,220 128,220  26.04.201% 31.01.2024° —
Peter Harris
225,000 13,050 21,950 - — 17102018 31.01.2019 1102
75,367 1809 28,338 — 45,220 02.05.2007 31.01.2022° 147
67,885 814 12,763 - 54,311 10.04.2018 310120232 66
— 58,847 58,847 26.04.2018 31.01.20247 —

1 Asreported previously, the LTIR awards under the 2005 LTIP fyranted Irom 2007} vest oh o Wanched osis over g lolal five-year penod Tranches representng o masamum of
40% of each total award will vest by reference to performance penods enaing 31 January 2020

2 Bxecutive Directors will hecome uncondbionally logally anc beneborlly entiled w0 up to 6C% of the total awarded performance shares on the date on whirh vesting 1s
determined in relation ta the performance pencd ending 31 January 2021 {expecied Aprl 2021), and up to the reraining 40% on the date on which vesting 1 determined n
relation o the performance penod ending 3% January 2023 (expectea Apnl 2023}

3 Executive Duectors will hecome uncondionally legatly and beneficially enhitled to up to 68% of the total awarded performance shares on the date or which vesting 1s
detertrned wrelations Lo the per'ormance penod ending 31 January 2022 {expected Apnl 2022) The Exccutive Dircciors will become uncondimiondlly legdal and tencfically
entitlec 1o the remaiming 40% of the award on the date on which vesiing 1= determined in relation to the performance penod ending 31 January 2024 [expected Apnl 2024).

Directors’ interests in the shares of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc
The interests cf the Directors in the share capital of the Company at 31 January 2019 and 31 January 2020 are as follows:

Oreinary Shares LTIP performance shares

asueulaaob sirlodion

31 January 31 January 1 February 31 January
2019 2020 2019 2020
{or date of {or date of (or date of [or date of
appontment resignation appointmrent resignation
if later) if earlier) il later) if earlier)
Executive Directors

Tim Dyson 5077997 5,164,345 521702 333,062
Peter Harris 242372 395,423 368,256 158,378

Non-Executive Directors
Richard Eyre 100,000 115,000 — —
Penny Ladkin-Brand — 20118 — -

Genhevieve Shore -
Helen Hunter _

* Incluctes ordinary shares legally and beachoally vwned and perfonmance shares which have vested i relation to pror penods but not yet been relcased.
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Directors’ remuneration report continued

Total shareholder return
The Company’s total sharehoider return performanice for the eight financial years to 31 fanuary 2020 is shown on the graph below
compared with the FTSE Media Index

The Directors consider that a comparison of the Company’s total shareholder return to that of similar businesses on the Main Market
15 More refevant har g comparson witht (he FTSE Al Al Stiare Hidea.

This graph shows the value on 31 January 2020 of £100 invested in the Company on 31 January 2012 compared with £100 invested
in the FTSE Media Index.
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How the remuneration framework will be implemented for FY21

Salary

Executive Directors’ salaries will be reviewed ance the impact of COVID-19 has become clearer, with any changes in line with
the average workforce increase for FY21, The Executive Directors’ salaries have been voluntarily reduced by 20% from 1 April 2020
to 30 June 2020 in light of the potential impact of COVID-12 on the Group's wider workforce,

Salary witn Salary with

cftect fromn cffcct fram
Executive Director 1February 2002 1t edruary 2020 Increase
Tim Dysan $906,206 $TECT TBC%
Peter Harris £323,068 £7BC* TBC%

* Figures reflect FY2Q satary Cwectors hove taken a temporary 20°% reductior to this rate

Pension and benefits
Pension will remain capped at 10% of base salary for both Executive Directors. Tim Dyson is also entitled to a pension under a
LS 40k pension plan,

Benefits will operate in line with FY20.

Annual bonus

The annual benus opportunity will remain at 60% of salary for FY 21, paydlile in cash. Performance will be measured ogainst adjusted
operating profit, cash conversion ratio, organic revenue growth and adyjusted operating profit margin with targets levels to be set
ocnce the impact of COVID-19 has become ciearer. The Committee considers the bonus targets to be commercially sensitive but
commits to full retrospective disclosure in next year's Remuneration Report.

Long-term incentive

The Executive Directors will be granted LTIP awards of 100% of salary. Performance will be measured over a single three-year
performance period to 31 January 2023, The awards will vest based on the achievermnent of stretching performance targets which
will be set once the impact of COVID-19 has become clearer and disclosed when the awards are announced.

The Committee will have discretion to averride the formulaic outcome of the incentives in certain circumstances. Clawback and
malus provisions will apply.



Report of the Directors

The Directors present their Annual Report together with the audited
financial statements of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc
(the *Company’} and its subsidiaries {the ‘Group'} for the year
ended 31 January 2020.

The Group has chosen, in accordance with section 414C(11) of
the Companies Act 2006, to include such matters of strategic
importance to the Greup in the Strategic Report which otherwise
would be required to be disclosed in this Directors’ Report.

Group results and dividends

The Group's results for the period are set outin the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 56. As announced on
30 March 2020, the Directors have suspendedthe final dividend in
response to the COVID-19 crisis. This means that the total dividend
for the year ended 31 January 2020 was 2 Hp (2019 756p).

Directors
Details of Directors who served during the year and biographies
for Directors currently in office can be found on page 23

Details of the Directors’ remuneration, share opticons, service
agreements and interests in the Company’s shares are provided
in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 32 to 42,

Except for Directors’ service contracts, no Director has a malerial
interest In any contract to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries
is a party.

Directors’ indemnity

tn accordance with its Articles of Association the Company has
entered into contractual indemnities with each of the Directors in
respectof its liabilities incurred as a result of their office. Inrespect
ofthose labilities for which Directors may not be indemnified. the
Company maintained a Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance
policy throughout the period. Although the Directers’ defence costs
may be met, neither the Company’s indemnity nor the insurance
policy provides cover in the event that the Director is proved
to have acted dishonestly or fraudulently. No claims have been
made under the indemnity or against the policy.

Acquisitions

The following is a summary of Group acquisitions made in the
year 10 31 January 2020, more detailed disclosure of which can
be found in note 26 to the financial statements.

On 1 October 2019, Next 15 acquired Creston Plc US Holdings
Inc. and its subsidiary, Health Unlimited LLC (M Booth Health), a
global health consultancy and communications agency. The initial
censideration for the acquisition was approximately $27.7m, which
was settled with $21.0m of cash and the issue of 979,970 new
ordinary shares in Next 15. The first deferred consideration that
becomes payable may be sausfied by cash or up to 25% in new
ordinary shares, at the option of Next 15. The second deferred
consideration that becomes payable will be payable in cash. The
total consideration level is subject to a cap of $45.0m.

On 26 November 2019, Next 15 purchased the entire share capital
of Nectar Communicaticns LLC {'Nectar’). The initial consideration
for the acquisition was approximately $2 8m settled in fullin cash.
Further contingent consideration may be payable arcund April

2022 and April 2025 based on the EBITDA performance of Nectar
over the next five years.

Significant post-balance sheet events

In light of the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group considered whether
any adjustments are required to the reported results in the financial
statements. As at the balance sheet date of 31 January 2020,
there had been no global pandemic declared, and the outbreak
of COVID-19 was limited 1o China, where the Group has limited
operations. The subsequent macroeconomic downturn and extent
of global interventions were not apparent.

Subseguent to the balance sheet date, the World Health Crganisation
declared a pandemic on 11 March and we have seen a significant
downturn in the global econemic ocutlook. As a result, the Group
has concluded that the necessity for large scale interventions
and other information received was not indicative of conditions
that existed at the balance sheet date and therefore that the
consequences of such interventions represent non-adjusting post
balance sheet events. More information can be found at note 30
to the financial statements.

Likely future developments in the business of the Company
The Group's priorities for 202%22 are disclosed in the Strategic
Report on pages 1to 21

Research & Development

During the year many of our brands undertook R&D activities
as part of their work developing leading technological solutions
for their clients. Several of our market research agencies have
innovated to automate manually intensive research processes
by developing bespoke software designed 1o manage the huge
amount of data gathered daily by their clients.

Employees and workers

Quremployees and workers are considered one of the Company’s
principal stakeholders as described in the Corporate Governance
Report on pages 24 to 29.

Equal opportunities

The Group seeks to recruit, develop and employ throughout
the organisation suitably qualfied, capable and experienced
people, irrespective of sex, age, race, disability, religion or belief,
marital or civil partnership status or sexual orientation. The Group
gives full and fair consideration to all applications for employment
made by people with disabilities, having regard to their particular
aptitudes and abilities.

Any candidate with a disability will not be excluded unless it is
clear that the candidate is unable to perform a duty that fs intrinsic
to the role, having taken into account reasonable adjustments.
Reasonable adjustments to the recruitment process will be made
10 ensure that no applicantis disadvantaged because of his or her
disability. The Group's policies for training, career development
and promotion do not disadvantage people with disabilities.

Diversity and inclusion

The Greup's approach to diversity and inclusion is set out on our
website at www.next1S.com. Our approach 1o Boeard diversity is
set out on page 26 of the Corporate Governance Report.
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Report of the Directors continued

Health and safety

The Group recognises and accepts its responsibilities for health,
safety and the envirenment. The Group is committed to maintaining
a safe and healthy working envircnment in accordance with
applicable requirements at all locations in the UK and overseas.
The Chief Financial Officer 1s responsible for the implementation
of the Group policy on health and safety.

Cyber security

In response to the growing global threat of third-party attempts
1o exploit weaknesses across our IT Systems, the issue of Cyber
Security is now a standing item on the Board's agenda. During the
yearthe T andg Cyber Security Team has continued to strengthen
the security maturity across the Group. In additionto implementing
standardised policies, processes and procedures, technical controls
and educalion tools have been added to reduce the risk to the
Groups businesses. These controis wilt continue to avolve as wa
build further consistency arcund the tooling and processes across
the Group that support cur security program.

Disclosure of information to the External Auditor
Each of the persons who is @ Director at the date of approval of
this report confirms that:

1. sofarasthe Directoris aware, there is no relevant auditinformation
of which the Company's External Auditor is unaware; and

2. the Director has taken all steps that they ought 1o have taken as
a Director in order to make themselves aware of any relevant
audit information and to ensure that the Company's External
Auditor is aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance
with the provisions of section 418 of the Companies Act 2006,

Annual General Meeting

Itis our current intention to hold the Annual General Meeting (the
‘AGM) of Next Fifteen Communications Group pic (the *Company’) at
aur offices located at 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF on 25
June 2020 at 1.00 p.m. Because of the evolving COVID-19 situation,
arrangements for the AGM may be subject to change, possibly at
short notice. Currentty the measures that the UK Government has
put in place as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, in particular
those restricting public gatherings of mere than two people
and all but essential travel, mean that attendance at the AGM in
person will net be possibie and shareholders or their appointed
proxies {other than the chair of the Annual Generai Meeting) will
not be permitted entry to the AGM. If these measures remain in
place, the Company will put in place arrangements such that the
legal requirements to hoid the meeting can be satisfied and the
meeting will proceed with only such attendees, employees and
AGM support staff as are strictly required and willinclude only the
formal business set out in the Notice of Meeting. The Company is
exploring ways to engage shareholders if they are unable te attend
in persen, including through an online interactive webcast, Details
of this and any changes to the AGM will be made available via
our website. We strongly encourage you to vote on all resolutions
by completing an onling proxy appointment form in advance of
the meeting, appointing the chair of the meeting as your proxy.
The Notice of AGM and explanatory notes regarding the ordinary
and special business to be put to the meeting will be set outin a

separate circular 1o shareholders, which wilt be made available
on the Group's website at www next!5.com and will be mailed to
shareholders who have requested a paper copy.

Political donations

iis the Group's policy not to make donauons for political purposes
and, accordingly, there were no payments to political organisations
during the year (2019: £Nii).

Charitable donations
During the year ended 31 January 2020, the Group donated
£56,857 to various charities {2019 £41,440),

Acquisition of shares

Acguisitions of shares by the Next Fifteen Employee Trust
purchased during the period are as described in note 23 to the
financial statements.

Financial instruments

Information on the Group's financial nsk management objectives,
palicies and activities and on the Group's exposure o relevant
risks in respect of fingnaial Instruments is set out In note 19 and
in the Strategic Report on page 29

External Auditor

The Board appointed Deloitte LLPto act as External Auditor forthe
year ended 31 January 2020. A resolution to reappoint Beloitte LLP
as External Auditor of the Company and 1o authorise the Board to
fix their remuneration will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

Significant shareholdings

As at 31 March 2020 the Company had 1eceived the notsfications
below of the foliowing significant beneficial holdings inthe issued
Ordinary Share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances of
the Company. The percentage holding is based on the Company’s
issued share capital at the date of the notfication.

2020

Total %
Cctopus Investments 12,014,846 13.88
Liontrust Asset Management 1,472,962 13.24
Aviva Investors 8,327130 9.61
Aberdeen Standard investments 6,849,633 791
Tim Dyson 5.077.997 5.86
BlackRock 5,054,873 5.84
Canaccord Genuity Wealth Management 4,244,777 498
Herald Investment Management 3,841,419 4.44
Slater Investments 3,289,152 3.80
Bestinver Asset Management 3,222,169 372

Approved by the Board on 22 April 2020 and signed onits behalf by:

Nick Lee Morrison
General Counsel and Company Secretary
22 April 2G20.



Directors’ responsibilities statement

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the financial statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements
for each financial year. Under that law the Directors are required to
prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reperting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Unicn and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and have elected to
prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance with
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United
Kingdem Accounting Standards and applicable law), including
FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ Under company
law the Directors must not approve the accounts unless
they are satisffed that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affars of the company and of the profit or loss of
the Company for that period.

in prepanng the parent company financial statements, the Directors
are required to:

- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistenthy;

« make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonabie
and prudent;

- state whether FRS 101 'Reduced Disclaosure Framework' has
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements; and

+ prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis
unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company wili
continue in business.

In preparing the Group financial statements, International Accounting
Standard 1 reguires that Directors.

+ properly select and apply accounting policies;

- present information, including acccunting policies, in a
manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandakle information;

» provide additional disclosures when compliance with the
specific reguirements in IFRSs arc insufficient to enable users
to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events
and conditions on the entity’s financial positicn and financial
performance; and

+ make an assessment of the Company’s ahility to continue as
a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
transactions and disclose with reascnable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Company and enable them to ensure
that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act
2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of the Company and hence for taking reascnable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the cerperate and financial information included on the Company's
website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ fromlegislation
in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

- thefinancial statements, prepared in accordance with the relevant
financial reporting framework, give a true and fair view of the
assets, liabilities, financial position and prefit or loss of the
Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whole;

- the Strategic Reportincludes a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the positicn of the Company
and the undertakings included in the consclidation taken as
a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and
uncertainties that they face; and

« the annual report and financial statements, taken as a whaole, are
fair, balanced and understandabie and provide the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company's position
and performance, business model and strategy.

This responsibility statement was approved by the Beard of Directors
on 22 Aprit 2020 and is signed on its behalf by:

Peter Harris
Chief Financial Officer
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Independent auditors’ report
to the members of Next Fifteen Comsunicotions Group plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements

1. Opinion
In our opinion:

+ the financiai statements of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc (the ‘parent company’} and its subsidiaries {the ‘group’) give
a true and tair view ot the state of the group’s and ot the parent company’s attairs as at 31 January ZU.2U and of the group s profit
for the year then ended;

+ the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs)
as adopted by the European Union;

» the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice including Financial Reporting Standard 1071 *Reduced Disclosure Framework”; and

+ the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 1equirements of the Companies Act 2006
We have audited the financial statements, which comprise:

+ the consolidated income statement;

- the consolidated statement of comprehensive income:;

+ the consolidated and parent company balance sheets;

« the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity,

« the consolidated cash flow statement; and

- 1he related notes 1to 30 and the parent company related notes 1to 13.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements 1s applicable law and
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent
company financial statements I1s applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including FRS 101 "Reduced Disclosure
Framewnrk” {United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

2. Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing {UK) {ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our respensibilities
under those standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council's (the 'FRC's’) Ethical Standard as applied to listed
entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethicai responsibilities in accordance with these requirements,

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained Is sufficient and approprniate to provide a basis for our opinion,

3. Summary of our audit approach

Key qudit matters The key audit matters that we 1dentified in the current year were:
+ going concern; = valuation of acquisition-related liabllities; and
= imparment of acquired goodwill; « classfication and presentaton of adjusting iterms.

- valuation of acquired intangibles;

Within this report, key audit matters are identified as follows.
Newly identified
increased level of risk
Similar level of risk

Decreased level of risk

Materiality The materiality that we used for the group finarcial statements was £175m which was determined on the basis
of considering a number of different measures including adjusted profit before tax and revenue




3. Summary of our audit approach continued

Scoping

73.2% of Group revenue was subject to full audit scope and a further 10% was subject to specified audit
procedures performed by the Group auditor 77 8% of Adjusted Profit before Tax is subject to full audit scope
and afurther 5 2% was subject to specified audit procedures performed by the Group auditor.

Significant changes
in our approach

We dentified a new key audit matter in the current year in respect of going concern, due to the outbreak of
COVID19 subsequent to the balance sheet date Thete are no other significant changes in our approach apart
from the change in key audit matter,

4. Conclusions relating to going concern

We are required by 1SAs (UK) 1o report in respect of the following matters where: We have nothing to report in

« the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in preparation of the financial
statements is not apprepriate; or

respect of these matters but refer
you to the key audit matter below.

= thedirectors have notdisclosed inthe financial statements any identified material uncertaintics
that may cast significant doubt about the group’s or the parent company's ability to continue
to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from
the dale when the financial statements are authorised for1ssue.

5. Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, In our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we
identified. These matters included those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in
the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

These matters were addressed in the context of cur audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do nol provide a separate opinion on these matters,

5.1. Going concern

Key oudit matter
description

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic has led te significant uncertainty both in terms of the seventy and
the duration of the macroeconomic impact. Economic uncertainty coufd adversely impact the ability of
the Group to continue trading.

The Directors are required to make a specific assessment of the entity’s ability to continue as a going
concern, which should include a comprehensive assessment of the impact of COVID-1% on the Group.
The Group has carried out addtionat specific sensitivity analysis on the revenue and cost assumptions
used i the cash flow forecast

Under ISA 570, we have a responsibility to robustly assess the going concernrisks relating to the COVID-19
threat, including evaluating whether there is adequate support for the assumptions underlying the Directors’
assessment and the consistency of these assumplions across the Group’s business activities.

For further details, see the financial reporting and going concern statement as set out in the Corporate
Governance repert, as well as notes 1 and 30 to the financial statements.
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Independent auditors’ report conlinued
to the members of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc

5. Key audit matters continued

5.1. Going concern

continued

How the scope of our
audit responded to
the key audit matter

Key observations

In order o address this key audit matter, cur audit work included:

- assessing the Group's processes (o revisw gaing cancert it light of the impact of COVID-19, including
obtaining an understanding of the relevant controls;

- challenging the assumplions utihised in the cash flow forecasts with reference to historical trading
performance and benchmarking Management's assumptions around COVID-19 to the latest available
external macroeconomic and industry data;

- reviewing and challenging the adequacy of Management's sensitivity analysis in refatiorn to key assumptions;

+ applying further sensitivities to Management's forecasts and considering the extent of change in the
underlying assumptions that either individuzlly or collectively would be required for the Group o no
longer have the resources to continue as a going concern;

+ assessing Management's ability to execute mitigating actions, as required,

« recalculated the Group's forecast covenant compliance calculations throughout the going concern
period, based on Management's revised forecasts and sensitivities; and

« reviewing the disclosures around going concern and the impact of COVID-13 in the financial statements
to assess whether these are compiiant with (A5 1,

Based on the evidence received, we concluded that there is adeqguate suppon for the assumptions
underlying the Directors’ assessment of going concern and we consider Management's assessment 1o
be robust and reflective of the latest available information at the date of this assessment

We are satisfled that the adoption of the going concern basis of accounting is appropriate.

5.2 Impairment of acquired goadwill

Key audit matter
description

As at 31 January 2020 the Group had recognised goodwill of £101.8m (2015 £79.5mj, with the sigrificant
increase relating to acquisitions in the year.

Determining whether the carrying value of acquired goodwill is recoverable 15 a significant jJudgement
given the acquisitive business model of the Group, the number of cash generating units {CGUSY within
the Group with material goodwill balances and the significant assumptions underpinning the Directors'
impairment assessment of brand CGUs.

In determining forecast growth and profitability assumptions within their impairment models, the Directors
considered the possible impact of Brexit on Brand performance across the Group, particularly Tor UK centric
Brands. Although there is not a clear consensus across commentators that Brexit will lead to an economic
decline, the Directors are continuing to use short and medium-term growth rates for UK Brands of 0.5%,
o model @ prudent scenario of the impact of Brexit. This scenario would not result in an impairment and
the Directors have not recognised an impairment in the cuirent year,

For further details, see notes 1, 2,11 and 30 to 1he financial statements.




5. Key audit matters continued
5.2, Impairment of acquired goodwill continued

How the scope of our
audit responded to
the key audit matter

In order to address this key audit matter, our audit work included:

- cbtaining an understanding of the relevant controls around the impairment review process and the
budgeting process;

« performing a retrospective review of historical forecasting accuracy to oblain an understanding of likely
reliability of forecasts;

+ assessing the relevance of growth rate and profitability assumptions based on cur knowledge of individuat
brands, in the context of Brexit;

= benchmarking the forecast growith and retention rates against other Group companies and avallable
industry data;

« involving valuation specialists to benchmark the discount rate as well as the key inputs used in the calculation;
= considering the appropriateness of CGUs and the changes in CGUs in the year;

« reviewing the disclosure in the financial statements to assess whelher itis compliant with IAS 36 Impairment
of Assets; and

- pedorming sensitivity analyses of the significant assumptions to assess whether a reasonable change
would trigger an impairment which would require additional disclosure.

Key ohservations

Based on the evidence received, we concluded that the valuation of goodwill for the businesses above
and the disclosures under IAS 36 in the Group financial statements are appropriate.

The discount rate applied is within our acceptable range.

We are satisfied that the growth rates applied in the impairment model are appropriate in the context of
the wider uncertainty related to the UK economy and Brexit.

We are satisfied that the mechanics of the Group’s estimate and the application of the assumptions
comply with 1AS 36,

5.3 Valuation of acquired intangibles

Key audit matter
description

The Group’s acquisitions in the year resulted in the recogniticn of £18.9m (2019: £24.0m) of intangibles
and £22.3m of goodwill. Acquired iltangibles typically include brand names, customer lists, non-compete
agreements and intellectual property.

There 1s a risk that the identification and valuation of separately identifiable intangible assets are not n
accordance with [FRS 3 Business Combinations, or that the Directors use ingppropriate assumptions
such as the discount rates and future cash flows of the acquired businesses in their valuation models,
leading to material errors in the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets. In the current year, the value
of customer hists and brand names recognised were material, in particular at M Booth Health.

For further details, see the Repont of the Directors, the Financial Review and notes 1, 2, 11 and 26 to the
financial statements
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Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc

5. Key audit matters continued
5.3. Valuation of acquired intangibles continued

How the scope of our
audit responded to
the key oudit matter

In order to address the key audit matter relating to the valuation of acquired intangibles our audit work included:
obtaining anunderstanding of the relevant controls around identificaton and valuahion of acquired intangibles,

- consideration of the appropristeness of management's process for identifying and valuing acquired
intangibles,

» benchmarking the royalty rate for M Booth Health and Nectar, against independent, comparable
royalty rates,

« benchmarking the Useful Economic Life ("UEL" of acquired inlangibles against industry peers;

- involving our valuation specialists to benchmark the WACC and consider the appropriateness of
adjustments made in determination of the discount rate;

- challenging management on the key judgements applied in their valuation models;

+ reviewing consistency in judgements used in respect of acquisition accounting with those taken
elsewhere {e g forecasts); and

- reviewing the estimated contingent consideration arising on acquisition.

Key observations

Based on the evidence received, we concluded that the Group’s valuation models applied to identify
and value the separately identifiable intangible assets are approprate and consistent with prior petiods.

The discount rate applied is within our acceptable range.

5.4. Voluation of acquisition-related liabilities

Key audit matter
description

As al 31 January 2020, the Group had £48.3m of acquisition-relfated liabilities (2019: £311m) which consist
mainly of contingent consideration payable based on a share of the average profit of the businesses acquired

The value of these liabilities can be highly judgemental as they are based on forecast future performance of
specific brands, whilst they are also sensitive to changes in exchange rates and the discount rate applied
A change in estimate of a brand can result in a material charge to the income statement, which goes
through cither finance expense or finance income. Therg is a risk that these liabilittes are inappropriately
valued if they are based on inappropriate forecast and discount rate assumplions

For further details, see and notes 1, 2 and 17 to the financial statements

How the scope of our
oudit responded to
the key audit matter

In order to address the key audit matter relating to the valuation of scquisition-related liabilities included:
« obtaining an understanding of the relevant controls over the valuation of acquisitionrelated liabilities process;
- performing sensitivity analysis on the forecast assumptions;

.+ challenging revenue growth and profit margin assumptions by considering historica! accuracy of
budgeting and benchmark data;

. challenging of forecasting estimates to determine whether changes in estimate are based on information
cbtained post acquisition;

- involving our valuation specialists to benchmark the discount rate applied of 11.2% and verifying the
mechanical accuracy of the calculations; and

- agreeing settlements in the year and post year end to the bank statements or other documentation.




5. Key audit matters continued
5.4, Vagluation of acquisition-related ligbilities continued

Key observations

Based onthe evidence received, we concluded that the Directors' judgements regarding future performance
of the brands with acquisition-related liabilities to be appropriate.

The discount rate applied is wilhin cur acceptable range.

5.5. Classification and presentation of Adjusting items

Key audit matter
description

The Group present a number of Adjusted Performance Measures including Adjusted Operating Profit,
Adyusted EBITDA, Adjusted Profit Before Tax and Adjusted Earnings per Share. Profit Before Tax for the
year was £5.6m (2019 £18.8m) compared to Adjusted Profit Before Tax of £40.2m (2019, £36 Om).

The Group receive certain income and incur certain costs that Management believe should be presented
separately in order to aid the users understanding of financial performance.

Judgement is required when determining the accounting policy for Adjusting items and subsequently
when determining the classification of Adjusting items n accordance with that policy. While there is no
delintion of Adjusting items within IFRS, this 1s an area of focus for requlators and there is a risk that
items may be classified as Adjusting items which are underlying or recurning items and may distort the
reported Adjusted profit

The key audit matter is focused on whether the following Adjusting items in particular are appropriate
and whether they dre adequately disclosed by the Group in the financial statements:

Amoertisation of acquired intangibles (debit of £12.1m {2019: £9.0m)): In line with its peer group, the Group
classifies amortisation on acquired intangibles as an adjusting item. Judgement is applied in the allocation
of the purchase price between intangibles and goodwill, and in determining the useful economic lives
of the acquired intangibles The judgements made by the Group are inevitably different to those made
by their peers and as such amortisation of acquired intangibles been added back to aid comparability.

Restructuring costs {debit of £4.6m (2019, £4.4m)). For these tc be classified as Adjusting 1tems, they
should relate to clearly Identifrable initiatives and should notrecur year on year or for an undefined penod.

Growth share schemes (debit of £0.4m (2019: £1.3m)); Share-based payments are & cost of acquiring a
business and relieve companies of an alternalive cash expense. The Directors have however excluded
growth share scheme charges from Adjusted metrics as the legal form of the Group's scheme means
that while the mechanism is aimed at incentivising management performance over a period of time, the
full charge is booked at the grant date as there is no vesting period.

Employment-linked consideration on acquisitions {debit of £5.0m (2019: £0.8m)): Employment-inked
earmout payments are built up through the income stalement over the employment term. Management
have excluded the associated charge from Adjusted metrics on the basis that the expense relates to the
cost of acquiring those businesses, rather than reflecting the underlying business performance.

Far further details, see the Tnancial Review and notes 1, 2 and S to the financial statements.
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independent auditors’ report continued
10 the members of Next Fifteen Communications Graup plc

5. Key audit matters continued
5.8. Classification ond presentation of Adjusting items continued

How the scope of our
cudit responded to
the key audit mgtter

Key observotions

In order to address the key audit matter relating to the classification and presentation of Adjusting items,
our audit work included:

= obtaining an understanding of the relevant conticls over the financial reporting process,

- understanding the rationale for classifying balances as Adjusting items, considering whether this is
reasenable, in line with the Group's accounting policy and whether there is a consistent treatment of
iterns that increase and decrease the Adjusted profit measure;

« challenging whether any other items of income or expense cught to be included in or excluded from
Adjusting items by considering the nature of the itein against the standard,

- considering whether the classification of Adjusting items 1s consistent with industry peers;

+ evaluating whether the Group's policy to exclude each cost from Adjusled is appropriate inlight of IFRS
requirements, ESMA (European Securities and Markets Authority) and FRC guidance; and

» assessing whether the disclosures within the financial statements adeqguately explain the nature of
these items and how adjusted results are reconciled to statutory results.

Based on the evidence received, we concur with the Directors’ assertion that the Adjusing items ate
In fing with the Group's accounting policies as disclosed in notes 1, 2 and 5 to the financial statements
and that the classification of items of expense and Income as Adjusting items is consistent between the
pericds presented.

We note that some of the Adjusting items excluded by the Group are recurring items but are satisfied that
ihese items are sufficiently explained and reconciied i the fimanos statements.

6, Our application of materiality

&. T Materiality

We define matenahty as the magniude of misstatement in the finanaial statements that makes it probable that the economic decisions
of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit
work and in evaluating the results of our work.

Based on our professional judgement, we determined matenality for the finanoal statements as a whole as follows:

Materiality

Basis for determining
matericlity

Rationale for the
benchmark applied

Graun fnandial statemente Saeent campany financal slatemonts

€175m {2019: £173my £1.58m (2018 £1.55m)

Materiality has been determined on the basis of consideringa  Parent company materialily represents 1.1%
number of different measures including adjusted proft before  (2019:1.4%} of net assets of £145.6m (2019
tax and revenue. £1276m).

This 1s consistent with the prior year.

We considered a number of relevant benchmarks in our  The Parent company is a holding company,
determination of maleriality Adjusted profit before income  and net assets is indicatve of the company's
tax is a significant metric used in reporting the results for Next  ability to support its subsidiaries.

Fifteen Communications plc as this is the key performance

indicator for the users of the financial statements of the Group.

In addition. we incorporated revenue and net revenue as

additional benchmark as it ieflects the growth of the Group

Therefore materiality represerits approximately 4.4% {2019:
4 8%) of adjusted proft before iIncome tax and 0.6% (201S:
0.6%}) of revenue,




6. Qur application of materiality continued
6.2 Performance materiality

We set performance materiality at a tevel lower than materiality to reduce the probability that, in aggregate, uncorrected and
undetected misstatements exceed the materiahty for the financial statements as a whole Group perfoimance materiality was set at
65% of group materiality for the 2020 audit (2019: 65%). In determining performance materiality, we considered the quality of the
control environment and that it was not appropriate 10 rely on controls over a number of business processes, as well as the relatively
low number of misstatements identified In prior penods

6.3 Error reporting threshold

We agreed with the Audit Cammittee that we would report to the Commitlee alt audit differences in excess of £0.09m (2019: £0.08m),
as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on quatitative grounds. We alsc report to the Audit
Committee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.

7. An overview of the scope of our audit
71 Identification and scoping of components

In selecling the components that are in scope each year, we obtained an understanding of the Group and its environment, including
an understanding of the Group's system of internal controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement at the Group level. The
componecnis were also selected o provide an appropriate basis aonwhich to undertake audit work to address the identified risks of materal
misstatement. Audit work to respoend to the risks of material misstatement was performed directly by the group audit engagement team.

Such audit work represents a combination of procedures, all of which are designed to target the Group's identfied nsks of material
misstatement in the most effective manner possible. Based on our assessment, we focused our audit wark on 25 components,
18 of which were subject to full audit scope and 7 were subject to specified audit procedures. Our procedures on full audit scope
components provided coverage of 73 2% of the Group’s conschdated revenue and 77.8% of the Group's Adjusted Profit Before Tax.
Cur procedures on specified audit procedures components provided coverage of a further 10.0% of Revenue and 5.2% of Adjusted
Profit Befare Tax.

Cur audit work atthe compenents, excluding the parent company, is executed at levels of materiality appropriate for such components,
which in all instances are capped at 50% of Group materiality.

For all remaining components, we have performed centralised analytical procedures at component materiality.

The range of component materialilies we have used are from £136,000 to £621,000 (2019: (£105,000 t0 £765,000).

8. Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The cther informaticn comprises the information  We have nothing to report
included in the annual report, other than the financial statements and cur auditor's report thereon  in respect of these matters.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and. except to the extent
otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility 1s to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information 1s materially inconssstent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or ctherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required
to determine whether there is a8 matenal misstatement in the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.

9, Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements and for being satisficd that they give a true and fan view, and for such internal control as the directors determine 1s
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due ta fraud or error.

In preparing the finarcial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent company's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liguidate the grcup or the parent company or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
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Independent auditors’ report continued
to the members of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc

10. Auditer’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

QOur objectrves are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from matenal
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's repoert that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
hiah level of assurance bt is not & gnarantee that an andit conducted in accordanco with ISAG (UK) will always detoct a matenal
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor's repor.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

11. Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

« the information given In the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

- the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements.
in the light of the knowtedge and understanding of the group and the parent company and ther environment obtained inthe course

of the audit, we have not identified any material misstalements in the strategic report or the directors’ report.

12, Matters on which we are required to report by exception
12.1. Adequacy of expianations received and accounting records

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion; We have nothing to report

. , . . . . in respect of these matters.

- we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

« adequale accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate
for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

» the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records
and returns.

12.2. Directors’ remuneration We have nothing to report

. . . . in respes f this matter.
Under the Comparties Act 2006 we are aiso required 10 report if In cur opinion certain disclosures pect of t

of directors’ remuneration have not been made.

13, Use of our report

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to
state 10 them in an auditor’s report and for ng other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assurne
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this repor, or for
the opinions we have formed.

Andrew Evans (Senior Statutory Auditor}
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Statulory Auditor

London

United Kingdom

22 April 2020




Consolidated income statement

for the year ended 31 January 2020 and the year ended 31 January 2019

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year endeq
31 January 31 January 31 January 3 January
2020 2020 2008 2018
MNote €000 £'000 P elele] £'oao
Billings 325,353 297,037
Revenue 2 300,71 272413
Direct costs (52,242) {48.320)
Net revenue 248,469 224,093
Staff costs 3 171,180 153,247
Depreciation 4126 13,196 4199
Amortisation 41 13,211 8,624
Cther operating charges 31,469 36,346
Total cperating charges (229,056) {203.416)
Operating profit 2.5 19,413 20,677
Finance expense 6 {16,672) 6,584)
Finance income 2,61 4,667
Ne finance expense £14,061) 1,817
Share of profit from associate 204 65
Profit before income tax 5,556 18,825
Income tax expense 8 {2.717) {4,299)
Profit for the year 2,839 14,526
Attributable to:
Owners of the Parent 2,262 13,887
MNon controlling interests 577 639
2,839 14,526
Earnings por share
Basic {pence} 10 27 7.5
Dituted {pence) 10 25 16.3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Consclidated Income Statement.

All results relate to continuing operations.
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Consofidated statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 January 2020 and the year ended 31 January 2019

Year ended Year enged
31 January 31 January
2020 2019
Note £'000 £000
Profit for the year 2,839 14,526
Other comprehensive (expense}/income;
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Fair value loss on investments in equity instruments designated as FVTOCI (562) 1682)
ftems that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (136} 2,886
Loss arising on hedging mstruments designated in hedges of the net assets in foreign operation 19 a1 {700)
Total othet comprehensive fexpensclincome for the year {1,109} 1,504
Total comprehensive income for the year 1,730 16,030
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Parent 1,153 15,391
Non-controlling interests 577 639
1,730 16,030

The accompanying notes are an inteqral part of this Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

All results relate to continuing operations.



Consolidated bulunce sheet
as at 31 Jonuary 2020 and 31 January 2019
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31 January 31 January 3t January 31 Jaruary a
2020 2020 2019 2019 T
Note £000 €000 £'000 £000 g
Assets §
Property, plant and equipment 12 14,224 15,870
Right-of-use assets 16 41,655 —
intangible assets 1 155,408 126149
Investment in equity accounted associate 232 a8
fnvestments in financial assets 1,075 1,587
Deferred tax assets 18 10,967 10,521
Cther receivables 1319 809 803
Total non-current assets 224370 155,028
Trade and other receivables 13,19 70,260 66123
Cash and cash equivalents 19 28,661 20,501
Corporation tax asset 734 759
Total current assets 99,655 87423
Total assets 324,025 242,451
Liabilities
Loans and borrowings 19 33,007 20,678
Deferred tax liabilities 18 3,538 4503
Lease liabilities 16 43,023 -
Other payables 1419 16 4822
Provisions 1519 4,942 1,825
Deferred consideration 1719 — 2,464
Contingent consideration 1709 26,815 2047
Share purchase obiigation 1709 2,098 128
Total non-current habilities (113,439) (54,367)
Loans and borrowings 19 5,000 5,000
Trade and other payables 1479 59,620 60,173
Lease liahilities 16 11,210 —
Provisions 1519 1,622 1nma
Corporation tax liability 1173 1,285
Deferred consideration 1719 2,15 2,82
Contingent consideration 1719 15,366 4,565
Share purchase obligation 1719 1,269 1,608
Total current liabilities {97,875) {76.631)
Total liabilities {211,314) 130,998)
Total net assets M2, M,453
Equity
Share capital 20 2,362 2,083
Share premium reserve 76,019 62,993
Share purchase reserve (2,673) (2,673
Foreign currency transiation reserve 7,561 7697
Other reserves 24 608 1,019
Retained earnings 29,618 41,404
Total equity attributable to owners of the Parent 113,296 12,529
Non-controlling interests (585) (1,076)
Total equity 112,711 1,453

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Consolidated Balance Sheet.

These financial statements were approved and authorised by the Board on 22 Apnl 2020,

Peter Harris
Chief Financial Officer

Company number 01579589

57



58

Consoclidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 January 2020 and the yeor ended 31 Jonuary 2019

foreign Ecuiy
Share Share currency attnbutabie Non-
Share  premium purchase ranslation Other Retaned to owners of comrolling Total
capal reserve resene rCsonve FOSCIVES earnings, rhe Parcnt Inerests equity
Note £000 £000 000 £'000 £000 halelole] £'000 €000 £000

At 31 January 2019
as previously stated 2,089 62,993 (2,673} 7697 1,019 41,404 12,529 1,078} mA453
Change in accounting policy
(FRS 18] — - — — {1.794) (1794} - (1,754
Deferred tax on accounting
policy change (IFRS 16y — — — — 400 400 - 400
At 1 February 2019 2,089 62,993 (2.673) 7,697 1,019 40,010 M35 1,076y  N0,059
Profit far the year - — — — 2,262 2,262 577 2,839
Other comprehensive
expense for the year — — {136) 411 (562) (1,109} 1,109}
Total comprehensive
[expense)income for the year — - — 136) an) 1,700 1013 577 1730
Shares issued on
satisfaction of vested
performance shares 20 38 5.388 — — - (5.426) — —
Shares issued on acquisitions 2026 36 7638 — — -- 7674 7674
Movement in relation 1o
share-based paymoents - — 600 600 — 600
Tax on share-based
payments 2 — 67 167 167
Dividends 10 owners
of the Parent @ — 16.759) {6759} - 16,759)
Movement due te ESOP
share purchases - — {15) - (15) - (15)
Movement due to ESQP
share oplion excrcises — — - 15 15 — 15
Movement on reserves for
non controlling interests - - — (674) (B74) 674
Non-controlling dividend — - — — — - (760) [760)
At 31 January 2020 2163 76,019 {2,673} 7561 608 29,618 113,296 (585) 12,71

1 Other reserses nclude the ESOP reserve, tha treasury resenve, the merger réserve and he hedging reserve, see note 24

2 Refer 1o note 11or the restatement recuired lollowing acophcn of IFRS 16



Foreign Lauity
Share Share currency atiributable Non
Share premium puichase  translazion Other Retaned 1o owners of  controlhing Total
capilai roserG resenve TESSVE reserves’ carmngs *he Parent Inierests eGurty
ot 000 £'000 £000 000 000 OO0 OO0 £000 o0

At 31 January 2018
as previously stated 1,892 28,61 12,673) 4,81 1719 42,604 76,964 643) 76,321
Change in accounting
policy (IFRS 9 — — — 48 48 — 48
At 1 February 2018
as restated 1,832 28,61 {2,673) 4,811 1,19 42,652 77012 643 76,369
Profit for the year - — — 13,887 13,287 635 14,526
Other comprehensive
income/(expense} for
the year — 2,886 (700) (682) 1,504 — 1,504
Total comprahensive
Incomef{expense) for
the year - — — 2,886 (7O0) 13,205 15,391 639 16,030
Shares issucd on
satisfaction of vested
performance shares 20 &8 10,593 - — — 10,697 (36) — (36)
Shares issued on
acquisitions 20,26 24 4,433 — — 4,457 4,457
Shares issued on placing 20 105 19,366 — — 19,461 — 19,461
Ohtigation to purchase
non-controliing interest - - - - - (515) (515)
Movemaont in relation 10
share-based payments — — — — — 2,510 2,510 2,510
Tax on sharc based
payments 8 — — — — — 203 203 . 203
Dividends to owners of
the Parent 9 . - — — (5,243) {5,243} — {5,243)
Movement due to ESOP
share purchases - - - 12 — 12) - {12)
Movement duc to ESOP
share option exercises — — — 12 — 12 — 12
Movement on reserves
for non-controlling
Interests -- — — (1,226) (1,226) 1,226
Nor-contralling interest
purchased in the period — — — - — — — (383) (383)
Non-controlling dividend - - - — — {1,400) 1400
At 31 January 2019 2,089 62,993 (2.673) 7697 1.018 41,404 12,629 (1,078) M.453

1 Other reserves include the LSOP reserve, e reasury resenve, the merger reserve and the hedging resenve; see nate 24,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.
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Consolidated stotement of cash flow

for the year ended 31 January 2020 and the yeor ended 31 January 2019

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year enged
31 January 31 January 3 January 3 January
2020 2020 2019 2019
Mote £'000 £000 £°000 £000
Cash flows from operating activities
Frotit tor the year 2.839 14,526
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 412 4,505 4199
Right-of-use depreciation 16 8.6M —
Amortisation 4.1 13,211 9624
Finance expense 6 16,672 5,584
Finance income 7 (2,611) (4,667)
Share of profit from equity-accounted assocate (204) 65)
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 4 1,360 202
Loss on exit of finance lease 14 —
Income tax expense 8 2,717 4259
Share-pased payment charge 600 2,510
Net cash inflow from operating activities before changes in
working capital 47,794 37212
Change in trade and other reccivables 1,971 (8.013)
Change in trade and other payables {1,950} 7629
Movement in provisions 1,686 1554
Change in working capital 1,707 1170
Net cash generated from operations 49,501 38,382
Income taxes paid (5,993) 6,237)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 43,508 327145
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of subsidianes trade and assets, net of cash acquired 26 {18,501) 19.231)
Payment of contingent consideration (5,622} {9,265)
Purchases of equity Instruments designated at FvTOC! (50) {1,008)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (3,460) (5.648)
Proceeds on dispesal of property, plant and eguipment 23 n
Procecds on dispesal of subsidiary 466 —
Acquisition of intangible assets (1,831} [2,384)
Net movement in long-term cash deposits (24) 132
Income from finance lease rece vables 547
Interest received 7 12 229
Net cash ocutflow from investing activities (28,340) 137164}
Net cash inflow/{outflow) from eperating and investing activities 15,168 {5,009)




Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

31 January 31 January 31 January 31 January

2020 2020 2019 2019

MNote £'000 £'000 £000 £000

MNet cash inflow/{outflow} from operating and investing activities 15,168 (5,009

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds on issue of sharc capital — 20,000
Issue costs on issue of Ordinary Shares — (539)
Repayment of lease liabilities (11.367) (5)
Increase in bank borrowings and overdrafts 27,045 39,086
Repayment of bank borrowings and overdrafts (14,0086) {50,018}
Interest paid 6 (979) 1.248)
Diidend and profit share paid to non-controlling mterest partrers 9 (760} (1,400)
Dividend paid to shareholders of the Parent 9 (6.759) (5.243)

Net cash {outflow)/inflow from financing activities (6,826) 645

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 8,342 {4,364)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 20,501 24,283

Exchange (foss)/gain on cash held (182) 582

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 19 28,661 20,601

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow.
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Notes to the decounts
for the year ended 31 January 2020

1 Accounting policies

Next Fifteen Communications Group pic¢ (the *Company’ is a public limited company incorporated in the United Kingdorm (UK'} and
registered in England and Wales. The consolidated financial statements include the Company and its subsidiaries {together, the
‘Group’) and 1ls interests in associates.

The principal accounting policics applied in the preparation nfthe consolidated financial statcments are set out below, These policies
have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless ctherwise slated.

A. Basis of preparation

The Group's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, international
Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopled by the European Union {Adopted IFRSs’) and the parts of the Companies Act
2006 applicable to companies reporting under Adopted IFRSs. These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling because
that is the currency of the primary ecenomic enviranment in which the Group operates.

The consoiidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concermn basis (8s set out inthe corporate governance report)
and on a histonical cost basis, except for the remeasurement to fair value of certain financial assets and liabilities as described in the
accounting policies below.

B. New and amended standards adopted by the Group

Impact of initial application of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 16 "Leases’ which is effective for annual peniods beginning on or after 1 January
2019, IFRS 16 requires lessees to account for all leases on balance sheet, recognising a right-of-use asset and a lease lability at
the lease commencement date, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group has adopted IFRS 16 using
the modified retrospective approach therefore comparative information has notl been restated and the Group has recognised the
cumulative effect of adopting IFRS 16 as an adjustment 1o equity at the start of the current period. The comparative information
continues to be reparted under 1AS 17,

On transition to IFRS 16, the Greup elected to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the assessment of which transactions are
leases. It applicd IFRS 16 only to transactions that were previously identified as leases. Therefore, the definition of a lease under IFRS
16 was only applied to contracts entered into or changed from 1 February 2019

As a lessee the Group previously classified leases as operating or finance leases based on its assessment of whether the lease
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the ownership of the assel to the Group. Under IFRS 16 the Group recognised
a right-of-use asset and lease liability i.e, all leases are recognised on balance sheet, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets.

Al transition, the lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments using the the lessee's
incremental borrowing rate as at 1 February 2019, The weighted average lessee’s incremental bormowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities on 1 February 2019 was 3%. The right-of-use assets are measured at their carrying amount as if IFRS 16 had been applied
since the commencement date, discountad using the lessee’s borrowing rate at the 1 February 2019. The Group used the following
practical expedients when applying IFRS 16:

« adjusted the right-of-use assets for any onerous lease provisions immediately before the date of initial application rather than
perform an impairment review,

. applied the exemption not to recognise a right-of-use asset or lease liability for leases of low value or with lease terms with less
than 12 months remaining at 1 February 2019; and

+ axcluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application.

On transition Lo IFRS 16 the Group recognised an additional £44.4m of right-of-use assels and £55.2m of lease liabilities, with a reduction
in other creditors and provisions with regard to amounts relating to property leases, which are now recognised in the right-cf-use
assel. These movements resulted in a decrease to retained earnings of £1.8m and the recognition of a deferred tax gsset of £0.4m.



1 Accounting policies continued

C. Basis of consolidation

The Group'sfinancial statements consolidate the results of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc and all of its subsidiary undertakings,
and its interests in associates.

Subsidiaries are ali entities over which the Group has control. Control is achieved where the Company has existing rights that give
it the ability to direct the activities that affect the Company’s returns and exposure or rights to vanable returns from the entity. The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether
the Group controls another entity.

In the Censolidated Balance Shect, the acquirce's identifiable assets, habilities and contingent lisbilities are initially recogniscd at
their fair values at the acquisition date. The resulls of acquired operations are included in the Consclidated Income Statement from
the date on which control is obtained.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consclidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Parent’s ownership interests
in them. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any nonr-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value
or at the non-controlling interest's propertionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. Each of these approaches has been used by
the Group. Non-controlling interests are subseguently measured as the amount of those non-controfling interests at the date of the
original combination and the non-controlling interest's share of changes in equity since the date of the combination.

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant influence and which g neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture, Associates
are accounted for under the eguity method of accounting. The Consolidated Income Statement reflects the share of the resulis of
the operations of the associate after tax.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's previously held interests in the acguired entity are remeasured toits
acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recegnised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement, where such treatment would be appropriate If that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for & business combination 1s incomplete by the end of the reporting peniod in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete.

intercompany transactions, balances and unreatised gains on transactions between Group companies (Next Fifteen Communications
Group plc and its subsidiaries) are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated uniess the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies for subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

D. Merger reserve (included in other reserves)

Where the conditions set out in section 612 of the Companies Act 2006 or equivalent sections of previous Companies Acts are met,
shares issued as part of the consideration in & business combination are measured at their fair value in the Consolidated Balance
Sheet, and the difference between the nominal value and fair value of the shares issued is recognised in the merger reserve.

E. Revenue and other income
Billings represent amounts receivable from clients, exclusive of VAT, sales taxes and trade discounts in respect of charges for fees,
commission and rechargeable expenses incurred on behalf of clients.

Revenue comprises commission and fees earned and is recognised when a performance obligation is satisfied, in accordance with the
terms of the contractual agreement. Typically, performance obligations are satisfied over ime as services are rendered. Payment terms
across the Group vary, but the Group is generally paid in arrears for its services and payment is typically due between 60 and 90 days.

Revenue recognised over time is based on the proportion of the level of service performed. Either an input method or an output
method, depending on the particular arrangement, is used to measure progress for each performance obligation. In the majority of
cases, relevant culput measures such as the completion of project milestones set out in the contract are used to assess proportional
performance. Where this is not the case then an input method based on costs incurred to date is used to measure petformance. The
primary input of substantially all work performed is represented by labour. As a result of the relationship between labour and cost
there is normally & direct correlation between costs incurred and the proportion of the contract performed to date.
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2020

1 Accounting policies continued

E. Revenue and other income continuved

The amount of revenue recognised depends on whether we act as an agent or as a principal. The Group acts as principal when we
contrel the specified good or service prior to transfer. When the Group acts as a principal the revenue recorded 1s the gross amount
biled. Dut-of-pocket costs such as travel are alse recognised at the gross amount billed with a corresponding amount recorded as
a direct cost. Certain other arrangements with our clients are such that our respansihility i<t arrange for 5 third party to provide a
specified good or service to the client in these cases, we are acting as an agent and we do not control the relevant good or service
before itis transferred to the client, When the Group is acting as an agent, the revenue is recorded at the net amount retained. There
1s deemed to be no significant judgements in applying IFRS 15 and in evaluating when customers abtain control of the promised
goods or services.

Direct costs comprise fees paid to external supphers when they are engaged to perform part or all of a spealfic project and are
charged directly to clients but where the Group retains guality control oversight, such as production or research costs.

Further details on revenue recognition in terms of the nature of contractual agreements are as follows:

+ retainer fees relate 1o arrangements whereby we have an obligation to perform services 10 the customer On an ongoing basis
aver the life of the contract. In these instances, revenue is recognised using a time-based method resulting in straight-line
revenue recogrnition;

- where project fees relate to assignments carried out under contractual terms which entitle the Group to payment for its performance
o date in the event of contract termination, then fees are recognised over the period of the relevant assignments. Revenue is
typically recognised in line with the value delivered to the customer which 1s the amount assigned to the project milestones
completed set out in the contract. Where this is not the case then an input method based on costs incurred is used; and

« revenue can be derived from media placements, for which the revenue for commissions on purchased media is typically recognised
at the point in time the media is run.

Accrued and deferred income

Accrued income 15 a cantract assel and is recognised when a performance obligation has been satisfied but has not yet been
billed. Contract assels are transferred to receivables when the right to consideration is unconditional and billed per the terms of the
contractual agreement.

In certain cases, payments are received from customers prior to satisfaction of performance obligations and recognised as deferred
income on the Group’s balance sheet. These balances are considered contract liabilities and are typically related to prepayments
for third-party expenses that are incurred shortly after billing.

Finance income
Finance income primarily relates to changes in estimate in the Group’s contingent consideration and share purchase cbligation
liabilities,; refer tg section T.

F. Intangible assets

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of consideration payable, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree, over the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifrable net assets acquired. The fair value of consideration payable includes assets transferred, liabilities assumed and equity
instruments issued. The amount relating to the non-controlling interestis measured on a transaclion-by-transaction basis, at either fair
value or the non-controfling interest's proportionate share of net assels acquired. Both approaches have been used by the Group.
Goodwill is capitalised as an intangible asset, not amortised but reviewed annually for impairment or in any period in which events
or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable Any impairment in carrying value is charged to the
Consolidated Income Statement.

Costs associated with business combinations are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement within the “cther operating
charges' ling in the year in which they are incurred. Those costs, which are directly attributable to the business combination, are
excluded from underlying performance as they would not have been incurred had the business combination not occurred and a
higher or lower spend has no relation on the underlying organic business. They do not relate to the underlying trading of the Group
and are added back in the adjusted performance measures to aid comparability of the Group's profitabifity year on year.



1 Accounting policies continued

F. Intangible assets continued

Software

Licences for software that are not integral to the functioning of a computer are capitalised as intangible assets. Costs that are directly
assoclated with the production of identifiable and unigue software products controlled by the Group, and that are expected to
generale ecanomic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recogmsed as intangible assets. Direct costs include softwate
development and employce costs. Amortisation is provided on software at rates calculated to write off the cost of cach asset evenly
over its expected useful life of between two and seven years. Costs associated with maintaining computer software programs are
recognised as an expense as they are incurred. No amortisation is charged on assets in the course of construction until they are
avallable for operational use in the business.

Software acquired as part of a business combination 1s recognised at tair value at the acquisition date. Software has a finite useful
life and is amortised using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life of two to four years.

Trade names

Trade names acquired in a business combination are recognised at farr value at the acquisition date. Trade names have a finite useful
life and are carried at cost less accumulated amertisation. Amartisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the
cost of trade names over their estimated useful lives of up to 20 years.

Customer relationships

Contractual customer relationships acquired in a business combination are recegnised at fair value at the acquisition date. The
contractual customer relationships have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is
calcdiated using the straight-line method over the expected life of the customer relaticnship of five 1o six years.

Non-compete

Certain acquisition agreements comtain non-compete arrangements restricting the vender’s ability to compete with the acquiring
business during an earn-out pericd. The non-compete arrangements have a finite useful life equivalent to the length of the earn-
oul pericd and are carried al cost less accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method over the
length of the arrangement.

The amortisation of acquired intangibies recognised &s a result of IFRS 3 is added back in for the Group’s adjusted performance
measures to aid comparability with its peer Group and to enhance comparability of the Group's profitability year on year.

G. Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of depreciation. Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment at
arnnual rates calculated to write off the cost, less estimated residual value, of each asset evenly over 1ts expected useful fife as follows:

Short leasehold improvements —  Over the term of the lease

Office equipment —  20% tc 50% per annum straight-line basis
Office furniture —  20% per annum straight-line basis

Motor vehicles —  25% per annum straight-line basis

H. Impgirment
Imparrment tests on goodwill are undertaken annually at the financial year end Other non-financial assets (excluding deferred tax) are
subject toimpairment tests whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Where the carrying value of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, which is measured as the higher of value in use and fair value
less costs to sell, the asset is impaired accordingly.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an :ndividual asset, the Impairment test is carried cut on the asset’s
cash-generating unit, defined as the lowest group of assets in which the asset belongs for which there are separately idenhfiable
cash flows. Goodwill1s allocated on inibal recognition to each of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination giving rise to the goodwill. The cash-generating units represent the lowest level within the entity
at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.

Impairment charges are inciuded within the amortisation and impairment line of the Consolidated Income Statement unless they
reverse gains previously recognised in other comprehensive income. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed.
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Notes to the accournts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2020

1 Accounting policies continued

i. Foreign currency

Transactions enlered into by Group entities in a currency other than the currency of the primary economic environment in which
they operate (their ‘functional currency’) are recorded at the exchange rates ruling when the transactions oceur. Foreign currency
monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising on
the retranslation of unsettled monetary assets and fiabilities are recognised immediately In Ure Consulidated Income Statement. In
the censolidated financial statements, foreign exchange movements on intercompany loans with indefinite terms, for which there is
no expectation of a demand for repayment, are recognised directly in eguity within a separate foreign currency translation reserve

On consolidation, the results of overseas operations are transiated into sterling at the average exchange rates for the accounting period.

All assets and liabilities of overseas operations, including goodwill arising on the acquisition of those operations, are translated at
the exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences ansing on ranslating the opening net assets at cpening
rates and the results of overseas operations at average rates are recognised directly in the foreign currency translation reserve
within equity. The effective partion ansing on the retranslstion of foreign currency borrowings which are designated as a qualfying
hedge is recognised within equity. See note 19 for more detail on hedging activities.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative translation differences recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve
relatng to that operation up to the date of disposal are transferred 1o the Consolidated Income Statement as part of the profit or
loss on disposal.

Onareduction of ownership interest in a subsiciary that does not affect control, the cumulative retranslation difference s only allocated
to the non-controlling interests (NCI') and not recycled through the Consolidated Income Statement.

J. Operoting segments

Operating segments are reported in 3 manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker.
The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating rescurces and assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the Board of Directors.

K. Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised on the Group's Consclidated Balance Sheet when the Group becomes party to the
contractual provisions of the asset or liability The Group’s accounting policies for different types of financial asset and liabilty are
described below.

Financial assets and financial liabilies are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable 1o the acquisition
or Issue of financial assets and financial liabilites (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or finanaial liabilities, as appropriate, on inihial recogmtion.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
recogrised immediately in profit or loss

Trade receivabiles

Ali trade receivables held by the Group are financial assets held within a business modet whose objective is to hold financial assets in
order to collect the contractual cash fiows, Trade recaivables are initially recognised at farr value and will subsequently be measured
at amortised cost less allowances for impairment,

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and shor-term call deposits hald with hanks, with whom we determine there is
a low credit risk. Bank overdrafts are shown within loans and borrowings in current fabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheet,
except where there is a poohng anangement with a bank that allows them 1o be offsel against cash balances. In such cases the nel
cash balance will be shown within cash and cash equivalents in the Consclidated Halance Sheet.



1 Accounting policies continued

K. Financial instrumenis continued

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade receivables and contract assets. The amount of expected
credit losses is updated at each reporting date to refiect changes in credit nsk since initial recegnition of the respective financiat
instrument. The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables and contract assets. The expected credit losses on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific 10 the debtors.

Such provisions are recorded in a separate allowance account, with the loss being recognised as an expense in the other operating
charges line in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Contingent consideration
Oninitial recogniticn, the liability for contingent consideration relating to acquisitions is measured at fair value. The liability is calculated
based on the present value of the ultimate expected payment with the correspending debit included within goodwiil. Subsequent
movements in the present value of the ultimate expected payment are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement within
finance income/expense.

The Group has a portion of centingent censideration which is payable subject to continuing employment of the previcus cwner
within the Greup. The expected liability is recognised within operating costs evenly over the reguired employment term of the seller.

Share purchase obligation

Put-gpticn agreements that allow the non-controiling interest shareholders in the Group's subsidiary undertakings to require the Group
to purchase the non-controlling interest are recorded in the Censolidated Balance Sheet as liabilities. On initial recognition, the liabiiity
is measured at fair value and is calculated based on the present value of the ultimate expected payment with the corresponding
debit included in the share purchase reserve. Subseguent movements in the present value of the ultimate expected payment are
recognised In the Consclidated Income Statement waithin finance income/expense

The Group adjusts for the remeasurement of the acquisition-related liabilities within the adjusted performance measures in order
to aid comparabiity of the Group’s resulls year on year as the charge/credit can vary significantly depending on the underlying
brand’s performance.

Trade payables
Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and thereafter at amortised cost.

Bank borrowing

interest-bearing bank loans and cverdrafts are recognised at their fair value, net of direct issue costs and, thereafter, at amortised
cost. Finance costs are charged to the Consclidated Income Statement cver the term of the debt so that the amount charged is at a
constant rate on the carrying amount. Finance costs include issue costs that are initially recognised as a reduction in the proceeds
of the associated capital instrument.

Hedging activities
The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging instruments in respect of hedges of net investments in foreign operations.
The Group has chosen to continue to account for these under IAS 39 as allowed by the transition prowvisions for iFRS 9

The Group documents, at the inception of the transaction, the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged items, as
well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking varicus hedging transactions. The Group alsc documents its
assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the hedging instruments used in hedging transactions
are tighly effective In offsetting changes in far values of hedged items.

Where a foreign currency loan is designated as a qualifying hedge of the foreign exchange exposure arising on retranslation of
the net assets of a foreign operation, any gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating o the efiective portion of the hedge is
recognised in other comprehensive Income In a separate hedging reserve included within other reserves. This offsels the foreign
exchange differcnces arising on the retranslation of the foreign operation’s net assets, which are recognised in the separate foreign
currency translation reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective porton is recognised immediately in the Conschidated Income
Statement within finance income/expense.
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2020

1 Accounting policies continued

K. Financial instruments continued

Hedging activities continued

Gains and losses accumulated in equity on retransiation of the foreign currency loans are recycled through the Consolidated Income
Statement when the foreign operation is sold or is partially disposed of so that there is a loss of control. At this point the cumulative
fareign exchange differences ansing nn the retranslation of the nat aceots of the foroign operatien are similarly rocycled through
the Consolidated Income Statement. Where the hedging relationship ceases to qualffy for hedge accounting, the cumulative gains
and losses remain within the foreign currency translation reserve until control of the foreign operaticn is lost; subsequent gains and
losses on the hedging instrument are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Where there is a change in the ownerstip interest wathout effecting control, the exchange differences are adjusted within reserves.

L. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that the Group
will be required 1o settle that obligation, and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. Provisions are created
for acquisition-related payments linked to the continuing employment of the sellers and is recognised over the required perod of
employment. Provisions comprise labilities where there is uncenainty about the timing of the settlement and are measured at the
present value of the Group's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date.

M. Retirement benefits
Pension costs which relate to payments made by the Group to employees’ own defined contribution pension plans are charged to
the Consolidated Income Staterment as incurred.

N. Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments 1o certain employees via the Group's Long-Term Incentive Plan. The share-
based payments are measured at fair value at the dale of the grant and expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.
The cumulative expense is adjusted for failure 10 achieve non-market performance vesting conditions.

Fair value is measured by use a Black-Scholes model on the grounds that there are no market-related vesting conditions. The
expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on the Board's best estimate, for the effects of non-transferahility, exercise
restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The value is recognised as 3 one-off share-based payment in the income statement in the year of grant as the agreements do not
include service requirements, thus the cost accounting 1s not aligned with the liming of the anticipated benefit of the incentive, namely
the growth of the relevant brands, Therefore, adjusting for these within the Group’s adjusted performance measures gives a better
reflection of the Group's profitability and enhances comparabilty year on year.

O Leased assets

The Group leases various assets, comprising mostly of properties and office equipment. The Group assesses whether a contract
IS or contains a lease, at inceplion of a contract, based on whether the contract conveys the night to control the use of an dentified
asset for a period of time In exchange for consideration.

The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability at tha commencement date with respect to all lease
agreements in which itis the lessce, except for short-term leases {defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases
of low-value assets, where the Group has elected to use the exemption. The total rentals payable under these leases are charged
to the Consolidated Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments not paid at the commencement date, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease. When this rate cannot be determined, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate for
the same term as the underlying lease. Lease payments comprise fixed payments less any lease incentives recevable and vanable
lease payments as al the commencement date. The lease liability 18 subsequently remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments duc to a renegotiation or market rent review, or a reassessment of the lease term. Lease modifications result in
remeasurement of the lease liability with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset. Interest expense is included
within finance expense in the Consolidated Income Statement.



1 Accounting policies continued

O. Leased assets continued

The right-of-use asset is initially measured based on the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred, less any lease incentives received, plus the estimated cost for any restoration
coststhe Group 15 obligated to at lease inception. Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumuiated depreciation
and impairment losses. They are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of the asset.

At times, entities of the Group will sublet certain of their properties when underlying business requirements change. The Group
assesses the classification of these subleases with reference to the right-of-use asset, not the underlying asset. As a result, certain
subleases ate classified as finance leases and a sublease receivable 1s recognised and recorded as a financial asset within trade
and other receivabies on the Consclidated Balance Sheet and any relating right-of-use assetis derecognised.

When the Group acls as an intermediate lessor it accounts for the head lease and the sublease separately. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership in relation to the underlying asset to the lessee, the contract
15 classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operatng leases. Amounts due from lessees under finance leases
are recognised as finance lease recelvables at the amount of the Group’s net investment in the leases using the effeclive interest
rate method. The Group recognises lessor payments under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

P. Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxabte profit for the year. Taxable profit diffets from net profit as reported in the Consclidated
Income Statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
iterms that are never laxable or deductible. The Group’'s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Q. Deferred tax
Deferred tax assets and iiabilities are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or iiability in the Consclidated Balance Sheet
difters fram its tax base, cxcept for differences arising on:

« the initial recognition of goodwitl;

+ the initial recognition of an asset orliability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit, and

« nvestments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities where the Group is able to contral the timing of the reversal of the
difference and it 15 probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Recogniton of deferred tax assets 15 restricted to those instances where it s probabte that taxable profit will be available against
which the asset can be utilised.

The amount of the asset or liability is determined vsing tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date and are expected 1o apply when the deferred tax liabiliies/{assets) are settled/(recovered).

Deferred tax assets and Habilities are offset when the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities
and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes levied by the same tax authority on either:

- the same taxable Group company; cr

- different Group entities which intend erther to settle cuirent tax assets and liabiliies on a net basis, or 1o realise the assets and settle
the liahilittes simultancously, in cach future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected
to be settled or recovered.

Where a temporary difference anses between the tax base of employee share options and their carrying vatue, a deferred tax asset
should arise. To the extent that the future tax deduction exceeads the related cumulative IFRS 2 ‘Share-Based Payment' (IFRS 27}
expense, the excess of the associated deferred tax balance is recoegnised directly in equity. To the extent that the future tax deduction
matches the cumulative IFRS 2 expense, the associated deferred tax balance 1s recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2020

1 Accounting policies continued

R. Dividends

Equity dividends are recognised when they become legally payable. Interim equity dividends are recognised when paid. Final equity
dividends are recognised when approved by the shareholders at an Annual General Meeting.

S. Emplayee Share Ownership Plan (‘ESOP)

As the Group is deemed to have control of its ESOP trust, the trust is treated as a subsidiary and is consoclidated for the purposes
of the Group accounts. The ESOP’s assets {other than investments 1n the Company's shares), liabilities, income and expenses are
included on a fine-by-line basis in the Group financial statements. The ESOP's investment in the Group's shares 1s deducted from
equity in the Consclidaled Balance Sheet as if they were treasury shares and presented in the ESOP reserve.

7. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those invoiving estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that the
Directors have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting paolicies and that have the most significant effect on the
amounts recognised in financial statements.

[ Identification of acquired intangible assets

As part of the acquisition accounting under IFRS 3, the Group must identify and value the intangibles it has acquired. The identification
ofthe intangibles acquired, such as customer relationships, intellectual property, non-compete agreements and brand names, requires
iudgement foilowing an assessment of the acquired business. This invoives reviewing the past performance of the acquiree and
future forecasts to ascertain the intangible assets which the purchase price should be aliocated to.

il [dentification of adfusting items

The identification of adjusting items 1s a judgement in terms of which costs or credils are not associated with the underlying trading
of the business or ctherwise impact the comparability of the Group's results year on year. Adjusting items for the Group include
amortisation of acquired intangibles, the change in estimate and unwinding of discount on acquisition-related liabilities, deal costs,
growth share charges, employment-related acquisition costs and restructuring costs,

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period that may have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of asscts and liabilties within the next financial year, are
discussed pelow,

L impairment of goodwill

Infine with IAS 36 ‘impairment of Assets’, the Group is required to fest the carrying value of goodwill, at least annually, for impairment.
As part of this review process the recoverable amount of the goodwill is determined using value-in-use calculations, which requires
estimates of future cash flows and as such 1s subject to estimates and assumptions around revenue and cost growth rates from the
Board-appraved budget and discount rates applied. Further details are contained in note 1.

The Group has performed senstivity analysis on the assumptions used In the value-in-use calculations for the purposes of the
goodwill impairment review. The Group performed two scenarios. Firstly, with all other variables unchanged, if revenue and costs
do nat grow past the FY21 budget, and there is no growth in perpetuity, no impairment would be required. Secondly, with all other
variables unchanged, If the discount rate increased by 4% t¢ 15.2% then this would indicate an impairment of £0.6m.

i Contingent consideration, share purchase obligation and valuation of put options

Contingent consideration and share purchase gbligations relating 1o acquisitions have beenincluded based on discounted management
estimates of the most Iikely outcome. The difference between the fair value of the flabilites and the actual amounts payable 1s charged
to the Consolidated income Statement as notional finance custs aver the life of the associated lability. Changes in the estimates
of contingent consideration payabic and the share purchase obhgation are recognised in finance income/expense. These require
Judgements arcund future revenue growth, profit margins and discount rates, which, if incorrect, could result in a matenal adjustment
to the value of these liabiities within the next financial year. Further details, including sensitivity analysis, are contained in note 17,



1 Accounting policies continued

T. Critical accounting judgements ond key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

it impact of coronavirus (COVID-19)

In light of the global health crisis around the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group considered whether any adjustments are required
to the reported results in the financial statements. As at the bafance sheet date of 31 January 2020, thete had been no global
pandemic declared, and the outbreak of COVID 19 was limited to Chira, where the Group has limited operations. The subsequent
macroeconomic downturn and extent of glebal interventions were not apparent.

Subsequentto the balance sheet date, the World Health Organisation declared a pandemic on 11 March and we have seen a significant
downturn in the global economic outlook. As a result, the Group has concluded that the necessity for large scale interventions and
other information received was not indicative of conditions that existed at the balance sheet date and therefore that the consequences
of such interventions represent non-adjusting post balance sheet events. However, given the significant events since the balance
sheet date, further disclosures are given in note 3C.

U. New stondords and amendments not applied

The Group has not yet adopted certain new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards which have been
published but are only effective for our accounting periods beginning on or after 1 February 2020 or later penods. These new
prenouncements are listed below:

- IFRS 17 'Insurance Contracts’ (effective periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021); and

+ IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ and 1AS 28 (amendments), Sale or Contribution of Assets belween an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture.

The Directors de not expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements
cf the Group in future periods.

2 Segment information

Reportable segments

The Board of Directors has identified the operating segments based on the reports it reviews as the chief operating decision-maker
(CODM'} to make strategic decisions, assess performance and allocate rescurces. These are deemed to be both regional and
service segments.

The Group’s business is separated into a number of brands which are considered to be the underlying cash-generaling units { CGUs').
These brands are organised intc service segments based on the work they do for their customers and into geographical segments
based on where the brand is located, within these reportable segments the Group operates a number of separate businesses which
generatly offer complementary products and services to their customers,

Measurement of operating segment profit

The Board of Directors assesses the performance of the operating segments based on a measure of adjusted operating profit before
ntercormpany recharges, which reflects the internal reporting measure used by the Board of Directors. This measurement basis
excludes the effects of certain far value accounting charges, amortisation of acquired intangibles and other costs not associated
with the underlying business, details of which are included in this note. Other information provided to them is measured in a manner
consistent with that in the financial statements. Head office costs relate to Group costs before allocation of intercompany charges
1o the operating segments. Intersegment transactions have not been separately disclosed as they are not material. The Board of
Directors does not review the assets and liabilities of the Group on a segmental basis and therefore this is not separately disclosed.
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2020

2 Segment information continued

Meoasurement of operating segment profit continued

Brand Uata and Creative
Marketng Analytics Technology Head affice Toial
£°000 000 £000 £000 £'000
Year ended 31 January 2020
Revenue 160,242 59,446 81,023 — 300,711
Net revenue 135,036 45,054 68,379 - 248,469
Segment adjusted operating profit/{loss) 30,750 12,722 8,035 (9,057) 42,456
Segment adjusted operating profit/(loss) after interest on finance
lease habilities' 258,930 12,697 7774 (9,541) 40,860
Adjusted operatirg prafit margin? 22.2% 28.2% 11.4% —_ 16.4%
Organic net revenue (declineygrowth (5.7)% 19.3% {2.4% - {2.0)%
Year ended 31 January 2019
Revenue 158,316 33757 80,340 - 272,413
Net revenue 13363 23,209 67721 224,093
Segment adjusted operating profitfloss) 29580 7171 9,489 {9,284) 36,956
Ad usted ozerating profit margin® 22.2% 30.9% 14.0% — 16.5%
Crganic net revenue growth 01% 30.6% 17.0% — 6.4%
1 Opersting profit after mierest on finaice lease abillies s presented s o comnparsbie measure 1o the pror year cperatg prefit followany the odepnon of [FRS 18 frem
1Febroary 2019
2 Agpusted operating proit niargin s calulated as a percentoge of netrevenne Ik FY20 the marginos calcalated os adjustes opcraling profit aiten ieerest on inance (eose
labilies, as a percentage of net revenue
Uk EMEA us Asig Facific Head office lotal
£000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 £000
Year ended 31 January 2020
Revenue 119,551 10,631 153,481 17,048 — 300,711
Net revenue 97,377 8,820 127,563 14,709 - 248,469
Segment adjusted operating profitfloss) 20,366 1,619 27155 2,367 (9,051) 42,456
Segment adjusted operating profiv{loss) after
interest on finance lease liabilities' 20,094 1,587 26,421 2,299 15,541} 40,860
Adjusted operatng profit margin? 20.6% 18.0% 207% 15.6% - 16.4%
Qrganic net revenue growth/{decline) 0.3% 0.4% (4.6)% 4.8% —_ (2.0)%
Year ended 31 January 2019
Revenue 109,161 10,267 136,290 16,695 - 272,413
Nel reverue 83522 8735 N7,91 13919 - 224,093
Segment adusted operating profitfloss) 20,482 1.504 22,047 2,207 (9,284} 36,956
Adjusted operaling profit margin® 245% 17.2% 187% 15.9% 165%
Organic net revenue growth 15 5% 7.3% 2.8% (2% — G 4%

1 Qperatimg profit After interest on finance lcase hastitics s presented as o comparble measacc to the prior year sper g prefic follow ng the adopt on of IFRS 18 fizm

1Fobrasny 2219

2 Anusted opcratirg crofr margn s ¢leuated as a percenrage of act revenue |- FY20, the margn s calcutsted as ad,usted operit ng profi afer imerest or finance feass

liabilities, as a percentage of net revenue



2 Segment information continued
Meosurement of operating segment profit continued
A reconciliation of segment adjusted operating profit to statutory operating profit is provided as foliows:

Year ended Yeor enced

31 January 31 January

2020 2019

£000 £000

Operating profit 19,413 20,677
Interest on finance lease lisbilties (1,596) —
Operating profit after interest on finance lease liabilities 17,817 20,677
Share-based payment charge' 374 1,311
Employment-related acquisition payments? 5,029 82
Deal costs® 945 575
Costs associated with restructunng® 4,596 4,353
Charge associated with office moves® — 173
Total adjusted costs in operating profit excl.ding amortisation 10,944 7233
Amorusation of acquired intangibles® 12,099 9,046
Total adjusted costs in operating profit 23,043 16,279
Segment adjusted operating profit after interest on finance lease liabilities 40,860 36,956

1 This charge relates to transactions whereby a restricted grant of brang equity was given to key management in M Booth & Associates LLC {2019° M Booth & Assoiates LLC,
Encaore Drgal Medio Limited. Twoegcether Creative Lirmited Savanta Sroup Limited snd QDD London aimited) at mil cost which holds valuein the torm of aceess 1o future profit
chetnbutions as well s any future sale value unaer the performance relatec mechamism set out in the share sale agreemen: This vaolueisrecogrised as a one-cff shore-bascd
payment in the mrome stalement In the year of gran: as the agreements do no: Include service reguirements, thus the cost accounting 1s not aligned with the timing of the
anticipated benefit of the incentive, namely the growth of the relevant brands It also includes charges associated with equity transactions accounted for as sharc-bascd
paymenis. The Group determines that these brand appreciation righ:s (or growth shares) should be excluded from underlying performance as the cost accounting 15 not
aligned to the iming of the anticipated benefit of the mcentve, namely growth of the relevant brands

2 This charge relates to payments linked to the cantinuing employment of the sellers which s being recognmised over the required pencd of employment. Although these casts
are not exceptional or non-recurnng, the Group determines they should be excludec from the underlying performance, as the costs solely relate to acquinng the business.
The sellers of the business are typically paid market rate salanes and bonuses in addiion to these acquisition-related payments and therefore the Group deterrrines these
cosis solely relate 1o acquirng the business Adusting for these within the Group's adjusled performance measures gives a belter rellectior of the Group's profitabdity anc
enhances comparatnlity year on year

3 These cosis are directly attnibutable to busingss combimations and are excluded from underlying performance as they would not have been incurred had the business
combination not occurred They do not relate 1o the underlying traging of the Group and are acded back to aid comparability of the Group's profitability year on year

4 I the current penod the Group has incurred restiuctunng cests n relauon 1o the engomg relaunch of the new Archetype branc in the UK ano US atong with the rebranding
ol the 5avanta brands, ir addition ta wrting off intangibles and other staff-redated redundancy costs These costs retale to these speafic transfarmational everts, they do
not relate to underlying tracing of the relevant brand and therefore have been added back 10 ai comparabiity of performance year on year. These costs are made up of
£2 9m staff-related costs and £17m of other costs relating to the rebranding of the businesses

5 inthe prior year the Group has recognised an onerous lease provision for excess property space within the portfeho following the merger of Bite and Text 100 The Group
has adjustea for the cos: of the onelous property leases as the adaional rent cost does not relate to the underlying trading of the business.

& Inline with iis peer group, the Group acds back amertisation of acquired intanaibles. Judgemeant s appled n the allocauon of the purchase price between intangibles and
goodwill, and in determming the useful economic ives of the accuired intangibles The judgements made Dy the Group are ircvilably difficrent to thcse made by our peers
and as such amortisation of acquired intangibles has been added back (@ aid comparatulity

3 Employee information
Staff costs for all employees, including Directors, consist of:

Year ended Year encec

31 January 31 January

2020 2019

£'000 €000

Wages and salaries 150,203 136,421
Saocial security costs 11,676 10,292
Pension costs 3,672 3,202
Sharc based payment charge (note 21) 5,629 3,332
171180 153,247
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2020

3 Emplayee information continued

The average monthly number of employees during the period, by geographical location, was as follows:

Year ended Year cnded
31 January 31 January
2020 2019
UK 916 800
Europe and Africa 100 94
us 754 739
Asa Pacific 293 324
Head office 55 47
2018 2,004
Key management personnel are considered to be the Board of Directars as set out on page 23.
Directors’ remuneration consists of:
Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January
2020 2009
€000 2000
Short-te'm employee benefits 1,036 1226
Pension cosls 12 105
Share-bagsed payment charge 137 1094
1,285 2,425
The highest paid Director received total emoluments of £839,000 (2019: £1,076,000).
4 Operating profit
This is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Year ended Year cnded
31 January 31 January
2020 2019
<000 £000
Depreciation of owned property, plant and equipment 4,505 4199
Depretiation of assets held under finance leases 8,691
Amortisation of intangible assels 13.21 2624
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 1,360 202
Share-based payment charge 226 1,533
Share-based payment charge  adjusted (note 2) 5,403 2132
Short term sublease income 487 {&1n)
Short term lease expense 986 S409
Low value lease expense 194 131
Foreign exchange loss/{gain) 250 (660)




4 Operating profit continued

Auditor’s remuneration

During the year the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Company’'s auditor and
their asscciates:

Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January
2020 2019
£000 £000

Fees payable to the Company's auditor for the statuiory audit of the Company accounts and consolidated
annual statements 300 237
The auditing of financial statements of the subsidianes pursuant to legistation il 230

Non-audit services:

Tax advisary services 21 1
Other assurance services 5 5
437 483

5 Reconciliation of pro forma financial measures
The following reconciliations of pro forma financial measures have heen presented to provide additional infarmation which wilt be
useful 1o the users of the financial statements in understanding the underlying performance of the Group

The Group includes non-GAAP measures as they consider these measures 10 be both useful and necessary. They are used by the
Group for internal performance analyses; the presentation of these measures facilitates comparability with other industry peers,
aithough the Group’s measures may not be calculated in the same way as similarly titted measures reported by other companies.
The adjusting items have been explained in note 2.

The adjusted measures are also used for the performance calculation of the adjusted earnings per share used for the vesting of
employee share options (note 10), banking covenants and cash flow analysis.

Adjusted profit before income tax and earnings to ordinary shareholders

Year ended Year enced

31 January 31 January

2020 2019

€000 £000

Profit before income tax 5,656 18,825
Unwinding of discount on contingent and deferred conside-ation (note 17)° 3,394 2,679
Unwinding of discount on share purchase obligation (note 17)° 158 127
Tetal adjusting items in operating profit [note 2) 23,043 16,279
Change in estimate of future contingent consideration payable {note 17)' 6,167 (1.966)
Change in estmate of future share purchase obhgation {note *7)' 1,919 60
Adjusted profit before income tax 40,237 36,004

1 The Group adjusts for the remeasurement of the acquistion-related kabilives wathin the adjusted performance measures in order to aid comparabihty of the Group’s resalis
yaar on year as the cnrrgefaredit from remeasurement can vary significantly dependng on the un derlying brand's performance ILis non-cash and its directionglimpact 1o
the income slaterent is opposi:e to the brand's performance crving the valuations

2 The unwinding of discount on these labilities 1s also excludes from underlying performance on the basis that # 15 non-cash and the balance 1s driven by the Group's assessment
of the tme value of money and 1his exclusion ensures comparability.

Adjusted EBITDA
Year ended Year ended
31 January 3t January
2020 2019
£'000 £000
Operating profit 19,413 20,677
Depreciation of owned property, plant and eguipment (note 12) 4,505 4198
Depreciation of right of usc assets (note 16) 8,691 -
Amortsation of intangible assets (note 1) 13,211 9624
EBITDA 45,820 34,500
Total acjusting +ems in operating profit excluding amortisation (note 2) 10,944 7233
Adjusted EBITDA 56,764 41,733
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5 Reconciliation of pro forma financial measures continued

Adjusted staff costs
Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January
2020 2m3
£00Q 000
taff costs 171180 153,247
Reorganisation costs (2,880) (3,383)
Charges associated with equity transactions accounted for as share-based payments (note 2) (374) {1,311
Employment-relaied acguisiton payments (noie 2) 15.029) fa2n
Adjusted staff costs 162,897 147732
6 Finance expense
Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January
2020 201@
£'000 £'000
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Bank interest payable 977 1,235
Interest on lease liabilities 1,596 —
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
Unwinding of discount on share purchase obligation inowe 17 158 127
Change in estimate of future share purchase obligation {note 17) 1,997 126
Unwinding of discount on contingent and deferred consideration {note 17} 3394 2679
Change in estimate of future contingent consideration payable (note 17) 8,548 2,406
Other
Other interest payabte 2 1t
Finance expense 16,672 6,584
7 Finance income
Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January
2020 2018
£00Q £'000
Financial assets at amortised cost
Bank interest receivable 99 82
Finance lease interest receivable 40 —
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
Change in estimate of future share purchase obligation (note 17 78 66
Change in estimate of future contingent consideration (note 17) 2,381 4372
Other
Other interest recevable 13 147
Finance income 261 4,667




8 Taxation
The major components of income tax expense for the year ended 31 January 2020 and year ended 31 January 2019 are:
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Year ended Year ended
31 January AN January
2020 2018
000 000
Consclidated Income Statement
Current income tax
Current income tax expense 6,244 6750
Adjustments in respect of current income tax in prior years {692) {283)
Deferred income tax
Relating to the origimation and reversal of temparary differences (3,223) (2,205}
Adjustments in respect of deferred tax for prior years 388 47
Income tax expense reported in the Consolidated Income Statement 2717 4,299
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Tax credit relating to share-based remuneration (167) (203}
Income tax benefit reported in equity (167) (203)
Factors affecting the tax charge for the year
The tax assessed for the year is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 19% (2019 19%).
The difference is explained beiow:
Profit befare iIncome tax 5,656 18.825
Corporation tax expense at 19% {2019: 19%) 1,056 3.577
Effects of:
Disallowed expenses 1775 517
Recognition of previousty unrecognised tax losses {2) 158)
Non utilisation of tax losses 3 3
Higher rates of tax on overseas earmnings 189 506
Ceduction for overseds taxes — -
Adjustments in respect of prior years (304) {246)
217 4299
Reconciliation of tax expense in the Consolidated income Statement to adjusted tax oxpense:
Income tax expense reported in the Consolidated Income Statement 2,17 4,299
Add back:
Tax on adjusting items
Costs associated with the current penod restructure and office moves {note 2) 912 203
Unwinding of discaunt on and change in estimates of contingent and deferred consideration inote 17) 2,104 162
Share based payment charge (note 2) {198) 80
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 2,492 1746
Employment-related acquisition liabiitics 19 —
Adjusted tax expense 8,046 7200
Adjusted profit before income tax (note 5) 40,237 36,004
Adjusted effective tax rate 20% 20%

The Group presents the adjusted effective tax rate to help users of this report better understand its tax chaige. In arriving at this
rate, the Group removes the tax effect of items which are adjusted for in arriving at the adjusted profit before income tax disclosed
in note 5. The Group considers that the resulting adjusted effective tax rate is more representative of its tax payable position.

The income tax expense for the year 1s based on the UK effective statutory rate of corporation tax of 19% (2019: 19%). Overseas tax
is caiculated at the rates prevailing in the respective jurisdictions.

Net corporation tax paid during the year totalled £6m (2019; £6.2m).
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9 Dividend

Year ended Year endad
31 January 31.January
2020 2019
£000 000

Dividends paid during the year
Final dividend paid for prior year of 5.4p per Ordinary Share (2019: 4.5p) 4,595 3,635
Interim dividend pald of 2.5p per Ordinary Share {(2019: 216p) 2764 1708
6,759 5,243
Nan-contralling interest divicend' 760 1400

1 Dunng tihe yenr, a prafit share was pasd 10 Ihe holaers of the non-centroll ng interest of Vige of (NI2019 £27760), Blueshint of {153,706 12019 (136,460}, QuCast of £225 840
(2019 £335.814), M Booth of £291.887 (2019 £.206,776), Beyond of £81,556 (2019, £495171% Bite US of ENit (2019 £36133), Connections Media of £2181 (2019 £41.488), and
fext 100 of ENIL{Z019° £120.503),

The ESOP waived its right to dividends in the financial years ended 31 January 2020 and 2019

Given the macroeconomic backdrop due to COVID-19, the Group has decided to suspend the final dividend, although it intends to
resume dividend payments once the macro environment improves. In the pnior year a final dividend of b 4p per share was proposed,
amounting to £4,512,455. This makes the total dividend for the year 2.5p per share (2019: 7.56p).

10 Earnings per share

Adjusted and dittted adjusted earnings per share have been presented to provide additional useful information. The adjusted earnings
per share is the performance measure used for the vesting of employee share options and performance shares The only difference
between the adjusting iterns in this note and the figures in notes 2 and S 15 the lax offect of those adjustng items,

Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January
2020 2019
£000 £000
Earnings attributabyle to ordinary shareholders 2,262 13,887
Unwingding of discount on contingent and deferred considoration 3.012 2502
Unwinding of discount on share purchase obligation 126 96
Change in estimate of future contingent consideration payable 4,47 12,036)
Change in estimate of share purchase obligation 1924 77
Costs associated with the current period restructure (note 2) 3,746 3,501
Share based payment charge {pote 2} 572 2,042
Charge associated with office moves [note 2} — 136
Deal costs (note 2} 832 560
Employment-related acquisition payments (note 2) 5,010 -
Amortisation of acquired intangibles 9,607 7300
Adjusted earnings attributable 10 oirdinary shareholders 31,612 28165
Number N byar
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares 85,284,663 79,225,075
Dilutive LTIP shares 755,018 1193361
Dilutive growth ceal shares’ 2,983,371 3733183
Other potentially issuable shares 1,913,430 864,585
Diluted weighted average number of Ordinary Shares 90,936,482 385,016,204
Basic earings per share 27 V7.5p
Diluted earmings per sharg 2.5p i6.3p
Adjusted eamings per share 37 356p
Diluted adjusted earmings per sharc 34.8p 331p

1 This rélates o the brand equily appreciation nghts as aiscussedin note !



11 Intangible assets

Customer
Sciftware Trace name relationships Non compete Goodwill Total
L0000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000 L'000
Cost
At 31 January 2018 8.478 ans 3455 3,308 76,574 131,632
Additions 402 - — — 402
Capitalised internal development 1,982 — - — — 1,982
Acquired through business cambinations 877 4743 16,801 2,406 1,859 358736
Disposals {43) — — - {43)
Exchange differences 60 281 41 1 1737 2,490
At 31 January 2018 1,756 14141 51,367 5,715 580,270 173,249
Additions 148 — — — - 148
Capitalised internal development 1,677 — — 1,677
Acquired through business corbinations’ 5] 2,436 15,308 1159 22,336 41,245
Disposals {741} - — - - (744
Exchange differences (10) 12} {65) 3) {130} 1220)
At 31 January 2020 12,836 16,565 66,610 6,8M 112,476 215,358
Amortisation and impairment
At 31 January 2018 5,010 2,540 15,597 1561 10,681 36,789
Charge for the year 834 1759 6,247 789 — 9624
Disposals (27) - — — — 27
Exchange differcnces 47 176 405 2 84 714
At 31 January 2019 5,864 4875 22,244 2,352 10,765 47100
Charge for the year® 1432 1185 3,560 1,034 — 13,211
Disposals 125) — - — — (125)
Exchange differences 12 (18] (123) 1o 173 {236)
At 31 January 2020 8,159 6,042 31,681 3,376 10,692 59,950
Net bock value at 31 January 2020 4,677 10,523 34,929 3,495 101,784 155.408
Net book value at 21 January 2019 4,892 9,266 2923 3.363 79,505 126,149

1 Dunng the year, the Group acquiea Palidium, Marke: Making, M Booth Health and Nectar as welt as other acguisiions and a number of rade ana asset purchases, none of
which are mdvaduatly significant to (ke Groun maote 26

2 Amortisation charge for the penog incluges acquired imtangibles of £1,034,000 for non-compete agreements, £9.560,000 for customer relationships, £1185,000 for irade
names and £320,000 rclating to software
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11 Intangible assets continued
impairment testing for cash-generating units contgining goodwil}
Geodwill acquired through bustness combinations is allocated to cash-generating units (CGUs') for impairment 1esting as follows:

2020 2019

£000 £000

Archetype' 7104 - 6701
OutCast (USY 12,580 9646
M Booth {US)? 22,025 7144
Blueshin {US) 5,201 5,212
Savanta® 8.881 7175
QbDDs 4,950 2,458
Publitek 9,879 9,879
Twogether® 10,620 9,226
velocity 5,653 5,653
Elvis 2179 2179
Activate 5,610 L6822
Brandwidth 2,212 2,212
Planning-inc 2157 1,906
Cther’ 2,733 4,497
101784 79505

The goodwill n Archetype (formerly known as Text 100) has increased due o the combination of the UK and US CGU when considenng for imparment

The goodwill in Qu:Cast (US} has ncreased due (o the acquisiion of Nectar (£2,953.000)

The gooowill i 84 Booth (US) has incieased due to ie acqusion of M Booth tiealin £14.895,000).

The goodwill in Savanta (formerly known as MIG) has increased in the year dug acqusiion of ComRes (£1,617,000) and the trade and asset purchases of HSR {£89,000).
The goodwill n QDD has increased in the year cue to the acgusiuon of Market Making (£2 492,000

The goodwill in Twogether has increasec gue {0 the transler of the Encore CGU into the existing Twogether CGU

IR~ L, B RO IR R

Other goodwill represenis goadwill cn a number of CGLIs, none of which is ndiv dudlly signd cant in compa-ison to the total carying value of goaawill,

Goodwill1s allocated on intial recognition to each of the Group’s CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination giving rise to the goodwill. The CGUs represent the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for
internal management purposes. This is a lower level than the operaling segments disclosed in note 2; the CGUs are allocated to
operating segments based on their gecgraphical iocation or the product or service they provide

The Group perferms an impairment testing process by considering:

Stage 1} The performance of the brands duning the previous financial year and the value in use of the brands at 31 January 2020,
The value in use 1s calculated by taking the present value of expected future cash flows based on minimum expected
standard growth rates applied to the Board-approved FY21 budget.

Stage 2) The vaiue inuse of the brands, calculated by taking the present value of expected future cash flows based on management's
best estimate of brand-specific growth rates for the following four years applied to the Board-approved FY21 budget

Note that the growth rates i stages 1 and 2 apphed for year five ate drpendent on the geographical region of the respective braim!
The long-term perpetuity growth rates applied for year five onwards for the US, UK and APAC regions are 2% (2019 1.5%), 0.5%
{(2019: 1%) and 1% (Z019: 1%) respectively. The growth rates applied for years two to five for the US, UK and APAC regions are 15%
{2019 2%), 0.5% {20719 0.5%) and 1% (2019 1%) respectively. The UK giowth rate for years two to five has been risk affected for Brexit.

Cash flow projections

The recoverable amounts of all CGUs have been determined from value-in-use calculations based on the pre-lax operating profits
before non-cash transactions including amortisation and depreciation taken from the most recent financial budgets approved by
management far the next financial year The Beard-approved budgets are based on assumptions of client wins and losses, rate card
changes and cost inflation as well as any other one-off items expected in the year far that parhcutar CGU. The cash flow forecasts
extrapolate the FY21 budgeted cash flows far the following four years based on the estimated regional growth rates, which 1s
applied to revenue and costs. This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate for the relevant markets. The value in
use I1s compared with the combined total of goodwall, imlangible assets and tangible fixed assets The giowth rate in relation to the
geographical region of the brand is then applied into perpetuity efter five years,



11 Intangible assets continued

Pre-tax discount rate

A pre-tax rale, being the Board's estimate of the discount rate of 11.2% (2019.12.4%), has been used in discounting all projected cash
flows The Board considers a pre-tax discount rate of 11.2% to be calaulated using appropriate methodology. This rate is already
the higher end of the spectrum amongst its peers, and the Board views the rate as accurately reflecting the return expected by a
markel participant. The Board has considered whethetr to nisk affect the discount rate used for the different brands. Given the nature
of each business, that they operate in well-developed territories and are largely similar digital media communication businesses
dependent on the mature economies in which they operate, the Board has considered no risk adjustment to the individual discount
rates I1s required. Further, a scenario run using a higher discount rate reflective of US expected market returns indicated no goodwili
impairment. Instead, the CGU forecast cash flows have been risk adjusted to reflect the economies in which they operate.

Change to CGUs

In the current year, as part of a strategic decision, the Encore and Twogether CGUs have been combined following the merging of
these two businesses under cne leadership team in addition to the combining of the Archetype UK and US CGUs when considering
impairment. This is due to Twogether and Archetype being the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purpases for those respective businesses. The previous businesses now operate as one and are managed as such.

12 Property, plant and equipment

Short leasehofd Orfice Office Motor
improvements ecuipment furniture vehicles Total
£000 £000 £000 £000 £'000
Cost
At 31 January 2018 14,676 7,530 2,405 2 24,613
Excharge differences 9643 351 203 — 1,623
Additions 2736 1785 1,067 — 5,648
Acquired through business compinations - 307 307
Disposais 628) 1,238) (399) — {2,265)
At 31 January 2019 17813 8,735 3,276 2 29826
Exchange differences 85 &7) {23) — 175)
Additions 1126 1,664 770 — 3,460
Acquired through business combinations 243 104 14 - 361
Disposals 1598) {1,039) (223) — {1.860)
At 31 January 2020 12,499 9,297 3,814 2 31,612
Accumulated depreciation
At 31 January 2018 4509 5,587 348 2 N,046
Exchange differences 333 270 18 — 721
Charge for the year 1,899 1,515 785 - 4199
Disposals (545) 1.156) (309) — {2,010}
At 31 January 2019 6,196 6,216 1,542 2 13,956
Exchange aifferences (87) {58) {26} — (171
Charge for the year 208 1,578 208 — 4,505
Disposals {171} {590) (141} — {902)
At 31 January 2020 8,057 7146 2183 2 17388
Net book value at 31 January 2020 10,442 2151 1,631 — 14,224
Net book value at 31 January 2019 n.617 2,519 1,734 — 15,870
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13 Trade and other receivables

2020 2ma
£000 £000
Current
Trade receivables 52,915 48,795
Less: provision tor impairment of trade receivables (310) (378)
Trade receivables - net 52,605 48,417
Other receivables 2,875 1,479
Prepayments 4,004 4,023
Accrued income 10,293 12,204
Finance lease recevables 483 -
70,260 66,123
Hon-current
Rent deposits B09 803

Trade recewables disclosed above are measured at amottised cost. There wore ng significant changes 0 the gccrued ncome

balances during the reporting pericd.

As of 31 January 2020, trade recelvables of £310,000 (2019: £378,000) were impaired. Movements in the provision were as follows:

2020 2019

£'000 £000
At start of period 378 4g2
Provision for recelivables impairment 254 M
Recewvables writen off during the year as uncollectabdle (284) 8%
Unused amounts reversed (31} (260
Fareign exchangc movements 7 26
At end of period 310 378

The provision for receivables impairment has been determined using an expected credit Ioss model by reference 1o historical default
rates. Owing to the immaterial level of the provision for impairment of receivables, no further disclosure 1s made. The Group considers
there to be no material difference between the fair value of trade and other receivables and thefr carrying amountin the balance sheet.

As at 31 January, the analysis of trade receivables that were not impaired is as follows:

2020 2019

£000 £000
Mot past due 35,289 33,380
Up to 30 days 1123 9973
31 to 60 days 3,353 2,706
Greater than 61days 2,840 2,378
At end of period 52,605 48,417




14 Trade and other payables

2020 2019
£000 £000
Current

Trade creditors 13,940 13,498
Other taxation and social sccurity 5,378 4179
Short term compensated absences 1,582 1.815
Other creditors 2,832 2,317
Accruals 13,362 18,568
Deferred income 22,526 19796
59,620 80,173

Non-current
Rental lease liabilities 16 4622
16 4622

The Group considers that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximates to their fair value with the exception of
obligations under finance leases: refer to note 19

There were no significant changes in the deferred income balances during the reporting pernod. All the brought forward deferred
income balance was recognised as revenue inthe current reperting period. There was no revenue recognised in the current reporting
pericd that related to performance obligations that were satisfied in a prior year.

15 Provisions

Onerous Acouisiion

lease’ Propery” payments ' Other? Total

£00G £000 £'000 00 £'000
At 31 January 2018 256 513 — 777 1,546
Additions 536 180 784 646 2156
On acquisition of subsidiary — &80 — — &0
Used during the year {271 {305) — {2563 {839)
Exchange differences 20 4 - 4) 20
At 31 January 2019 541 452 784 1156 2,943
Additions 6512 4563 — 53,175
On acquisition of subsidiary — 55 — 36 1l
Used during the year (557) — (522 B71) {1,750)
Exchange differences 6 7 4) 5
At 31 January 2020 -— 1122 4,821 521 6,464
Current - 145 1,221 156 1,522
Non-current - 977 3,600 365 4,942

1 Onercusiease prowsions are calculated based onthe remamindg term of the jesse and assocate o cost wl cre the Gioup expects te cost to outwoigh Ine benefit Onerous
leases were debilec on transtion to IFRS 16,

2 Property provisions are primarly for dilapidations and include assumpuons of & cost per square (ool reguired 1o make good the property at the end of the lease As a result
of IFRS 16, an additional £612,000 has been recogmsed during the year,

3 Acguisition payments are provisions for employrent-related acquisiian payments inked 10 1he conunuing employment of the sellers

4 Other includes provisions for potental tax habilites anc regungancy prowsions
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16 Leases

The movements in the year ended 31 January 2020 were as follows:

Land anc

budchings

Right of-use assets. £000
At 1 February 2019 44371
Exchange differences (849)
Additions 7,955
Disposals {1131
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (8,697
At 31 January 2020 41,655

Due to the transition to IFRS 16, the right-of-use asset cost and accumulated depreciation at 31 January 2019 was nil. The closing

cost was £48,471,000 and the closing accumulated depreciation was £8,691,000.

Lease Labilities:

At 1 February 2019

Excha~ge cifferences

Additions

Interest expense related to lcase liabilities
Disposals

Repayment of lease fiabiiities

At 31 January 2020

Lang and
buldings

£'000

55159
(17
9,363
1596
(408
(11,367)

54,233

The fallowing table shows the breakdown of the lease expense hetween ameunts charged to operating profit and amounts recognised

as finance income and finance costs:

2020
€000
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 8,69
Shortterm lease expense 986
Low-value lease expense 1548
Short-term sublease income 487)
Charge to operating profit 9,384
Subleagse finance ncome (40)
Lease liability inforest expense 1,556
Lease charge to profit before income tax 10,940
The maturity of the lease liabilities is as follows:
2020
£000
Amounts payable:
Within one year 12,648
In two ta five years 38,116
After fiva years 8,335
Total gross future liability 59,099
Effect of d scounting (4,866)
Lease liability at 31 January 54,233

The Group does not face a significant liguidity nsk with regard to its lease liabilites.

Refer to note 18 for management of lquidity sk,



17 Other financial liabilities

Deforred Contngent  Share purchase

cansideration conzideration’ obhgation Total

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

At 31 January 2018 6,039 18,639 955 25,633
Arising dunng the year' — 15,516 765 16,281
Changes in estimatgs’ — (1,966) 60 11,906}
Exchange diffcrences — {312) 78 {234}
Utillsed?® {5,068) 6171 {249) {11,486}

Reclassification 3,072 (3.072) — -
Unwinding of discount alen; 2,078 127 2,806
At 31 January 2019 4,646 24712 1,736 31,094
Ansing during the year' 350 14,445 — 14,795
Changes in estimates’ — 667 1,919 8,086
Exchange differences — (7286) 7 (719)
Utihsed? (2,667 {5425} {453) {B.545)
Unwinding of discount 386 3,008 158 3,552
At 31 January 2020 2715 42181 3,367 48,263
Current 2715 15,366 1,269 19,350
Non-current - 26,815 2,098 28,913

1 Contingent consideration on acquisitions — during the year, the Group acguired a contialing siake in M Booth Healh, Nectar anc Market Making as weil as a nurber of other
acmusihons, none of which are matenal (o the Group (2018 Brandwadth, Technical, Actuate and Plaoning-ndl See nole 28 or addiuonal information an thase acqusihions

2 Gross movements In changes in assumplions are disclosed In notes 6 and 7

3 The amounts utilised were settled £6 5m in ¢ash anc £2.0m in shares

The estimates around contingent consideration and share purchase obligations are considered by management to be an area
of significant judgement, with any changes in assumptions and forecasts creating volatility in the income statement. Management
estimates the fair value of these liabilities taking into account expectstions of future payments. The expeciation of future payments
is based on an analysis of the approved FY21 budget with further consideration being given to current and forecast wider market
conditions. An assumed medium-term growth expectation is then apphed which is specific to each individual entity over the course
of the eam-out period and discounted back to present value using a pre-tax discount rate.

Sensitivity analysis

A five percentage point increase or decrease in the estimated future revenue growth rate, estimated future profit margin, and the
discount rate used would increase or decrease the combined liabilities due to earn-out agreements by approximately £2,752,000,
£5170,000, and £3,393,000, respectively. The most sensitive earn-out individually would increase or decrease by £1,136,000,£2 754,000
and £1,813,000 due to a five percentage point increase or decrease in revenue growth, profit margin and discount rate, There is
also sensitivity around the timing of certain carn-out payments; the effect of deferred timing on the earn-out agreements would have
approximately a £174,000 impact on the liabilities. An increase in the liability would result in an increase in interest expense, while a
decrease would resultin a further gain,
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18 Deferred taxation

Temporary differences between the carrying value of assets and lrabilities In the balance sheet and fheir relevant value for tax
purposes result in the following deferred tax assets and llabilties:

Excess book

Provision for Dasis over

Arcalarated Shor-teim impairment tax basis of Other

captal compensalcs  Share-based of trade miangible temporary
allowances absences  remunelaton recevables assels aifferences lax losses Total
£'000 £'0006 £'000 £000 £000 £000 000 £'000
At 31 January 2018 {248} 289 5342 92 12,9473 2,385 1,006 5,925
{Charge)/credit to income (143) 9 (2277 (46) 3,57 1123 (79) 2158
Exchange differences (43} 20 — 7 n 268 8 387
Acquistion of subsidiaries 34} — — — (2,294) 65 - (2,263
Taken 1 equity — — (189) — — — - {18%)
At 31 January 2019 1466} g 2,876 53 (1,549) 3,841 @45 5,018
(Charge)fcredit to income (772) 63) {1.275) 33 417 1125 (330) 2,835
Exchange dfferences 24 3 - i Q9 28 o B0}
Acquisition of subsidiaries 44 — — — {2,2295) 472 - (1,709
Taken to equity — — {55) — — 400 345
At 31 January 2020 .170) 252 1,546 85 244 5.864 608 7429

After netting off balances, the following are the deferred tax assets and labilities recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

2020 2019
£000 000

Net deferred tax balance
Deferred tax assets 10,967 10,521
Deferred tax liabllities (3,538} (4,503)
Net deferred tax asset 7.429 6,018

Deferred tax has been calculated using the anticipated rates that will apply when the assets and habilities are expected to reverse
hased on tax rates enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. The recoverability of deferred tax assets is supported
by the expected level of future profits in the countries concerned.

The estimated vaiue of the deferred tax assel not recognised in respect of tax iosses availabie to carry forward s £0.2m (2019: £0.6m)

At the hatance sheet date, the aggregate amount of the tempaorary differences in relation to the investment in subsidianes for
which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was £74m (2013: £6m). No liability has been recegnised in respect of these
differences as the Group is in a position 10 control the tming of the reversal of the temporary differences and the Group considars
that 1t is probable that such differences wilt not reverse in the foreseeable future

19 Financial instruments

Financial risk manogement, policies and strategies

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank loans, finance leases, cash and short-term deposits. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is {o provide finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has varicus other financial assets and habilities
such as trade receivables and payables, which arise directly from operations.

The main tisks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest rate nsk, iquidity risk, foreign exchange risk and credit risk.
The Board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

interest rote risk
The Group's exposure 1o the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily 1o the Group's long-term debt obtigations,

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change ininterest rates, with all ather variables held constant,
on the Group's profit befare tax at 31 January 2020, based on penod-end halances and rates



19 Financial instruments continued

Interest rote risk continued

The sensitivity analyses provided are hypothetical only and should be used with caution as the impacts provided are not necessarily
indicative of the actual impacts that would be experienced because the Group's actual exposure to market rates changes as the
Group's pottfolio of debt and cash changes In addition, the effect of a change in & particular market variable on fair values or cash
flows 1s calculated without considering interrelationships between the various market rates or mitigating actrons that would be taken
by the Group. The changes in valuations are estimates of the impact of changes in market variables and are not a prediction of future
events or anticipated gains or l0sses.

Movoment 2020 2019
N hasis pons £'000 £000
Group +200 (769) (524)

Liquidity risk

The Group manages its risk to a shortage of funds with a mixture of long and shori-term committed facilities.

On 5 February 2018 the Group extended its facilities agreement with HSBC to include & loan of £20m in addition 1o the revalving
loan credit facility (RCF’) of £40m (available in multiple currencies) which is available until  July 2022, The £20m loan was drawn
down on 9 February 2018 and has £10m left to be repaid in equal instalments. The last repayment is due in December 2021 and the
loan bears interest at the same margin plus LIBOR as the RCF. The interest rate is variable dependent on the net debt: EBITDA ratio.
The Group also has a $7m facility available in the US.

At 31 January 2020 the Group had an undrawn amount of £11,277521(2019: £28,753,013) on the RCF in the UK and $4,012,637 (2019
$4,412,637) available on the $7m US facility {this allows for the letters of credit in place).

The following table summarises the maturity profile based on the remaining period between the balance sheet date and the contractual
maturity date of the Group's financial liabiliies at 31 January 2020 and 31 January 2019, based on contractual undiscounted payments

Wihin Between two More than
one year And hve years five yoars Towal

£000 £000 £:000 £000
At 31 January 2020
Financial liakilities 70,248 123,839 10,977 205,064
At 31 January 2019
Financial iiahilities 50,802 52,926 5,586 109,324
Currency risk

As a result of significant global operations, the Group’s balance sheet can be affected significantly by movements in the foreign
exchange rates against sterling. This is largely through the translation of balances denominated in a currency other than the functional
currency of an entity. The Group has transactional cusrency exposures in the US, Furope and the Asia Pacific region, including foreign
currency bank gccounts and intercompany rechatges. The Group considers the use of currency derivatives to protect significant
LS dollar and eurc currency exposures against changes in exchange rates; however, the Group has not held denvative financial
instruments at the end of either period.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to reascnably possible changes in exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax based on pernod-end balances, year average and period-end rates:

Weakening 2020 2019

against sterling £'000 £000

US doliar 20% (5,060) (3.118)
Euro 20% (358) {477
Austraiian dollar 20% (262) [263)
Indian rupce 20% 15 71
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19 Financial instruments continued

Currency risk continued

The folfowing table demonstrates the sensitivity 1o regsonable possible changes in exchange rates, with all other variables neld
constant, of the Group's net assets on period-end balances and rates:

weakening 020 g

aganst sterhng £'000 £000

Us daollar 20% (5.97) 14,078)
Euro 20% (561} (304}
Australian dollar 20% {312) (423)
Indian rupee 20% (63) [y}

Credit risk

The Group's principal financial assets are bank balances, cash and rade and other recervables which represent the Group’s maximurn
exposure to credit risk inrelation to financisl assets. The Group trades only wath recognised, creditworthy third parties. Itis the Group’s
policy that customers who wish to trade on credit terms be subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances
are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group's exposure to bad debts has not been significant, The amounts
presented in the balance sheet are net of provisions for impairment of trade receivables. estimated by the Group’s management
based on an expected ¢redit loss model driven by histonical experience and factors specific to certain debtors.

The credit risk on liguid funds is limited because the counterparties are reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit rating agencies, although the Board recognises that in the current economic chmate these indicatars cannct be
relied upon exclusively.

Maximurm exposure to credit risk

202G 201

£1000 £000

Total trade and other receivables 70,260 66,123
Cash and cash equivalents 28,661 20,50

Capital risk management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising
the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. Total capital of the Group is calculated as total
eguity as shown in the Consolidatled Balance Sheet, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated as total bortowings and finance leases,
less cash and cash equivsients. This measure of net debt excludes any acquisition-related contingent liabilities or share purchase

obligations. The quantum of these obligations 1s dependent on estimations of forecast profitability. Settlement dates are vanable
and range from 202010 2025,

2020 2019

£'000 £000

Total loans and borrowings' 38,007 25,678
Less: cash and cash equivatents (28,661) (20,501)
Net debt 9,346 5177
Total equity 12,1 11,453
Total capital 122,067 MEC20

1 Toal loans and bortowings 1s mace up of curren: obligations (£5.000,000) and non current obligations (£33.00/000%



19 Financial instruments continued
Capital risk management continued

2020 208
£'000 Lo00
Net dobt 9,346 5177
Share purchasc obfigation 3,367 1736
Contingent consideration 42181 24,712
Dcferred consideration 2,715 4,646
Net debt plus carn out liabilities 57,609 36,271
The movement in net debt is as follows:
Foreign Foreign
Cash exchange, Cash exchange,
nflowsy Cash llow  ACQuisions fair value (mtlows)¥ ACguISIons fan value
Al ot oS frem and and At out’ cws and and At
11 ebrouary from share  contingent non-cash 1T ebruary from  centingent non cash 1 February
2018 operations placing consideration  movements 2019 ocperations consideration  movements 2020
£000 £000 €000 £000 £000 £'000 £'000 £000 000 £'000
Total loans and
borrowings 35,871 110,922) - — 729 25,678 4,006) 17,045 {710) 38,007
Chbhgations under
finance leases 5 5) — — — — — —
Less: cash and cash
equivalents (24,283) (5,729) (19,461 29,554 (582} {20,501) (15,470) 7128 182 (28,661)
Net debt 1,593 {16,656) (19,461) 29,554 147 5177 19,476) 24173 1528) 9,346

Externally imposed capital requirement

Under the terms of the Group'’s banking covenants the Group must meet certain criteria based on the ratic of net debt to adjusted
EBITDA,; net debt plus earn-out liabilities (note 17) to adjusted EBITDA; and adjusted net finance charges to adjusted EBITDA
The Group maintains long-term cash forecasts which incorporate forecast covenant positions as part of the Group's capital and cash
management. There have been no breaches of the banking covenants in the current or prior period.

Fair values of financial assets and liahilities

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument can be exchanged 1n an army's-length transaction between informed and
willing parties, other than a forced or liquidation sale

The book value of the Group's financial assets and liabilities equals the fair value of such items as at 31 January 2020, with the
exception of obligations under finance lcases. The book value of obligations under finance leases is £54,233,000 (2019: £Nif) and
the fair value 1s £59,092,000 (2019: £Nil). The far value of obligations under finance leases 1s estimated by discounting future cash
flows ta net present value and 1s Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy.
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19 Financial instruments continued

Financiol instruments — detailed disclosures

Financial instruments recognised in the balance sheet

The IFRS 9 categories of financial assets and habilities included in the halance sheet and the line i which they are included are
as follows:

At fair value
through prefit Financial Financial
or loss — liabilities at assets at
mandatorily amortised amortised
measured FVTOCI cost cost Total
At 31 January 2020 £'000 £'000 £'000 <000 £000
Non-current financial assets
Investment in equity instruments — 1075 — - 1,075
Other receivables — — - 809 209
— 1,075 — 209 1,884
Current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents — - - 28,661 28,661
Trade and other recevables — — — 66,256 66,256
— — — 94 917 94,917
Current financial liabilities
Leoans and borrowings — — 5,000 - 5,000
Trade and other payables — — 31,716 — N6
Lease liabilities — — 11,210 — 1,210
Provisions — — 1,522 — 1,522
Contingent consiceration' 1,269 — — — 1,269
Share purchase obligation' 15,366 — — — 15,366
Deferred consideration’ - - 25 - 2715
16,635 — 52163 - 68,798
Nan-current financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings — — 33,007 — 33,007
Lease liabilities — — 43,023 — 43,023
Provisions — — 4,942 _ 4,942
Other payables — — 16 — 16
Contingent consideration’ 26,815 — — — 26,815
Share purchase obligation' 2,098 - - - 2,098
Deferred consideration’ — — — - -
28,913 — 80,988 - 109,901

1 Seenctel/

The Group has no fair value Level 1instruments {2019: none). The investments in equity nstruments are Level 2 instruments. Level 2
fair value measurements are those denved from inputs other than quoted prices, such as historical quoted prices.

All other instruments at fair value through profit or loss were Level 3 instruments as per the table above in the current year and were
as per the table cverleafin the prior year. Level 3 financial instruments are valued using the discounted cash flow methad to capture
the present value of the expected future economic benefits that will flow out of the Group ansing from the conungent consideration
or share purchase obligation. Unrealised gains or losses are recognised within finance income/expense; see notes 6 and 7. They
are not based on observable market data.




19 Financial instruments continued
Financial instruments — detailed disclosures continued
Financial instruments recognised in the balance sheet continued

At far valuc
trraugh proft Finangial Linancial
or loss — llabiies at assots at
rmancatornly amortised amortised
magsurec FYTOCI cost (e Total
At 31 January 2019 £'000 £'000 000 £000 £000
Non-current financial assets
Investment in equity iInstruments — 1,587 - — 1,587
Other receivables — 303 803
— 1,687 303 2,390
Current financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents — — 20,501 20,501
Trade and other receivables — 62100 62100
-— 82,601 82,601
Current financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings 5,000 — 5,000
Trade and other payables 36,198 — 36198
Provisions - 1nma — 18
Contingent consideration’ 4,565 — — — 4,565
Share purchase chligation’ 1,608 - 1,608
Deferred consideration’ - 2182 — 2182
6,173 — 44,498 50,671
MNon-current financial liabilities
Loans and borrowings — — 20,678 — 20678
Provisions — 1825 — 1825
Other payables — — 4,622 - 4,622
Contingent consideration’ 20147 — - 20147
Share purchase obhgation' 128 - — — 128
Deferred consideration’ — 2,464 — 2,464
20,275 - 28,859 — 49,864

1 Seenolel7

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
The tabie below provides @ summary of the Group’s loans and borrowing as at 31 January 2020:

2020 2019
Effcetive interest rate £'000 £000
Current
Variable rate bank loan HSBC Bank base rate +1.50% 5,000 5,000
Non-current
Variable rate bank loan HSBC Bank base rate +1.50% 33,007 20678

The fair value of the borrowings at 31 January 2020is US$21,000,000 (£15,934,000) (2019 US$6,400,000 {£4,866,000)). The foreign
exchange loss of £411,000 (2019: loss of £700,000) on translation of the borrowing to functional currency at the end of the reporting
period 1s recognised in a hedging reserve in shareholders’ equity. As a resuit of ineffectiveness, £NIl was transferred during the
period from the hedging reserve to the income statement {2819: £Nil).
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20 Share capital
Called up share capital
Ordinary Shares of 2.5p each:

2020 2019
Number Numrber

Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid
At start of period 83,563,988 75,685,350
Issued in the year in respect of contingent and deferred consideration and share purchase obligations 1,456,041 97716
Issued in the year in satisfaction of vosted LTIPs (note 21) 583176 48949
Issued in the year in respect of growth share sales 949,443 2,206,905
Issued in the year in respect of share placing — 4,210,526
At end of period 86,552,648 83,563,988

Fully paid Ordinary Shares carry one vote per share and the right to dividends.

21 Share-based payments

The Group uses a Black-Scheles model to calculate the far vaiue of options on grant date for new issues and modifications for LTIPs.
Ateach period end the cumulative expense is adjusted to take into accountany changes in the estimate of the likely number of shares
expected to vest. Details of the relevant LTIP schemes are given in the following note. All the share-based payment plans are subject
to non-market performance conditions such as adjusted earnings per share targets and continued employment. All schemes are
equity-settled. The Group uses a weighted average probability model 1o value the brand appreciation rights as permitted under IFRS 2.

In the pericd ended 31 January 2020 the Group recognised a charge of £5,629,000 2019: £3,332,000) made up of £226,000
(2019: £1,533,0C0) in respect of employment-related LTIP shares; £374,000 (2019: £978,000) given in respect of the grant of growth
participating interests of 4.5% in M Booth & Asscciates LLC {2019: 3.5% in M Booth & Associates LLC, 40% in QDD London Limited,
2.5% in Savanta Group Limited, 5% in Twogether Creative Limited and 3% in Encore Digital Media Limited), as well as £5,029,000
(2019 £821,000) for employment-linked acquisition-related payments.

Movement on options and performance shares granted (represented in Qrdinary Shares):

Quisiancing Qutstanding Exercisable

3 January 31 January 31 January

2019 Granted Lapsec Exercised 2020 2020

Number MNumiter MNumber Number Number Number

{000y 000} ro0o) (000} {000} (000}

Ltong Term incentive Plan — performance shares 1,285 316 93) {583) 925 270

The fair value of performance shares granted in the period calculated using & Black-Scholes model was as follows;

April 2019 April 2019
Fair value of performance shares granted under the LTIP (p) 498 484
Share price at date of grant (p) 518 518
Risk free rate (%) 1.94 194
Expected life (years) 3 5
Expected volatility (%) 7R 5 265
Dividend yield (%) 134 134

Expected volatility was delermined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price, over a period equal to the
expected life of the options.

Performance shares issued by the Company under the Next Fifteen Communications Group plc Long-Term Incentive Plan are
granted at a nil exercise price. The weighted average share price at the date of exercise for share options exercised in the year
was 520p (2019: 450p). For share options cutstanding at the end of the year the weighted average remaining contractual life is one
year {2019: one year).




22 Performance shares
The Company has 1ssued oplions over its shares to employees that remain outstanding as follows:

Number Performance Performance Perlormance
Performance shares ol shares pencd slar cate perod end cate share giant ¢ate
Next Fifteen Communications Group plc
Long-Term Incentive Plan 270,371 ¥ February 2017 31 January 2020 2 May 2017
47593 TFebruary 2017 31 January 2022 2 May 2017
210,586 1 February 2018 31 January 2021 10 April 2018
80,798 1February 2018 31 January 2023 10 April 2018
241,210 1 February 2019 31 January 2022 25 April 2012
74 564 1 February 2019 31 January 2024 25 April 2018
925122

During the pericd the Company issued 583,176 shares to satisfy the vesting under the Next 15 LTIPs. These were initally subscribed
for by the ESOP. No shares are now held in treasury (see note 23).

The Company's current Long-Term Incentive Plan is the 2015 LTIP, which was approved by shareholders at the Company’s 2015
AGM. Under the 2015 LTIP performance shares or share options may be awarded. The performance is measured cver a period of
either three or five consecutive financial years of the Group, commencing with the financial year in which the award was granted.
The Committee has decided that, initially, there will be two perfermance conditions:

{a) an earnings per share (EPS’) target, which wili determine 70% of the total vesting. Diluted adjusted EPS growth is calculated from
the information published in the Group's accounts and is based on the adjusted EPS measure, If the growth In the Company's
earnings per share in the retevant year is at least 15%, 100% of 70% of the total award will vest. If the compound growth in EPS in
the relevant year is between 5% and 15% then between 25% and 100% of 70% of the total award will vest on a straight-line basis.
If EPS does not grow at an average of 5% or more, the full award will {apse; and

(b) a key performance indicator {'KPI') target, which will determine 30% of the total vesting. Each participant will have a number of
KPIs relating to his or her role. The Remuneration Committee will determine the extent to which the KPIs have been met in each
relevant year. 100% of 30% of the total award will vest if the KPls have been met in full. A smaller percentage of 30% of the total
award will vest if the Committee determines that the KPIs have been substantially met.

23 Investment in own shares

Employee share ownership plan (‘ESOP’)}

The purpose of the ESOP is to enable the Company to offer participation in the ownership of its shares to Group employees, principally
asareward and incentive scheme. Arrangements for the distnbution of benefits to employees, which may be the owneiship of shares
inthe Company or the granting of options over shares in the Company held by the ESOP, are made at the ESOP’s discretion in such
manner as the ESOP considers appropriate. Administration costs of the ESOP are accounted for in the profit and loss account of the
Company as they are incured.

At 31 January 2020 the ESOP held Nil (2019: Nil) Ordinary Shares in the Company.

The ESOP subscribed for 583,176 newly issued shares which were allotted and immediately disposed of in order to satisfy LTIP vesting
of 583176 shares for £Nil consideration {2019: 489,491 shares for £Nil consideration). Nil shares were subscribed for, allotted and
immediately disposed of In respect of satisfaction of a restricted stock arrangement for ENiIl proceeds (2019: Nil shares for £Nif proceeds).

Treasury shares
At 31 Janvary 2020, the Group held Nil treasury shares (2019: Nil) at a cost of £Nil (2019: £Nil).
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24 Other reserves

Merger ESOP Hedging Total

reserve reser -’(“ osenve other reserves

<000 £000 £000 £000

At 31 January 2018 3,075 1,356) 1,719
Total comprehensive income for the year - (700) 700)
Purchase and take on of shares 12) - 02}
Movement due to ESOP LTIP and growth shares exercises — 12 12
At 31 January 2019 3,075 — (2,056} 1.019
Total comprehensive expense for the year — — {41 @
Purchase and take on of shares - {15) {15}
Movement duc to ESOP LTIP and growth shares exercises 15 1%
At 31 January 2020 3,075 — {2,467) 608

Tt The CSOP Trust's investment in the Group's shares s deducted from equity in the Cansolidaled Balance Sheet as if they were reasury shares and presented in the

ESOP rosemve

25 Commitments and contingent liabilities
Operating leases —~ Group as lessee

As 3 result of the ransition to IFRS 16, leases previously classified as operating leases have now been recognised on balance sheet,

except for the short-term leases and leases of iow-value assets which are included below.

As at 31 January 2020, the Group's totat future minimum iease rentals are as follows:

2020 2019
Land and tang and
buildings Other buitdings Other
£000 £'000 £000 £000
In respect of cperating leases which will be paid in the following periods.
Within cne year 793 148 10,869 70
Im twa to five years — 121 39,371 136
After five years - — 12,664 —
793 269 62,904 206




26 Acquisitions and equity transactions
During the year the following material fransactions tock place:

1. the acquisition of UK-based Palladium Group Limited;

2. the acquisition of UK-based Market Making Limited;

3. the acquisition of US-based Creston Plc US Holdings Inc; and
4. the acquisition of US-based Nectar Communications LLC.
More details on each transaction are provided below.

1. Palladium Group Limited
On 2 April 2019, Next 15 purchased the entire share capital of Palladium Group Limited {"Palladium™, a UK-based consultancy for the
private equity market.

Goodwill of £2,000 ariscs from anticipated profitability and future operating synergics from the acquisition.

In the: post-acquisition period Palladium has contributed £2,622,000 to net revenue and £455,000 to profit before tax. If acquired
on 1 February 2019 Palladium would have contributed net revenue of £3147.000 and profit before tax of £546,000 to the Group
results. The following table sets out the estimaled book values of the identifiable assets acquired and their fair value to the Giroup.

Book value Fair value Fair value
at acquisition agjusiments to the Group
£'000 £'000 £'300
Non-current assets

Acquired intangible asscts - 204 204
Property, plant and equipment 13 — 13

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalenis 216 — 216
Other current assets' 167 — 187
Current liabilities (155) — {155)
Deferred tax liability - (36) (36}
Net assets acquired 241 168 409
Goodwill 2
an

Consideration
initial consideration settled in cash? 387
Initial consideration settled in Ordinary Shares of the Pargnt —
Total discounted contingent consideration 24
a1

1 rthe far value of recevables acquired Is £163.000.

2 Thisincludes intial consideration pad for the business and cash paic for working capital.

Nane of the goodwill is expected to be deductible fortax purposes, Deal costs (included in other operating costs) amount to £56,000.
Further consideration is payable based cn the profit before interest and tax of Palladium over the next four years.
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26 Acquisitions and equity transactions continued
2. Market Making Limited
On 7 June 2019, Next 15 purchased Market Making Limited {("MML").

Goodwill of £2,492,000 arises from antcipated profitabitity and future opérating synergies fiom the acguisition.

nthe post-acquisition period MML has contributed £1,397.000 to net revenue and £518,000 to profit before tax. If acquired on 1 February
2019 MML would have contributed net revenue of £2,096,000 and profit before tax of £779,000 to the Group results. The following
table sets out the estimated bock values of the identifiable assets acquired and their fair value to the Group.

Book value Fair value Fan value
at acquisiton adjustments 1o the Group
000 £O0o £000
Non-current assets

Acquired intangible assets — 2,502 2,502
Property, plant and equipment 14 — 14

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,079 - 2,079
Other current assets’ 295 295
Current liabilities (868} - (B6S}
Deferred tax tiability 3) (438) (441
Net assets acquired 1517 2,064 3,581
Goodwll 2,432
6073

Consideration
Initial consideration settled in cash? 279
Initial consideration settled in Ordinary Shares of the Parent 456
Total discounted contingent consideration 2,826
6,073

1 The far valug of receivables geouwree 1s £201,000
2 This ncludes inmal consideration paid for the business and cash paic for working capial

None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes. Deal costs (included in operating costs) amount to £163,000.

3. Creston Plc US Holdings Inc

On 1 Octeber 2019, Next 15 purchased the entire share capital of Creston Plc US Holdings Inc ("Creston®) and its subsidiary, Health
Unlimited LLC {"Health"} from Creston Overseas Holdings Limited. Heallh is a global health consultancy and communications agency.
Goodwill of £5,786,000 ($7,394,000) arises from anticipated profitability and futuie aperating synergies from the acquisition

In the post-acquisition pernod Health has contributed £3,837.000 to net revenue and £777,000 Lo profit before tax. If acquired
on 1 February 2019 Health would have contributed net revenue of £11,510,000 and profit before tax of £2,331,000 to the Group
results. The due diigence over the identifiable assets acguired is still In progress; therefore, the far value of the assets used below
are provisional,



26 Acquisitions and equity transactions continued
3. Creston Plc US Holdings Inc continued
The following table sets out the estimated book values of the identifiable assets acquired and their far value to the Group.

Book value Fair value Fair value
a% ACGuES LG aCpusrents 1o the Group
£000 000 000
Non-current assets

Acguired imangible assets 1,361 1,361
Property, plant and cguipment 2,991 — 2,99

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalcents 863 — 863
Other current assets' 4,366 - 4,366
Current liabilities {4,947) 14,947
Deferred tax liability — {2,840) (2,840)
Net assets acquired 3,273 3521 Nn,794
Goodwill® 15,934
27728

Consideration
Intial consideration settled in cash’ 17104
Initial consideration settled in Ordinary Shares of the Parent 5,443
Total discounted contingent consideration 5181
27728

1 The far value of receivables acquired 15 £1,089,000
2 This includes initial consideration paid for the business and cash patd for working camital
3 Geodwillis cenominated in USD and therefore the exchange rate a* the point of acquisiion has been used

None of the goodwill is expected o be deductible for tax purposes. Deal costs {included in operating costs) amount to £272,000.

Further contingent consideration is payable in 2020 and 2021 dependent on the EBITDA performance of Health for the years ending
31 March 2020 and 31 March 2021 respectively.
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26 Acquisitions and equity transactions continued

4. Nectar Communications LLC

On 26 November 2019, Next 15 purchased the entire share capital of Neclar Communications LLC ("Nectar"). Goodwill of £3,008,0C0
153,892 .000) arises from anticipated profitability and future operating synergies from the acquisition.

In the post-acguisition period Nectar has contributed £1755,000 to net revenue and £477.000 1o profit before tax If acquired on
1February 2019 Nectar would have contributed net revenue of £7,020,000 and profit before tax of £1,909,000 to the Group results.
The following table sets out the estimated book values of the identfiable assets acquired and therr fair value to the Group. The due
diligence aver the identfiable assets acquired s still in progress; therefore, the fair value of the assets used below are provisionat.

Book value Fair value Fair valug
at acguisihion adjustments ta the Group
£000 jaelole! £000
Non-current assets

Acgurred intangible assets — 3,285 3,285
Property, plant and equipment 1,277 — 1,277

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 1,433 1,433
Other current assets’ a12 — 92
Current liabilities (26} — 2.116)
Net assets acquired 1,506 3,285 47N
Goodwill 3,008
7789

Consideration
Initial consideration scttled in cash 2156
Total discounted contingent consideration® 5,643
7799

1 The tar vaiue of recewvables acquired 1s £688 000
2 Thisinclugdes cash payable for working capiial

None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes, Deal costs {inciuded in operating costs) amount to £51,000,

Further contingent consideration may be payable around April 2022 and April 2025 based on the EBITDA performance of Health
over the next five yeats.

The following table summarises the net cash outflow and value of shares 1ssued on acquisition of subsidiaries duning the year ending
31 January 2020:

Cash and cash

equivalent Total
Cansideration balances net cash Value of
settled in cash acquired outflow shares issued
£'000 £000 £'000 £'000
Palladium 387 (216) 171 —
Market Making 27N (2,079) 712 456
Health 17104 (863) 16,241 5,443
Nectar 2156 (1,433) 723 —
Othe’! 1190 (536) 654 -
23,628 {5.127) 18,501 5,899

1 Other recrosenis amaunts 17 telikan o a numbicr of Acqusstions, 10~e of wh chis ndi dually sigeefcant 1otk Group
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27 Subsidiaries

The Group’s subsidharies at 31 January 2020 are listed below.

Duectly  Peicentage

owned  voling nghls

Couniry of by the hele: by
Legal Entty Incorparaton Company Group Adcress
Activate Marketing Services LLC UsSA 100 CT Corp System, 818 West Seventh Street, Suite 930,
Los Angeles, CA SO07
Agent3 Limited United Kingdom v 5569 75 Bermondscy Street, London SE13XF
Agent3 LLC USA 56.9 T Corp Systern, 818 West Seventh Street, Suite 830,
Los Angeles, CA 0017
Archetype Agency AB Sweden 100 Véstmannagatan 4, 1M 24 Stockholm
Archetype Agency Beijing Limited China 100 14F, Room 17031705, Tower 2, No. 22 Guanghua Road,
Chaoyang District, Beiling, 100020 China
Archetype Agency 8Y Netherlands 100 Siledam 1D, 1013 AL Amsterdam, Netherfands
Archetype Agency GmbH Gormany 100 Nymphenburger Strafte 168, 80634 MUnchen
Archetype Agency Limited Hong Keng v 100 Unit 1102-04, 1/F, 299QRC, 297-29% Queen's Road
Central, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong
Archetype Agency SRE Italy 100 Piazzale Principessa Clotilde, 8 20121 Milanc
Archetype Agency Limited United Kingdom 100 6th Floor, 10 High Holborn, London WCIV 65
Archetype Agency LLC USA 100 The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Crange Street
— Corporation Trust Center, New Castle County,
Wilmington, DE 19801
Archetype Agency Sdn. Bhd. Malaysia 100 Suite 2101, The Gardens South Tower, Mid Valley City,
Lingkaran Sycd Putra, 59200 KL, Malaysia
Archetype Agency Private Limited India 100 2nd Floor, TDI Centre, Plot No.7, Jascla,
New Delhn - 10025
Archetype Agency Pte Limited Singapore 100 36 Prinsep Street #05-01/02, Singapaore 188 648
Archetype Agency Pty Limited Australia 100 10 14 Waterloo Street, Surry Hills, NSW 2010
Archotype Agency SARL France 100 17 rue de la Bangue, 75002 Paris
Archetype Agency 5L Spain 100 c/ Prim, 19 5% Planta, Madrid 28004
August.One Communicaticns United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF

International Limited

Bite Communications Group Limited United Kingdom v 00 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
Bite Communications Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
Brandwidth Group Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
Brandwidth LLC USA 100 The Coerperation Trust Company, 1208 Orange Street
- Corporation Trust Center, New Castle County,
Wilmington, DE 19801
Brandwidth Marketing Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
Buliet Marketing Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondscy Street, London SE1 3XF
BYND Limited United Kingdom v 949 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
BYND LLC USA 100 CT Corp System, B18 West Seventh Street, Suite 930,
Los Angeles, CA 90017
Charterhouse Research Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
Circle Research Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
CommunicateResearch Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
Creston Pic US Holdings Inc UsA 100  The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange Street

— Corporation Trust Center, New Castle County,
Wilmington, DE 19801
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 Jonuary 2020

27 Subsidiaries continued

Diractiy PQVCE‘"I{\QE

awned  volng nghis

Country of by the held by
Leqal Enay Incorporation Company Group Address
Elvis Communications Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermandsey Street, T andan SC1 X0
Encore Digital Media Limited United Kingdom v 799 3 Melville Street, Edinburgh, Scotland EH3 7PE
HPI Research Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
Hypenext Cormmunications Private Limited India 100 Unit 503, Fifth Floor, Millennium Plaza, M.G Road,
Gurgaon, Haryana, 122002, India
Hypertext Pte Limited Singapore 100 800 North Bridge Road, #23-01, Parkview Square,
Singapore 188 778
IF.Agency, LLC UsSA 100 The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange Street
Corporation Trust Center, New Castle County,
Wilrmington, DE 13801
M Booth & Associates LLC usa 100 The Corporation Trust Company, 1238 Orange Street
— Corporation Trust Center, New Castle County,
Wilmington, DE 19801
M Booth Health LLC USA 100 The Corporation Trust Company, 1208 Orange Stroet
- Corporation Trust Center, New Castle County,
Wilmington, DE 19801
Market Making Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SET3XF
Narration LLC UsA 100 The Corporation Trust Company, 1208 Orange Street
- Corparation Trust Center, New Castle County,
Wilmington, DE 19801
Nectar Communications LLC usa 100 CT Corp System, 818 West Seventh Street, Suite 930,
Los Angeles, CA 90017
Next Fifteen Communications Corporation usA v 100 The Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange Strect
Corporation Trust Center, New Castle County,
Wilmingten, DE 19801
Next Fifteen Haldcol Limited Linited Kingdom 1030 3 Melvilie Stseet, Ednburgh, Scotland EH3 7PE
QDD Communications Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
ODD London Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
Outcast London Limited Urited Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London 5E13XF
Palladium Group Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
Partnermarketing.com Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SET3XF
Planning-inc Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
Publitek SmbH Germany 100 Nymphenburger Strake 168, 80634 Minchen
Publitek Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE1 3XF
Pubiitek LLC usa 100 CT Corporation System, 780 Commerciat Street SE,
Suite 100, Salem OR 97301
Savanta Analytics Limited Canada 100 700 West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British Columbia,
Canada, V7Y 1B8
Savanta Group Limited United Kingdom v 979 3 Melville Street, Edinburgh, Scotland EH3 7PE
Savanta Group LLC usa 100 C7T Corp System, 818 West Seventh Street, Suite 930,
Los Angeles, CA 90017
TechAD Limited United Kingdam 100 75 Bermondsey Street, Londen SE13XF
Technical Pubiicity Limited United Kingdom 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
Text 100 Pty Limited Australia 00 10-14 Waterloo Street, Surry Hilis, NSW 2010
Text 100 International Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF




27 Subsidiaries continued

Chrectly Percentage
ownec  voung nghts

Country of by the hels by
Legal Entity Incorporaiion  Company Graup Acdress
Text 100 Proprietary Limited South Africa 100 Sandton Close, 2nd Fioor Block A, Cnr 5th Strect &
Norwich Close, Sandton, Johannesburg
The Blueshirt Group LLC USA 8583 T Corp System, 818 West Seventh Street, Suite 930,
Los Angeles, CA 90017
The Lexis Agency Limited United Kingdom v 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
The OutCast Agency LLC Usa 100 C7T Corp System, 818 West Seventh Street, Suite 930,
Los Angetes, CA 90017
Twegether Creative Limited United Kingdom 14 95.0 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
Twogether Creative LLC Usa 100 7 Corp Systemn, 818 West Seventh Street, Suite 930,
Los Angeles, CA 90017
Yelooity Partners Limited United Kingdom 4 100 75 Bermondsey Street, London SE13XF
Velocity Partners US Inc. Usa 100 CT Corporation System, 28 Liberty Strect,
New York, NY 10005
Wox Public Relations India Private Limited India 100 Z2nd Floor, TDI Centre, Plot No./, Jasola,

New Delhi — 110025

All shares held are a class of Ordinary Shares with the exception of the US LLCs where LLC units are held.

The principal activity of the subsidiary undertakings is digital communications consultancy specialising predominantly in the technology
and consumer sectors,

All subsidiary undertakings operate in the country in which they have been incerporated. All subsidiary undertakings listed are
included in the consolidated results. None of the Group’s subsidiaries have a non-controlling interest that is individuatly material
to the Group. As a resuft the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries with a material non-controlling interest under IFRS 12 are not
considered necessary.

The fellowing companies are exempt from the requirements relating to the audit of individual accounts for the year/period ended
31 January 2020 by virtue of section 479A of the Companies Act 2006 Archetype Agency Limited {03329933), August. One
Communications International Limited (03224261), Bite Communications Group Limited (04131879), Bite Communications Limited
{03023521), Brandwidth Group Limited {09599858), Bullet Marketing Limited (04842820), BYND Limited (07123452), Charterhouse
Research Limited {05079748), Circle Research Limited {05669149), Communicate Research Limited (04810991), Elvis Communications
Limited {04768344), Encore Digital Media Limited (SC449653), HPI Research Limited (05816194}, Market Making Limited {07913465),
Next Fifteen Holdcol Limited (SC364548), The Lexis Agency Limited (04404752), ODD Communications Limited (0786156%9), ODD
London Limited (05107477), Outcast London Limited (07831770, Palladium Group Limited {09460748), Partnermarketing.com Limited
(07545480}, Planning-inc Limited (04118854), TechAd Limited (G1872833), Technical Publicity Limited (02384040), Text 100 International
Limited {02433862), The Lexis Agency Limited {04404752) and Velocity Partners Limited {04128107).
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Notes to the accounts continued
for the year ended 31 January 2020

28 Related-party transactions

The ultimate controlling party of the Group is Next Fifteen Communications Group plc (incorporated in the United Kingdom and
registered in England and Wales). The Company has s related-party relationship with its subsidiaries (note 27) and with iis Directors.
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on consolidation and are not disciosed in this note
During the period to 31 January 2020 there were the following related-party transactions:

e Aszzet Income Frasgl

impact at year end impact at yedr end

2020 2020 2019 209

Brana Sevices Related pary £'000 £'000 £Q00 £'000
Blueshirt Capital Advisors

Blueshirt Consultancy is an associate of Next 15 35 34 22 22

Dividends were paid 1o Directors of the Company during the year in proportion 1o their shareholdings in the Company. Tim Dyson,
Peter Harris and Richard Eyre received dividends of £383,897 £26.787 and £7.884 respectively (2019: £338,195, £16.42 and £6.660).
Key management personnel compensation is disclosed in note 3

29 Operating lease rental receivables
As at 31 January, the Group's total future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable leases are as follows:

2020 2019
<000 000

In respect of operating leases which will be reccivable in the period:
Within one year 231 423
In two ta five years - 1198
231 1,626

30 Events after the balance sheet date

Impact of Coronavirus

Refer to note 1 for details of the Group’s judgement that the impact of COVID-12 represents a non-adjusting post balance sheet event.
Given the giobal scale of the situation, further explanation of the impact of changing the estimates and assumptions presented in
the financial statements are given below.

Refer to notes 1 and T for details of the Group's impairment methodology and key assumptions and sensitivity analysis.

In terms of current trading, we have yet to see any material impact on the business overall and we have scen some bencfit from
the strength of the US dollar versus sterling and some clients switching spend away from five events into digital marketing and lead
generation, Note 19 shows the sensitivity of our business to movements in our key exchange rates, notably US dollar to sterling.
We have also yet to see any material impact on our recoverability of trade debtors, However, we do anlicipate our business will be
impacted from May as the wider economic impact of COVID-19 increases. It remains (oo early to assess the impact that this unfolding
situation will have on trading for the year ahead.

The Group has therefore carried out further sensitivity analysis on the assumptions used in the value-in-use calculations for the
purpoases of the goodwill impairment review Using a revised brand-specific FY21 budget to calculate the value in use for each cash-
genrerating unit would indicate an impairment in the range of £0-£1.5m for the Group.

The Group aiso uses key assumptions when determining the valug of contingent consideration and share purchase obhgations
relsted to acquisitions, including Judgements around fulure 1evenue growth and profit margins. Therefore, as a resuil of the mpact
of COVIDAS, these assumptions are likely to change, as such this will result in a material adjustment 1o the value of these liabilities
within the next financial year. Further details, Including sensitivity analysis, are contarmed iri mote 17,

Deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent it 1s probable there will be future taxable profits. Subsequent to the balance
sheet date, the Group has reviewed the current impact of COVID-19 on those future taxable profis and concluded that deferred tax
asgels can continue to be recognised in full.



Company balance sheet
as at 31 January 2020 and 31 January 2012

2020 2020 2019 2013
Note £000 £'000 £000 000
Non-current assets
Intangible assets p 646 0
Tangible asscts 3 1,050 1,253
Right-of-use assets 4 6,115 —
Investments in subsidiaries 5 170,916 163,496
[nvestment in financial assets 838 1,335
Deferred tax assets 10 755 47
180,320 167,041
Current assets
Trade and other receivables & 49,412 23,068
Current tax asset 2,259 1,991
_ 51,671 25,059
Current liabilities
Borrowings 5,000 5.000
Tradc and other payables 7 19,667 22706
Lease liabilities 4 1,213
Provisions 9 1,129 49
Cantingent consideration 7,402 1,871
Deferred consideration 2,715 2182
(37126) 32,250)
Net current assets/(liabilities) 14,545 7191
Total assets less current liabilities 194,865 155,850
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 8 33,007 20,678
Other financial habilities 8 7.080 10,819
Leasc labilities 4 5,576 -
Provisions 3,578 784
(49,241) (32,281
Net assets 145,624 127.56%
Equity
Share capital il 2163 2,089
Share premium account 76,019 52,993
Merger reserve 3,075 3.075
Share based payment reserve 8136 7925
Other reserve 26,460 26,871
Retained earnings 29774 24,816
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 145,624 127,569

The following notes are an integral part of this Company Balance Sheet.

The Company reported a profit for the financial year ended 31 January 2020 of £12.937000 (2019 £16,910,000).

These financial statements were approved and authorised for 1ssue by the Board on 22 April 2020.

Peter Harris
Chief Financial Officer

Company number 01579589
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Company stotement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 January 202¢ and 31 January 2019

Share-
Share basec
Share premium Merger payment Cs0P Other Relained
(ap\tal accouft resene resene reserve foseive edamings lotal

Note E'000 [yelsls] LO00 £'000 £'00C £000 £'000 £000
At 31 January 2018 1,892 28,61 3,075 5,404 — 2757 13,642 81195
Profit for the period — — — — — - 16,910 16,210
Fair value loss on investments
in equity Instruments designated
as FVTOCI - - — - — 1693) (693)
Dwidends 10 — — — - (5,243} (5.243)
Shares issued in satisfaction
of vested share options and
performance shares 68 10,593 — (12) — — 10,649
Shares Issued on acquisition 24 4,433 — - — — 4457
Shares issued on placing 105 19356 - - - - 12,461
Movement in hedging reserve — — - — {700) (700}
Movement in relation to
share based payments -— - 1533 — - 1533
Movement due 1o ESOP
share purcnases - - - 12) {12}
Movement duc to ESOP share
option exercises — — 12 - — 12
At 31 January 2019 2,089 62,993 3,075 7925 26,871 24616 127569
Change in accounting policy
{IFRS 18} - — - (573) {573)
Deferred tax on accounting policy
change (IFRS 18} — — - - — g7 97
At 1 February 2019 (as restated) 2,089 62,993 3,075 7925 26,871 24140 127093
Prafit for the perod — — — — — 12,937 12,937
Fair value loss on investments
In equily instruments designated
a5 FVTOC! — — - — {547} {547)
Dividends — — - — — {6.759) (6,759
Shares issued in satisfaction
of vested share options and
nerformance shares 38 5,388 - {15) — 5,41
Shares issued on acquisition 36 7638 - — — — 7674
Movement in hedging reserve — — — [4m {411}
Movement in relation to
share-based payments - — 276 — _ 226
Movement due to ESOP
share purchases - - - 15) — (15}
Movement due to ESOP share
ophion exercises — - — 15 — 15
At 31 January 2020 2,163 76,019 3.075 8,136 — 26,460 2977t 145624

1 Refertonote Y or "he rostatemen: required Mllowing acopion of IFRS 16

The following notes are an integral part of this Company Statement of Changes in Equity.



Notes forming part of the Company financial statements
for the year ended 31 January 2020

1 Accounting policies

A. Basis of preparation

Next Fifteen Communications Group plc is a company incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act. The address of
the registered office 1s given on the inside back cover. The nature of the Company's operations and its principal activities are sot out
In the Strategic Report on pages 1to 21. The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Financial Reparting
Standard 100) 1ssued by the Financial Reporting Council, These financial statements were prepared in accordance with FRS 101
(Financial Reporting Standard 101) ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ as 1ssued by the Financial Reporting Counail incorporating the
amendments to FRS 101 1ssued by the FRC in July 2015 and Juty 2016.

The separate financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the revatuation of certain financial
nstruments measured at fair value at the end of each reperting period, and are in accordance with applicable accounting standards
in the United Kingdom. The principal accounting policics adopted are the same as those set out in note 1to the consalidated financial
statements except as noted beiow.

As permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company has elected not to present its own profit and loss account or
statement of comprehensive income for the year. The profit atinbutable to the Company is disclosed in the footnote to the Company's
balance sheel.

The auditor's remuneration for audit and other services s disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Company has adopted IFRS 16 in the period, further detads of which are disclosed in note 11to the consolidated financial
statements. The impact of adoption of IFRS 16 for the Company in the period is a £476,000 reduction in retained earings relating
to the recognition of right-of-use assets and lease liabilities.

The new standards and amendments which have not yet been adopted are disclosed in note 1, section U, to the consolidated
financial statements.

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions avallable under that standard in relation to
business combinations, share-based payments, financial instruments, capital management, presentation of comparative information
inrespect of certain assets, presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet effective, imparrment of assets and related-party
transactions. Where required, equivaient disclosures are given in the Group accounts of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc.
The Group accounts of Next Fifteen Communications Group plc are available to the public and are at the beginning of this section.

The monthly average number of employees during the year was 43 and employee costs for the year totalled £3,292,000 (2019:
£3.797000) . This was made up of £2,474 000 In respect of wages and salaries (2019: £2,643,000), £604,000 in respect of social
security (2019: £318,000); £107,000 in respect of pensicn costs (2019: £67,000) as well as £107.0C0 inrelation to share-based payment
charges (2019: £769,000). Disclosures relating to the remuneration of the Parent company’s directers are included in the directors’
remuneration report on pages 32 to 42.

B. Investments in subsidiaries
An investment in a subsidiary is recognised at cost less any provision for impairment.

C. Going concern

The Company’s business activities, logether with the faclors likely to affect its future development, performance and position, are set
out in the Strategic Report section of the annual report, which also describes the financial posibion of the Company; its cash flows,
hquidity position and borrowing facilities: the Company's objectives, pelicies and processes for managing its capital. its financial risk
management objectves, details of its financial instruments and hedging activities; and its exposure to credit risk and liguidity nisk.

The Directors have a reasonable expectaticn that the Company has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus, they continue to adept the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the annual financial statements.

D. Critical accounting judgements ond key sources of estimation uncertainty

Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies

There are no critical judgements, apart from those Involving estimations (which are dealt with separately below), that the Directors
have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting period thal may have
a significant nisk of causing a material adjustment tc the cartying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.
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Notes forming part of the Company financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 January 2020

t Accounting policies continued

D. Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

Key sources of estimation uncertainty continued

L Impairment of investmants in subsidiaries

Determining whether the Company’s investments in subsidiaries have been impaired requires estimations of the investments' values
inuse The vajue-n-use calculations reguire the entity {0 sstimate the fulure cash flows expecied o Bnse fiom ine mvestments and
suitable discount rates in order to calculate present values. The carrying amount of investments in subsiciaries at the balance sheet
date was £171m,

#. Contingent consideration, shore purchose obligotion ond voluation of put options

Centingent consideration and share purchase obligations relating to acquisitions have been included based on discounted management
estimates of the most likely cutcome. The difference between the fair value of the liabilives and the actual amounts payable is charged
to the Consolidated Income Statement as notional finance costs over the Wfe of the associated liability. Changes in the estimates
of contingent consideration payable and the share purchase obligation are recogmsed in finance income/expense These require
judgements around future revenge geowth, profit marging and discount rates, which, i inappropriate, would result 1in 2 matenal
adjustment to the value of these liabilities within the next financial year. Further detalls are contained in note 17 in the Group financial
statermnents and note 7 in the Company financial statements.

2 Intangible assets

Computer
sofware
000
Cost
ALY February 2019 3,581
Additions 93
At 31 January 2020 3.654
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 February 2019 2651
Charge for the year 357
At 31 January 2020 3,008
Net book value
At 31 January 2020 646
At 31 January 2019 910
3 Tangible assets
Shor: leaseheld Office
ImMproverents equipment Total
£'000 £000 000
Cost
At 1 February 2019 1795 694 2,489
Addiions % 89 w0s
At 31 January 2020 1,81 783 2,594
Accumulated depreciation
At 1February 2019 718 518 1,236
Charge for the year 219 89 308
At 31 January 2020 937 607 1,544
Net book value
At 31 January 2020 874 176 1,050
At 31 January 2019 1.077 176 1,253




4 Leases

The movements in the year ended 31 January 2020 were as follows:

Right-of-use gssets:

Land ang
buildings
£'000
At 31 January 2019 5,678
Additions 1417
Depreciaton of right-of usc assets (980}
At 31 January 2020 6.115
Lease liabilities:
tand and
builldings
£'000
At 31 January 2019 6,417
Additions 1,395
Interest expense related 1o lease liabilities 178
Repayment of lease liabilities (1,201
At 31 January 2020 6,789
The maturity of the lease liabilities is as follows:
2020
£'000
Amounts payablc:
Within one year 1394
In two 1o five years 4,632
After five years 1,358
Total gross future liability 7384
Effect of discourting (595}
Lease liability at 31 January 6,789
5 Investments
Total
Co00
Cost
At1February 2019 163,496
Acquisitions' 7420
Disposals —
At 31 January 2020 170,916

1 On 2 Apnl 2019, the Company putchased 100% ol the 1ssuec share capital of Palladium Group Lirded. On 7 June 219, the Company purchased 100% of the shaie capnal
aof Market Makig Limied Refoer to note 26 i tne Group finangial statements, “or fudher delails of the acguisiions madce e the year

The Directors consider the value of investmeants in subsidiary undenriakings to be not less than thal stated in the balance sheet of

the Company.

The Company's subsidianies are those as listed In note 27 of the consoldated financial statements.
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Notes forming part of the Company financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 January 2020

6 Trade and other receivables

Company Company
2020 203
£000 £000
Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts due from subsidiary undertakings 18,015 ?NRRY
COther deblors 922 1642
Prepayments and accrued income 320 532
Other taxation 155 n
Total trade and other receivables 49,412 23,068
7 Trade and other payables
Company Camparty
2020 2019
£'000 £000
Overdraft 4,333 2,961
Trade creditors 327 513
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 13,750 1,126
Other taxation and social security 17 92
Qther creditors 7 22
Accruals and deferred income 1133 1992
Total lrade and other payables 19,667 22708
8 Non-current (iabilities
Company Company
2020 2019
€000 £000
Bank loan’ 33,007 20,678
Between one and two years 5,000 5,000
Between two and five years 28,007 15,678
After five years - —
Contingent consideration 4,982 8,227
Between one and two years 1,350 4247
Between two and five years 3,632 3,980
After five years - —
Deferred consideration - 2,464
Between one and two years - 2464
Betweon two and five years - -
Ater flve years - -
Share purchase obligation 2,098 128
Between one and two years - —
Between two and five years 2,098 128
After five years -
Total 40,087 31,497

1 The entre bank facilty 15 secured on guarantees from *he guaranion pool



8 Non-current liabilities continued

The bank loans are valued at the net proceeds drawn down at the exchange rates prevailing at the time they are drawn. The foreign

currency element of the lcans is revalued at the prevailing rate at 31 January 2020.

The Company has nofair value Levei 1instruments (2019 none). The Company’s investments in financial assets are Level 2 insttuments
and are measured at historic quoted prices. All other instruments at fair value through profit or loss are Level 3 instruments being the
contingent censideration and share purchase obligation liabilities,

Level 3 financial instruments are valued using the discounted cash flow method to capture the present value of the expected future
economic benefits that will flow out of the Group arsing from the contingent consideration or share purchase obligation. They are

not based on observable market data.

9 Provisions

Employment-
related
acquisition
habilities Tetal
£'000 £000
At 31 January 2019 1,275 1,275
Additions 4,446 4,446
Utilised in pericd {1,014) (1,0%4)
At 31 January 2020 4707 4,707
10 Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided as follows:
Acceleralec
captal
allowances Tax losses Orher Total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
At 31 January 2018 {6} - 3 (3
Credit to income n 17 22 50
At 31 January 2019 5 17 25 47
Accounting policy change (IFRS 16) — — 97 g7
Credit to income 30 (17 598 61
At 31 January 2020 35 — 720 755
11 Share capital and reserves
2020 2019
£'000 £'000
Authorised, allotted, called up and fully paid
86,552,648 Ordinary Shares of 2 5p each 2163 2,089

For details on changes to 1ssuad share capital in the year, please refer to note 20 in the Group financial statements. For detalls of

the dividends decla;ed and paid in the year, please refer to note 9 in the Group financial statements.
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Notes forming part of the Company financial statements continued
for the year ended 31 January 2020

12 Operating leases

As aresult of the transition to IFRS 16, leases previousty classified as operating leases have now been recognised on balance sheet,
except for the shor-term leases and leases of low value assets which are included below.

As at 31 January 2020, the Company's total future minimum lease rentals are as follows:

2020 2019

Land and Lang ang
buildings Other bulldings Other
£000 £000 £000 £000

In respect of operating leases which will be paid in the following periods:

Within one year 91 27 1,204 —
fn two to five years — —_ 5,053 -
After five years —_ — 1,00 —
o1 27 7,258 —

Operating leases relate to the rental of office space for the Group in the UK.

13 Related-party transactions
Durning the period the Company received the following amounts in respect of head office costs and intetcompany inteiest from
undertakings which were not wholly cwned at the balance sheet date;

Inercompany nterest Recharges
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 January 31 January 31 January 31 January
2020 2019 2020 29
€000 £'000 £'000 L0000
Agent3 Limited — — 906 806
Blueshirt Group LLC — - 243 196

At 31 January the Company had the following intercompany amounts receivable from/{payable o) the subsidianes below:

Year ended Year ended

31 January 31 January

2020 2019

£'000 000

Agent3 Limited 2,986 2,246
Blueshirt Group LLC 4 g




Five-year tinancial intormation
for the 12-month period ended 31 Januory (unaudited)
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Year ended Year ended Year cnded Year endec Year endeg
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
IFRS ITRS IFRS RS IFRS
£000 £'000 £000 £000 2000
Profit and loss
Billings 325,353 291,037 243,485 200,745 151,658
Net revenuc 248,469 224,083 196,811 171,013 129757
Stall costs 171180 153,247 136,346 126756 92721
Opetaung profit 19,413 20677 17,225 7914 8429
Net finance expense (14,061} 0,217 (3,955) 4,742) {2,846)
Mofit botore income tax 5,556 18,825 13,286 2,900 5578
Income tax expense 2,717) 4,299 (4.000) 1.232) (1,116)
Profi {or the year 2,839 14 526 9,286 1,668 4462
Non-controlling interests 577 639 664 530 470
Profit attiibutable to owrers of the Parent 2,262 13,887 8,632 1138 3,882
Balance sheet
Non current assets 224,370 155,028 120,082 107,410 71,430
Net current assets 1,780 10,792 15,014 15,243 16,159
Non-current diabilities {113,439) (54,367 {58,775) (54,156) [34,798)
Total equity atiributable (o owners of the Parent 113,296 n2.529 76,964 57571 52.048
Non-controlling imerests {585) {1,076) 1643) S26 743
Total equity 12,711 M,453 76,321 68,497 52791
Cash flow
Profit for the year 2,839 4,526 9,296 1,668 4,462
Non-cash adjustments and working capitat movements 46,662 23,856 19,56% 31178 1,826
Net cash generated from operations 49,501 38,382 28,865 32,844 16,288
Income tax paid (5,993) (6,237) (4,284) (1,978 12,954)
Net cash from operating activities 43,508 3245 24,581 30.866 13,334
Acquisition of subsidiaries net of cash acquired (18,501) (19,281) {9,824) (14,546 {4,120)
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (3,460) (5,648} 12,974 (8,284) 6,411}
Net cash outllow from investing activities (28,340) {37154} (19,399 (30,582 {20,158}
Net cash movement in bank borrowings 13,039 (10,922) 4,484 1,589 2,87
Dividends paid to owners of the Parent {6,759) {5,243) (4121) (3.264) {2,44%
Net cash (outflow}/inflow from financing activities (6.826) 645 2,034 6,500 1459
Increasef{decrease) in cash for the year 8.342 {4,364) 348 6,774 4,635
Dividend per share (p} 25 756 6.30 5256 4.2
Basic earnings per share (p} 27 175 1.6 16 60
Diluted earnings per share {p) 25 16.3 10.5 15 5.6
Key performance indicators and other non-statutory measures
Headline staff costs as a % of net revenue' 65.6 659 67.0 676 69.3
Headline EBITDA? 56,764 4,733 34,388 28,964 18176
Headline profit before income tax® 40,237 36,004 23,338 24,200 16,092
Diluted headline earnings per share (p)* 34.8 331 278 234 16.9
Net debt" (9,346) 5177) 1,593) 13,412) (6,618)

Staff ¢osts excluding restructunng casts See rote 5 of the financ al statemerts
Operaung profit befere depreciation ymartisation. acguisition-related consideratiun ~ ovements and other adjusung tems
Sen nole 5 of the finanaal statements

Scc note 10 of the financial statements

oo W

Net debl excludes contrgent consideration and share purei-se obl gatons Sce note 19 of the Fnancdl slatements
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Shareholder information

Financial calendar
Preliminary results

2020 full-year results announcement 23 April 2020

Annnal General Meeting 25 Inne 072N

2021 half-year results announcement Cctober 2020

Year end 31 January 2021

2021 fult year results announcement April 2021

Final dividend

As detalled on page 432, the 2020 final dividend has
been suspended

Interim dividend

Ex-dividend date QOctober 2020
Qctober 2020
November 2020

Novemter 2020

Record date
Last date for DRIP election
Payment of 2021 interim dividend

These dates are provisional and may he subject o change.

Annual General Meeting
Please see page 44 for further details.

Managing your shares and shareholder communications

The Company's shareholder register is maintained by its registrar, Link
Assel Services. Information on how to manage your shareholdings
can be found at www signalshares.com. Shareholders can contact
Link Asset Services in relation to all administrative enquiries relating
to their shares, such as a change of personal details, the loss of a
share certificate, out-of-date dividend chegues, change of dividend
payment methods and to apply for the Dividend Reinvestment Plan.
Sharehoiders who have not yet elected to receive shareholder
documentation in electronic form can sign up by registering at
www signalishares.com. Should shareholders who have elected
for electronic communications require a paper copy of any of the
Company's shareholder documentation, or wish to change their
instructions, they should contact Link Asset Services.

Registrar

Link Asset Services
The Registry

34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham

Kent

BR34TU

Telephone from the UK: 0371 664 0300

Calls are charged atthe standard geographic rate and will vary by
provider. Lines are open Monday to Friday (9.00 am—-530 p.m.).

Telephone from overseas: +44 (0)371 664 0300

Calls outside the UK will be charged at the applicabie
internaticnal rate.

E-mail: enquiries@linkgroup.co.uk

Dividends

Dividends can be paid directly into your bank account, This is
the easiest way for shareholders to receive dividend payments
and avoids the rsk of lost or out-of-date cheqgues. A dividend
mandate form 15 avallable from Uink Asset Services or at
www.signalshares.com.

For dividends payable on or after 6 Apnl 2018 the dividend nil rate
will only apply to the first £2,000 of a person’s dividend income.
Please refer to HMRC's website www.gov.uk/tax-on-dividends or
seek advice from a professional tax adviser if you have any doubt
about how this impacts your tax position.

Link Asset Services is also abie to pay dividends to shareholder bank
accounts in many currencies worldwide through the International
Payment Service. An administrative fee will be deducted from
each dividend payment. Further details can be obtained from Link
Asset Services or at http//ips.linkassetservices.com/.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan

The Company operates a Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRIP?)
which enables shareholders to buy the Company’s shares on
the London Stock Exchange with their cash dividend. Further
information about the DRIP is available from Link Asset Services.
If sharehotlders would like their future dividends to qualify for the
DRIP, completed application forms must be returned to the registrar.

Sharchelder fraud

Fraud is on the increase and many sharenolders are targeted
every year. If you have any reason to believe that you may have
been the target of fraud, or attempted fraud, in relation to your
sharehiolding, please contact Link Asset Services immediately.

More detalled information can be found on the FCA website
at. www.fsa.gov.uk/consumerinformation/scamsandswindles/
investment_scams/boiter_room.
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